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Preface to the Fourth Edition 

T H I S Fourth Edition I hope retains the basic purpose of the book outlined 
in the Preface to the First Edition. However, it is further enlarged and the 
changes that have been made reflect what I perceive to be current attitudes 
towards financial analysis adopted in practice in those organizations within 
which I have had the privilege and pleasure to work on financial training 
and other assignments. 

The major changes which have been made in this edition are as follows: 

1 . The constant march in legislation, accounting standards and above 
all accounting fashion I hope are faithfully reflected as at the time 
of writing (but unfortunately these things never stand still!). In 
particular, the suggested format of company accounts and the 
suggested basis for management performance appraisal more closely 
reflect current practice. 

2 . I have dropped my beloved shorthand expressions (EBITS, etc.): 
these terms did not catch on, so I have substituted more wordy 
accounting expressions which I have found in more frequent use in 
practice. 

3 . A chapter has been added on capital investment appraisal: several 
readers have commented on this omission from earlier editions. 

Of necessity, there are also many minor changes. Most of these have arisen 
from the experience I have gained from using this book as support material 
to financial training programmes on which I have worked. 

As usual, my final words are ones of thanks: 

(a) to those many managers with whom I have worked on training 
programmes and who have made suggestions for improvements in 
the text; 

(b) to those financial directors with whom I have worked and who have 
spared no effort in trying to move my thinking and terminology from 
the theoretical to the practical (they may even recognize some of their 
own terminology or formulae in this edition); 
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(c) to my wife who did not complain whilst I used the glorious Sardinian 
sunshine as the opportunity for undertaking much of the work on 
this Four th Edition. 

W. C. F . H . 
1987 
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Preface to the Third Edition 

T H I S Third Edition is considerably enlarged and revised whilst, I hope, 
retaining the basic purpose of the book outlined in the Preface to the First 
Edition. 

As in the Second Edition, opportunity has been taken to update the text 
to reflect current legislation but this Third Edition does more. Over the past 
decade there have been considerable developments in the business 
accounting arena; for example: 

(1) the crystallization of accounting thought on how to deal with 
escalating rates of inflation, culminating in the proposals for Current 
Cost Accounting; 

(2) The acute cash crisis, itself an offshoot of inflation, faced by many 
companies in the mid-1970s leading to a greater need for awareness 
and control of cash flow; 

(3) the spectre of several major company collapses and scandals leading 
to a growing demand for accounting standards; 

(4) the call for wider dissemination of financial information, not 
unrelated to the growth in industrial democracy; 

(5) the growing use of value added within accounting and reporting 
systems 

All these matters have now been incorporated into the text. 

Additionally, I have taken the opportunity of strengthening that part of 
the text relating to management accounting. My use of the book with a 
number of groups of mature non-financial managers has revealed this need 
and I am grateful for the useful comments and suggestions made by many 
of them. 

Finally I would like to thank my good friends Chris Bowes and Victor 
Watson of John Waddington Ltd. for permission to reproduce freely from 
their 1978 published accounts and so bring a touch of realism to the text. 

W. C. F . H . 
1979 
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Preface to the Second Edition 

L E G L I S L A T I O N is constantly changing. Any published work which makes 
reference, as does this book, to current legislation is certain to become dated. 
Happily a major overhaul of the text is not always necessary. However, since 
the First Edition of this book was published there has been substantial 
redrafting of tax legislation relating to companies and to company law 
generally. 

The main purpose of this revised edition is thus to incorporate: 

(1) the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 regarding disclosure in 
the published accounts of limited companies; 

(2) the provisions of the Finance Act 1965 regarding the introduction 
of Corporat ion Tax and Capital Gains Tax. 

There are several minor modifications to other areas of the text in an 
attempt to clarify the reading where necessary. Many of these have been 
made as a result of suggestions put to me by readers of the first edition. 
To them all I extend my grateful thanks . 

W. C. F . H . 
1969 
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Preface to the First Edition 

I T W O U L D be pretentious to claim that a book of this size was a complete 
treatise on the wide subject of Business Accounting, and I do not make such 
a claim. The reader will be given a taste of various aspects of the subject 
and, if thereby his appetite is whetted for one particular aspect, he will find 
the libraries overflowing with volumes to satiate that appetite for deeper, 
wider, knowledge. 

This is not a textbook in accounting principles and it is not directed 
towards the professional accountancy student. However, he may be 
interested in the approach to the subject which, he may find, differs from 
that adopted in a strictly theoretical treatise on accounting. 

The student to whom this book is directed is the one who is undertaking 
a course in business studies or management studies (including the first year 
of the Diploma in Management Studies). This student requires only a 
general appreciation of accounting principles and techniques. What is more 
important to him is an appreciation of the use and limitations of the 
accounting service he comes into contact with in his business career. He 
requires also to be able to examine critically and interpret accounting 
information which comes his way. I hope that in this book I have met this 
student 's requirements which were constantly in my mind whilst the book 
was being compiled. Indeed, much of the material used formed the basis 
of lectures given to students enrolled on management and other business 
courses at various teaching establishments with which I have been 
associated. 

I have also tried to bear in mind the problems in interpreting accounts 
experienced by practising managers whom I have met during my career as 
an accountant in industry. I am grateful to my many former colleagues who, 
perhaps unwittingly, have been such a great help in bringing these problems 
to my notice. For this reason perhaps the junior manager already in 
business, who is baffled by figures and whose blood runs cold at the sight 
of a balance sheet, may find this book useful general reading. 

My final words must be ones of thanks. Particularly I wish to 
acknowledge the help given by Mr. J. Batty, M.Com (Dunelm), A.C.W.A. , 

XV 



xvi P R E F A C E T O T H E FIRST E D I T I O N 

M.I .O .M. , A .M.B. I .M. , Head of Department of Business Management 
Studies, Robert Gordon ' s Institute of Technology and author of 
Management Accountancy and Standard Costs; the late Mr . F . E . Bell, 
B.Com., A .M.B. I . , one-time Head of Department of Social and 
Professional Studies, Leeds College of Commerce; and Mr. C. D. Ellis, now 
Training Controller of the Ceramics, Glass and Mineral Products Industry 
Training Board who all read the manuscript and made many useful 
suggestions. 

W. C. F . H . 
1965 



C H A P T E R 1 

Use and Abuse of Accounting 

The Profit Motive 

Why does a business exist? Different writers at different times have 
defined the motive force behind any business. Some claim that a business 
exists to provide the product or service which will satisfy a need created by 
the public; others claim that a business exists in order to provide means of 
livelihood by its employment of workers. 

Whilst both these objectives may be present, neither could be fulfilled 
were it not for the one and all-important necessity behind any commercial 
business unit: the need to be financially viable. Financial viability has two 
aspects: (1) the need to make profit in the long term, (2) the need to generate 
cash flow and thus stay solvent in the short term—these two aspects are 
related but vastly different as we shall see later. If a business does not see 
financial viability as its prime objective it may not be able either to provide 
products and services or to keep workers in employment. Profit to a business 
is like food to a human body: the body must grow and develop—with the 
assistance of food; take away the supply of food and the body wastes away 
and eventually dies. 

However, there are certain types of business to which the profit motive 
cannot apply. Business engaged in the provision of a necessary service to 
the community (e.g. National Health hospitals, research associations) exist 
for that very purpose and not for making profit. Indeed, the business may 
receive no direct income from the recipient of the service provided and, in 
these circumstances, it is impossible to make a "prof i t" in the full 
commercial sense. If this is the case, financial viability should be interpreted 
as the desire to provide the service as economically and efficiently as 
possible. Opinions are frequently expressed on the role of the nationalized 
industries and others receiving government aid: should these industries be 
motivated by profit or some other motive based on the National Interest? 
The writer does not wish to become involved in this discussion, and the 
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2 AN INTRODUCTION T O BUSINESS A C C O U N T I N G FOR MANAGERS 

comments in this book are therefore directed to the normal commercial 
business motivated by profit, needing to stay solvent and operating in a free-
enterprise system. 

If it is established that financial viability is essential to the existence of 
a commercial business, it follows that there must be some system which 
records what is happening in the business, day by day, with a view to 
measuring the ultimate profit achieved. Such a system of recording and 
measuring is provided by the Accountant and the process is called 
Accounting. 

Twin Fields of Accounting 

Accountants go by many names: Financial Accountants, Cost 
Accountants, Management Accountants, to list but three. What ' s in a 
name? The accountant, whatever may be his title, is the specialist operator 
in his field: the field of providing a vital service to management in its 
pursuance of financial viability. This service has two clearly defined aspects 
which may in fact be regarded as twin fields of accounting. 

Let us consider how a business functions. A business draws upon 
resources (materials, men, money and machines) from large groups outside 
the business (suppliers, organized labour and those who provide capital: 
on loan, e.g. banks, or as owners, e.g. shareholders). These resources are 
converted in the production process into the finished product which goes 
to another large group outside the business (customers). This sequence is 
demonstrated graphically on page 3. 

Customers, one hopes, will eventually pay in cash and this cash will be 
used to reimburse suppliers and organized labour, provide interest on the 
loan capital and leave a surplus which is profit. This profit is appropriated 
in three ways: part goes in taxation; part goes in the form of dividend to 
provide a return on owners ' (shareholders) capital; part goes back down 
the funnel to feed the growing business. Thus the cycle is completed, cash 
flows round to the top of the chart and allows more resources to flow down 
the funnel labelled production process. 

Financial Accounting 

There is a commercial need, often strengthened by a legal obligation, that 
records be maintained to keep this flow of cash under control, e.g. to ensure 
that customers pay for what they have received; that those who have 
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4 AN I N T R O D U C T I O N T O BUSINESS A C C O U N T I N G F O R M A N A G E R S 

provided resources are adequately rewarded for the services they have 
provided, that taxation is fairly assessed. These records must be designed 
to show also what profit has been earned, i.e. what balance of income 
remains after satisfying all outgoings. This is the field of financial 
accounting and its records are concerned with: 

_ 1 . The financial relationship of the business with the outside world. 
2. The overall result, in terms of profit or loss, of the activities of 

the business. 
3. An historical review of what has happened. 

Referring to the chart on page 3, financial accounting records all that goes 
on outside the central funnel labelled production process. 

Management Accounting 

There is also a second field. Management must have monetary infor-
mation if it is to guide the course of business successfully. The information 
provided in the field of financial accounting will help up to a point but the 
real need is for something more detailed—detail, perhaps, in respect of 
individual departments, jobs, processes or projects—detail which will assist 
management in answering such questions as: which is our most profitable 
product?; is department ^ope ra t i ng as efficiently as department ΥΊ; should 
we close factory ΒΊ; should we purchase new machine Ζ ?; will it be cheaper 
to purchase component Ν instead of manufacturing it ourselves? Note that 
some of this information relates to the present and the future, in addition 
to the past. 

This quite different approach forms the field of cost, or management 
accounting which, referring again to the chart on page 3, amplifies what 
goes on inside the central funnel. 

Management's Use of Accounting 

Preparation of accounting information is not part of the manager's duties 
but he must be able to understand and interpret accounting information 
coming into his hands. This may appear to be a contradictory statement, 
but it is not: a useful comparison can be drawn between the manager and 
the captain of a modern jet airliner. 

The captain holds in his hands a complex and expensive mechanism 
together with the lives of many people. He must guide his airliner along its 
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predetermined path through day and night, good and bad weather 
conditions. To assist him in this task he is provided with a vast array of 
instruments, dials, lights, charts, sounds and messages. He is not expected 
to know how the instruments are constructed but he must be able to under-
stand and interpret the message they convey. He must also know the 
conditions under which certain instruments may require correction when 
being read, but above all he must know which are the vital instruments which 
must be trusted and followed even when all his instincts tell him not to do 
so. Let it be stressed that our captain needs to know far more than 
instrument reading alone if he is to fly his airliner successfully; however, 
the ability to read instruments is an essential attr ibute! 

Similarly our manager should learn to read his accounting information, 
know its limitations, know when to correct a reading and when to accept 
one. He does not need to know how to design, construct, operate or repair 
his accounting system. 

Accounting: a Service with Limitations 

Accounting is, therefore, a service to management, a special-purpose tool 
which must be used but not misused. Like any special-purpose tool, if it 
is neglected or not used it will surely go rusty and fail to provide the good 
service for which it was designed. However, all tools have their limitations 
and it is well to point out at this early stage some fundamental limitations 
inherent in any system of accounting. 

Accounting is a language. One of the fundamental reasons for failure 
to understand accounting documents is the failure to realize that accounting 
is a language which has its own rules, and words used must be interpreted 
accordingly. The qualified accountant has studied this language but many 
non-accountants have not . The problem is complicated by the fact that 
many of the words used in accounting are also used in everyday, non-
accounting, English language with very different meanings. "Cos t " and 
"value" , for example, conjure up for the non-accountant the picture of a 
price tag in a shop; for the accountant they may mean something far 
removed from an actual cash price. This problem is very real and must be 
appreciated. An Englishman wishing to speak French undertakes a serious 
period of study, yet he automatically assumes he can speak American 
without any study because the words and rules are similar. However, words 
in English may have different meanings in American. A "public school" 
in American language, for instance, means one available to the public at 
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large—what the English language understands by "public school" the 
Americans call a "private school". A full understanding of the English 
language does not equip one for an adequate understanding of either the 
American language or the accounting language. 

Money is the common denominator. Any one system must adopt a 
common unit of measurement. Accounting has selected money value as its 
unit of measurement. Therefore the day-to-day transactions of business, 
undertaken in many different units of measurement, have all to be converted 
to money values. 

This gives rise to two major shortcomings: 
1 . Accounting can never give a complete picture because some events defy 

expression in monetary terms and must therefore be omitted. A picture 
presented by an accountant will not tell you, for example, that your sales 
manager and works manager are not on speaking terms or that your 
competitor has developed a better product than yours. These two pieces of 
information are vital to the management of a business but an accounting 
system must ignore them. 

2. A common misconception when reading accounting documents is that 
the value placed on any item by the accountant represents what that item 
is worth in today's money value: as a general rule the only item to which 
this applies is cash in hand or on deposit at short call. Accounting 
traditionally has added together dissimilar money value items. With the 
passage of time money values change but, under the language of accounting, 
the value placed upon any item is not necessarily expressed in terms of 
today's value of money. If the Historical Cost Accounting Convention is 
used, included in the calculation of profit may be wages paid for at today's 
value and a proport ion of the original cost of a building purchased many 
years ago when the £ was worth perhaps twice what it is worth today. 
However, if the Current Cost Accounting Convention is used, some or all 
of these items may have been converted so as to reflect current replacement 
values or present-day money values. 

The difference between the historical cost and current cost accounting 
conventions is fundamental to an understanding of financial information 
and will be explained in greater detail later. 

Figures may be approximations. Once a figure is committed to paper by 
an accountant, it is commonly accepted with an air of accuracy that was 
never intended by the accountant . All units of measurement have degrees 
of approximation; the unit of measurement used in accounting is no 
exception. 
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The dimension of the paper on which this printing appears can be 
measured with a substantial degree of accuracy; the distance this book has 
travelled from the publisher to you can be less accurately measured; whereas 
the distance from here to the sun can only be very approximately measured. 
Similarly in accounting; the cash in the till can be accurately measured but 
many other items can at best be only approximations. 

This does not detract from the value of accounting information, provided 
the user appreciates the degree of approximation incorporated in the result. 
After all: you need only an approximate idea of the distance from A to Β 
if you wish to forecast the time the journey will take. 

Figures may reflect opinions. Individual accountants, like members of 
other professional bodies, hold their own opinions which are reflected in 
the figures they produce. In particular, opinions may vary over the money 
value to be used or the degree of approximation to be tolerated. Further-
more, accountants are, by nature, conservative in their outlook and will, 
therefore, often anticipate losses but seldom take account of profits until 
they have been earned. Accountants cannot detail every little item and those 
happenings which are considered to be of no material effect may be ignored. 
Thus it is not inconceivable that two accountants, who hold different 
opinions, may produce two different sets of figures out of the same basic 
information—just as two doctors may differ in their diagnosis of the same 
symptoms displayed by a patient. 

Time is an artificial compartment. If someone were to ask you the cost 
of operating your motor car for a period of 6 months, how would you 
answer? You would find it impossible to calculate an accurate cost until the 
car had been sold and the loss on capital outlay known: you will therefore 
have to estimate this loss during the 6 months. Suppose you bought new tyres 
during this 6-month period: is the whole cost of the tyres to be included in 
the running cost for the 6 months or a part only? If so, which part? 

Similarly, the true profit of a firm can be accurately measured only when 
the firm finally goes out of business. This, of course, is no good to 
management who require financial information on the results of operating 
different parts of the business and require it at frequent intervals—annually, 
quarterly, monthly or for some other period of time. We have seen above 
that figures may be approximations or reflect opinions, but the position 
is aggravated by the creation of these iron compartments of t ime. Business 
is a continuing function and yet the accountant must assume that an iron 
curtain falls at two dates when assets must be valued and between which 
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income and expenditure must be assessed. The whole concept of dividing 
time into compartments is thus artificial. 

Figures tell one story at once. The "language barrier" of accounting was 
referred to above. Arising partly from this, there is a widely held belief that 
figures are scientific facts which are good in any circumstances or 
conditions. Such is not the case; a figure is valid for the special purpose for 
which it was created and only in special circumstances will it still be true 
in general application. 

Three different valuations may be placed upon a piece of equipment 
depending on whether the valuation is required for assessing profit, or for 
fire insurance cover, or for attempting a sale. Each of these figures will be 
true in its own special circumstances. 

A different figure of "cost of producing product X" should be expected 
depending on whether the figure were required as a useful historical fact 
or as a basis for an expansion programme or in deciding whether to make 
or buy product X. 

Thus when considering any figure one must always bear in mind the 
purpose for which it was prepared. 

Another aspect of this same problem will be seen when considering the 
general accounting routines of the business. These routines have been 
devised to produce automatically the specific accounting information 
required by management. This is the story the figures tell and to expect them 
to tell another story may be expecting the accountant to unscramble an 
omelette. Accounting routines can of course be altered to enable a new story 
tqj>e told—but then do not expect the old story as well! 

The Reliability of the Accounting Service 

All these inherent limitations must be appreciated when using the 
accounting service. The accounting service was referred to earlier as a 
tool—all tools have their limitations beyond which the tool should not be 
used or its relative efficiency will be impaired. But this does not detract from 
the real usefulness of that tool. Similarly in accounting: the service is still 
useful and is quite reliable—if its limitations in use are appreciated. In 
particular, financial accounting provides the following vital information 
without which a business cannot be managed successfully: 

1. The profit or loss arising from the business and the source of 
such profit or loss. 
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2 The cash flow (positive or negative) generated by the business and 
the source and use of such cash flow. 

3 The capital employed in the business and the nature and value of 
all the property and possessions of the business, which will reveal: 

(a) what is owing to the business and by whom 
(b) what is owing by the business and to whom 
(c) the financial position of the business at any point in time. 

Management accounting provides further, equally vital and more detailed 
information which will be discussed in a later chapter. 



C H A P T E R 2 

Development and Principles of 
Book-keeping 

IN CHAPTER 1 we established that there is need for some system of recording 
the monetary aspect of day-to-day business transactions. The purpose of 
this chapter is to trace the development of these systems and to examine 
the principles of operating the system most commonly in use today. Let it 
be clearly understood that there is no one "system of accounting" good for 
all businesses and for all time. A business accounting system is rather like 
a suit—every suit has the same features: jacket, sleeves, but tons, etc., but 
no one suit will appeal to or fit everyone. Some suits can be bought "off 
the peg" and may require slight alteration while others are specially made 
to measure. Pattern and quality of cloth and "cu t " vary considerably. As 
a person grows older, contours change and the suit ceases to fit or wears 
out, so it is time to discard the old suit and buy a new one. Similar principles 
apply to a business accounting system. 

Brief History of Accounting 

One of the first accounts of recorded transactions dates back to the year 
2285 B.C. in Babylon: "Article 104—If a trader has given his agent Corn, 
Wool, Oil or any merchandise to sell, the agent must write down their value 
on a sealed document which is given to the t rader ." 

Examination of Egyptian papyrus scrolls has revealed careful records of 
income and expenditure, the Ancient Greeks developed a crude clearing-
house system and early Roman records show signs of household accounts. 

Early English business transactions were recorded by means of a "tally 
stick". Notches were cut in a stick (indicating the transaction which had 
taken place) which was then split, each party taking one half. The halves 
were married together at time of settlement. 

In the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, Venetian merchants originated 

10 
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a system of accounting which was to become a standard international 
system—Double-entry Book-keeping. This was first written up in 1494 by 
a Franciscan monk—Luca Paccioli. 

Double-entry Book-keeping 

Any business transaction can be considered from two distinct points of 
view. If I buy a motor car for £1000 cash, two things have happened: I have 
gained a car and lost £1000 cash. Similarly from the point of view of the 
man who sold me the car: he has gained £1000 cash but lost a car. So every 
business transaction has two aspects and the double entry system records 
both aspects (Americans refer to this as the Dual Aspect System). 

Double entry book-keeping has been defined as " that system by which 
every transaction involving a transfer of money or money's worth is 
recorded in two separate accounts forming part of a series, not merely by 
way of repetition, but so as to record the two distinct aspects in which every 
such transaction is capable of being regarded". 

The Account 

In the above definition the word "account" was used. This is the basic 
accounting record and in a traditional book-keeping system an account is 
opened for every classification of business transaction which we wish to 
record. The form on which the account is prepared is shown below. 

N A M E OF A C C O U N T 

Date Details Ref. £. Date Details Ref. £. 

Debit side Credit side 
Value of items coming in Value of items going out 

The name of the account appears at the top of the page. On the left-hand 
side (the debit side) are recorded items coming into the account and on the 
right-hand side (the credit side) are recorded items going out . 

In the details column is put the name of the account completing the double 
entry series and the account (or page) number of the completing account 
appears in the reference column to assist cross-reference. 

For simplicity of demonstrat ion in this book an abbreviated form of 
account in the shape of a letter " T " will be used, as will the following 
standard abbreviations: A/c—account ; Dr—debit; Cr—credit. 
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The earlier transaction of buying a car would be recorded thus: Dr Car 
A / c £1000 (reflecting gain of a car—value coming in) Cr Cash A / c £1000 
(reflecting loss of cash—value going out) and would appear in the accounts 
as follows: 

Car A / c Cash A / c 

Cash 1000 

i.e. value coming into this 
A / c from cash 

Car 1000 

i.e. value going out of this 
A / c on a car 

However, the man who sold the car would make up the following 
accounts: 

Car A / c 

Cash 1000 

Cash A / c 

Car 1000 

Cash and Credit Transactions 

In the above example cash was handed over immediately in exchange for 
the car: this is known as a cash transaction. However, the car may have been 
received on trust and cash paid, say, a month later: this is known as a credit 
transaction. Book-keeping regards a credit transaction as two separate 
transactions and makes two sets of entries thus: 

Transaction 1: Dr Car A / c £1000 (value coming into this A / c ) 
Cr J. Jones A / c £1000 (value going out of this A / c ) 

(supplier of car) 

Transaction 2: Dr J. Jones A / c £1000 (value coming into this A / c ) 
Cr Cash A / c £1000 (value going out of this A / c ) 

which will be recorded thus: 

Car A / c J. Jones A / c 

J. Jones 1000 
(Transaction 1) 

£ 
Cash 1000 
(Transaction 2) 

£ 
Car 1000 
(Transaction 1) 
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£ £ 
J. Jones 1000 

(Transaction 2) 

Classification of Accounts 

CHART OF CLASSIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS 

Accounts are classified in groups according to their purpose 

those dealing with persons those dealing with things 
called Personal A /cs called Impersonal A /cs 

persons from whom persons to whom intangible things tangible things 
we buy we sell called called 

called Creditors called Debtors Nominal A/cs Real A/cs 

representing representing 
Income Expenses 

For accounting purposes, accounts are classified in groups according to 
their purpose. The chart above shows this classification, the significance 
of which will become apparent in later reading. 

Books of Account 

The one essential book of account is the ledger, a book wherein are 
recorded on separate pages the accounts which it is deemed necessary to 
open in order to obtain the desired amount of detail of the business 
transactions. As a business grows, more and more accounts will be required 
and it is common practice to subdivide the ledger into separate books to 
avoid creating one cumbersome ledger. This also permits several clerks to 
work on the ledger simultaneously. The following are subdivisions generally 
in use: 

1. Personal A/cs are included in a personal ledger or alternatively 
creditors and debtors A/cs are separated in a purchase ledger and a sales 
ledger respectively. 

Cash A / c 
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BANK A / c 

£ £ 
Goods sold 100 Wages paid 20 

J. Smith paid 40 
Balance c/d 40 

£100 £100 

Balance b /d 40 

Note the tidy way in which the account is made to balance by inserting the 
balance and then repeating the figure below the line. Note also the use of 
the abbreviations c /d (carried down) and b / d (brought down, i.e. brought 
down below the line from above). In this example there is thus a debit 
balance of £40 on the bank A / c , indicating that debits (items coming into 

2. One particular real A / c itself is very bulky, namely the cash A / c , which 
appears on its own as a cash book. 

3. The ledger containing the remaining accounts is variously called the 
impersonal, nominal or private ledger. 

In addition to classifying transactions by type in ledger accounts, 
accountants often wish to keep a record of transactions by groups in 
chronological order day by day. Books used for this purpose are called day 
books or journals. As with ledgers, there may be several day books—for 
example, a chronological record of sales would form a sales day book and 
of purchases a purchase day book. These books are mentioned briefly to 
complete the picture but are not important for the purposes of this study. 

Balance on an Account 

As time passes by, a ledger account may accumulate several items on both 
the debit and credit sides. It is useful, as will be seen later, to know the net 
effect of all these entries, that is, to total the debit and credit items and 
ascertain the difference between the two. This difference is called the balance 
on the account; if the debit items exceed the credit items in value it is termed 
a debit balance and conversely if the credit items exceed the debit items the 
result is a credit balance. 

The book-keeping routine for balancing an account may be demonstrated 
as follows: 
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the bank) exceed credits (items going out of the bank) by £40, or in other 
words there is a £40 balance in hand at the bank. 

The general significance of balances on various classes of account may 
be summarized as follows: 

Accounts Debit balance Credit balance 
classificiation signifies signifies 

Personal A / c s Amount owing to the Amount owing by the 
business (debtor) business (creditor) 

Nominal A / c s Accumulated expenses Accumulated income 

Real A / c s Things owned by the Other amounts owing 
business (e.g. cash, by the business, 
car), termed assets termed liabilities 

Referring back to the example on page 12; before Transaction 2 was 
effected there was a credit balance of £1000 on J. Jones A / c , signifying that 
the business owed £1000 to J. Jones, who was thus a creditor; when 
Transaction 2 is effected, J . Jones A / c is said to be cleared and this is 
indicated by ruling a line under the figures on each side of the account. 

Students often find difficulty in reconciling in their minds the fact that 
a debit balance on the bank A / c signifies a balance in hand at the bank with 
the fact that their personal bank statement shows a credit balance when there 
is a balance in hand! A few moments ' thought will clear up the problem 
if it is remembered that the bank statement is a copy of the customer's 
personal A / c in the bank ' s ledger: thus this credit balance signifies an 
amount owing by the bank to the customer, i.e. a balance in hand from the 
customer's point of view. 

Balancing the Books 

If the principle of double entry has been faithfully followed, it auto-
matically follows that at any time the total debits in the ledger should equal 
the total credit. Pursuing the argument a stage further, it also follows that 
the total debit balances should equal the total credit balances: if they do 
not, an error in book-keeping has been made. Double entry book-keeping 
thus provides its own built-in check on the arithmetical accuracy of the 
system by the preparation of a Trial Balance. 

A trial balance is simply a list of all the balances in the ledger at any given 
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date with debit balances put in one column and credit balances in an 
adjacent column. If the totals of the debit and credit balances agree, the 
books are said to balance. Note, however, that this is merely a proof of the 
arithmetical accuracy of entries which have been made—an entry may have 
been missed out altogether or put in the wrong account: this will not affect 
the arithmetical accuracy and will not therefore be revealed by the trial 
balance. These errors should come to light by imposing other checks on the 
book-keeping. 

The mechanics of book-keeping have now been performed, an accurate 
record in money terms has been made of all business transactions and the 
books balance. The stage is now set to use this information to compile the 
two basic pieces of information vital to effective management of any 
business; 

1. The profit earned over a period of time. 
2. The financial position, or state of affairs, at a given date. 

Quill Pen Book-keeping? 

The description of traditional book-keeping above was very basic and 
did tend to reflect tedious manual transcription on hard copy records: this 
was simply to explain the basic principles. In practice it is not always a "quill 
pen" task: there is a wide spectrum of mechanical and electronic aids which 
eliminate this drudgery. There are several proprietary "one write" systems 
which eliminate the need for repetitive transcription; there are software 
packages to fit microcomputers ; there are computer mainframe 
programmes. Moreover many such systems are designed to produce analyses 
and control information automatically as an additional bonus . But all 
systems reflect the basic principles described above. Data processing will 
be reviewed briefly in Chapter 17. 
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Ascertainment of Profit or Loss and 
Financial Position 

I F A trader buys ten articles for £100 and sells them for £150 a profit of 
£50 has been made on the deal. However, in order to acquire and sell these 
articles, the traders may have incurred other expenses (e.g. transport, wages, 
rent) of £30 which must be met and therefore the final profit is only £20. 
In accounting terminology, the £50 is referred to as Gross Profit (the 
difference between selling price and cost of goods sold) and the £20 is 
referred to as Net Profit (final profit, net of all expenses). 

Cost of Goods Sold 

One vital rule in preparation and interpretation of accounts is that like 
must be compared with like. In the above example, if the trader had started 
on 1st January with three articles valued at £10 each and ended up on 30th 
June with five articles valued at £10 each, still having purchased ten for £100 
and with a sales income of £150, what would have been the gross profit? 

Gross profit is not a comparison of sales with purchases but a comparison 
of sales with cost of goods sold. In this example the cost of goods sold was 
£80 as follows: 

Articles Cost 

£ 
Opening stock on hand 3 30 
Add purchases 10 100 

13 130 
Less closing stock on hand

 5 50 

Goods sold are therefore
 8 £80 

The figure for sales was £150, therefore gross profit is £150 minus £80: or £70. 

AIBAM-C 17 
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Relevance of Income and Expenditure 

The rule of comparing like with like is extended to the computat ion of 
net profit. Net profit is computed for a period of time and must be, the 
difference between all income and expenditure relevant to that period, 
irrespective of whether or not cash has been received for all the income or 
cash paid for all the expenditure. 

Returning to the example of our trader, let us assume the £30 expenses 
is the result of spending cash during the period 1st January to 30th June 
as follows: 

Transport both relevant to period 1st January to 30th June 
Wages 

10 j 
Rent 12 for 12 months, 1st January to 31st December 

Electricity 3 for 3 months, 1st January to 31st March (£2 owing 
for 3 months 1st April to 30th June) 

£30 

Although the transport and wages are relevant to the period under review, 
the rent paid relates to a period of 12 months whilst the electricity relates 
to part only of the period under review. It would therefore be misleading 
to charge the whole of the rent against the gross profit: £6 is the equitable, 
or relevant charge. Similarly £3 plus £2, or £5, is the equitable, or relevant 
charge for electricity. 

On this basis, whilst £30 was actually spent in cash in the period, the actual 
expenditure incurred and relevant to the period under review is as follows: 

£ 
Transport 5 
Wages 10 
Rent 6 1st January to 30th June only 
Electricity 5 full charge 1st January to 30th June 

£26 

The true net profit earned in the period 1st January to 30th June is thus: 

£ 
Gross profit as above 70 
Less expenditure incurred as above 26 

Net profit earned £44 
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PROFIT A N D LOSS A C C O U N T 
FOR THE PERIOD 1ST JANUARY TO 30TH JUNE 

£ £ 
Opening stock 30 Sales 150 
Purchases 100 Closing stock 50 
Gross profit carried 

to Profit and Loss A / c 70 

£200 £200 

Transport 5 Gross profit from 
Wages 10 trading A / c 70 
Rent 6 
Electricity 5 
Net profit 44 

£70 £70 

Note that the closing stock may appear on the credit side of the trading 
section. This gives the same effect as deducting it from opening stock plus 
purchases in arriving at cost of goods sold. 

Departing from the traditional format however, the profit and loss 
account is frequently presented in vertical form as below: 

Profit and Loss Account 

This is the accounting document which is prepared to reveal the profit 
earned over a period of time, alternative names being Trading and Profit 
and Loss Account, Income Statement, Earnings Statement and Revenue 
Account. Note that it is an account and therefore in traditional format 
follows the layout of a ledger account. It is divided into two halves: the top 
half or Trading Section compares sales with cost of goods sold and reveals 
gross profit; the bottom half or Profit and Loss Section takes the gross profit 
from the trading section, sets against this the expenditure incurred and 
reveals the net profit. Such an account prepared from the information 
developed in the case of our trader would appear in the form displayed 
below. 

OUR TRADER 
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PROFIT A N D LOSS A C C O U N T 
FOR THE PERIOD 1ST JANUARY TO 30TH JUNE 

£ £ 

150 

30 
100 

130 

50 80 

70 

5 
10 
6 

5 26 
Net profit

 £ 44 

A profit and loss account is prepared, in practice, by transferring to this 
account all the balances on the nominal A/cs (income and expenditure) in 
the ledger (see chart of classification of accounts on page 13 and table of 
significance of balances on page 15). This is done at the end of the period 
under review, after making the adjustments for relevance demonstrated 
above. 

Capital Account 

On setting up in business a trader introduces capital which is credited to 
an account called the capital account. The credit balance on this account 
represents the amount owing by the business to the owner of that business 
and will at all times be represented by assets employed in the business, 
known as the net worth of the business. 

Suppose a trader sets up in business with £1500 in cash, the book-keeping 
entry will be: 

Dr Cash A / c £1500 (value coming in) 

Cr Capital A / c £1500 (value going out from the owner) 

and at this stage the owner 's capital employed in the business is £1500, 
represented by cash £1500. 

Sales 

Cost of goods sold: 
Opening stock 
Add purchases 

Less closing stock 

Gross profit 

Less other expenses: 
Transport 
Wages 
Rent 
Electricity 
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If the trader now buys a car for £1000 cash, the entry will be as on page 
12, and although the owner 's capital employed is still £1500, it is now 
represented by cash £500 and car £1000. 

Any new capital which is introduced by the owner from time to time will 
be credited to the capital A / c ; conversely any capital withdrawn from the 
business will be debited to (i.e. deducted from) the capital A / c . 

Profit Belongs to the Owner 

Quite obviously the profit earned over a period, after all charges have 
been met, belongs to the owner of the business and therefore the net profit 
is transferred to the capital account when the profit and loss account has 
been prepared. The reader may have wondered where was the credit off-
setting the debit of £44 net profit in the form on page 19. The credit is in 
the capital account, representing the increase in owner 's capital employed 
accruing from profit earned. Similarly a net loss would be debited to 
(deducted from) the capital account. 

Balance Sheet 

After completing the profit and loss account, the remaining balances 
appearing in the ledger are summarized in a statement called the balance 
sheet, from which can be ascertained the financial position of the business. 

The chart appearing on page 13 will now be expanded to demonstrate 
the preparation of profit and loss account and balance sheet: 

r 
Personal A/cs 

Creditors Debtors 

1 
Impersonal A/cs 

I— 1 —I 
Nominal A/cs Real A/cs 

Capital A/c 

Income Expenses 

t Ί -
t 

Profit and loss account 

1. —*» Balance sheet 
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Suppose that the trader now buys stock for resale on credit for £200 and 
also buys a building for £1000, paying £100 cash and obtaining a mortgage 
for £900: these transactions would be reflected in the balance sheet as 
follows: 

Balance Sheet as at Transactions Nos. 3 and 4 

£ £ 
Capital 1500 Cash 400 
Mortgage 900 Car 1000 
Creditor 200 Building 1000 

Stock 200 

£2600 £2600 

Note that the owner 's capital employed is still £1500. If the trader now 

In traditional format, the balance sheet is a two-sided statement (it is not 
an account) listing liabilities or credit balances on the left and assets or debit 
balances on the right. This is the accepted manner of presentation in the 
U.K.—in America the sides are reversed. The section headed "Balancing 
the Books" on page 15 will explain also why the balance sheet balances: 
i.e. why the totals on the left- and right-hand sides agree. 

Preparation of Balance Sheet 

A balance sheet may be prepared any time one wishes to ascertain the 
financial position of the business and, in theory, one could be prepared after 
each book-keeping entry has been made. When the trader on page 20 set 
up in business the balance sheet would appear as follows: 

Balance Sheet as at Transaction No. 1 

Capital £1500 Cash £1500 

Another balance sheet, prepared after buying the car, would appear as 
follows: 

Balance Sheet as at Transaction No. 2 

£ £ 
Capital 1500 Cash 500 

Car 1000 

£1500 £1500 
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sells stock costing £100 for £150 and incurs no other expense, the resulting 
profit of £50 will be added to the capital employed. If this sale is on credit, 
the resulting balance sheet will be: 

Balance Sheet as at Transaction No. 5 

£ £ 
Capital 1500 Cash 400 
Add profit 50 Car 1000 

Building 1000 
1550 Stock 100 

Mortgage 900 Debtor 150 
Creditor 200 

£2650 £2650 

Balance Sheet Groupings 

To assist in the interpretation of a balance sheet, the items are not strung 
out in a line as in the above example but are classified in major groups. 

The assets (right-hand side) fall into two groups: 

1. Fixed assets which are held permanently in the business, not for resale 
and without which the business could not be carried on. Examples are: land 
and buildings, plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings, motor vehicles. 

2. Current assets which are held for conversion into cash at an early date 
in the normal course of business. Examples are: stock and work in progress, 
debtors, bank, cash. Sometimes these are called circulating assets because 
the items are continually changing their form in the normal course of 
business: thus stock is sold and becomes a debtor, the debtor pays and 
becomes cash, cash is used to buy more stock and so on, forever circulating. 

The liabilities (left-hand side) fall into three main groups: 

1. Owner's capital employed. 

2. Long-term liabilities which are liabilities not currently repayable, e.g. 
a mortgage. 

3. Current liabilities which are repayable in a short period of time and 
in the normal course of business. 

It is considered good practice to use these groupings and also, in the U.K., 
to list items in descending order of permanence, i.e. on the right-hand side: 
land at the top and cash at the bot tom; on the left-hand side: the capital 
at the top and current liabilities at the bot tom. In the balance sheet of a 
bank, where liquidity is important, the rule is broken and cash appears at the 
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top of the right-hand side, but this is an exceptional type of business. In 
America, the reverse order is frequently used for all balance sheets. 

It is not the nature of an asset which determines whether it is fixed or 
current but the manner in which it is employed in the business: a motor car 
used as a business vehicle is a fixed asset but a motor car held for resale by 
a motor dealer would in fact be stock, and therefore a current asset. 

By adopting these groupings, the balance sheet appearing on page 23 is 
redrafted as follows: 

Balance Sheet as at Transaction No. 5 

£ £ £ 
Fixed assets 

1500 Building 1000 
50 Car 1000 

2000 

1550 Current assets 
Stock 100 

900 Trade debtors 150 
Cash 400 

200 650 

£2650 £2650 

Departing from traditional format, the balance sheet is frequently 
presented in vertical form as opposite. 

The sub-totals revealed by this form of presentation are helpful in the 
interpretation of a balance sheet as: we shall see later. 

Fundamental Observations on the Balance Sheet 

At this early stage it is important to observe these fundamental facts: 

1. The balance sheet is not an account but is a statement of balances. 

2. It is prepared at one point in time and is valid for that point in time 
only: the very next transaction of the business will render it out of date. 
A balance sheet artificially freezes the business for one split second in flight 
in the same way that a "still" from a film freezes the film for one split 
second. 

Owner's capital employed 
Original capital 
Add profit 

Long-term liabilities 
Mortgage 

Current liabilities 
Trade creditors 
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Balance Sheet as at Transaction No. 5 

£ 
Fixed assets 

Building 
Car 

Current assets 
Stock 
Trade debtors 
Cash 

Deduct current liabilities 
Trade creditors 

Net current assets 

Net assets 

Deduct amount financed by 
long-term liabilities 

Mortgage 

Net worth 

Represented by: 
Owner's capital employed 

Original capital 
Add profit 

1000 
1000 

100 
150 
400 

650 

200 

2000 

450 

2450 

900 

£1550 

1500 
50 

£1550 

3. It is designed simply to show whence the money has come to run the 
business—sources of funds (shown on the left-hand side of a traditional 
balance sheet) and how this money has been employed within the 
business—uses of funds (shown on the right-hand side of a traditional 
balance sheet). 

4. Owner 's capital employed is represented by the net worth of the 
business, i.e. total assets minus external liabilities. This can be demonstrated 
by reference to the redrafted balance sheet (page 25) where owner 's capital 
employed of £1550 = net worth of: £2000 + £650—£200—£900. 

5. When profit has been earned it is not necessarily represented by cash 
in the till. In the above example a profit of £50 was made and yet cash went 
down from £1500 to £400 by the end of Transaction No . 5. Profit forms 
part of the owner 's capital employed and therefore can be represented 
anywhere in the generality of net worth as explained under 4 above. 
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Relationship of Balance Sheet with Profit and Loss Account 

The balance sheet and profit and loss account are interrelated documents. 
A balance sheet portrays the financial position at a certain date whilst the 
profit and loss account gives the detail behind one item in the balance sheet— 
the movement on owner's capital employed caused by profit or loss. In fact 
the net profit for a period can be computed without a profit and loss account 
by preparing a balance sheet at two dates. Any increase in net worth (i.e. 
owner's capital employed) between the two dates, after adjusting for capital 
introduced or withdrawn, must represent net profit earned in the period. 
Conversely a reduction in net worth represents net loss. In computing profit 
in this way there is a significant lack of detail which is provided by the profit 
and loss account. The balance sheet gives the final result, like the result of 
a football match in the stop press—the profit and loss account is the full 
report on the match, showing how that result came about. 

There is a further link between balance sheet and profit and loss account. 
Earlier in this chapter was discussed the importance of adjusting actual cash 
receipts and payments to an incurred basis; in preparing the profit and loss 
account on page 19 the following adjustments were made: 

1. £50 closing stock, in effect deducted from payment for purchases to 
arrive at cost of goods sold. 

2. £6 rent in advance, or prepaid, deducted from payment for rent. 

3. £2 electricity accrued due, added to payment for electricity. 

These three adjustments are one half of a double entry; the other half 
features in the balance sheet as follows: 

1. £50 closing stock appears as the first item in current assets. 
2. £6 rent prepaid (this is a debit balance representing the theoretical right 

to a refund) also appears in current assets as prepaid expenses immediately 
following trade debtors. 

3. £2 electricity accrued due (this is a credit balance representing a liability) 
appears in current liabilities as accrued liabilities immediately following 
trade creditors. 

Accounting Period 

A profit and loss account is prepared for and reveals the profit or loss 
of an accounting period. A balance sheet is prepared as at the end of the 
accounting period and reveals the financial position of the business as at 
that date. 
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The accounting period chosen is commonly a calendar year, hence the 
expression "Annual Accounts" : meaning the profit and loss account and 
balance sheet for that year. However, whilst it is necessary to know the 
financial position at least once a year for tax and other legal matters, it is 
often desirable to know it at much more frequent intervals. Therefore an 
accounting period of 3 months ' durat ion may be selected: indeed many 
businesses adopt a one month or a 4-week accounting period for internal 
reporting purposes. 

At this stage the reader is again referred to the section "Time is an artificial 
compartment", on page 7. The relevance of this section may now be clearer. 

The interrelationship of profit and loss account, balance sheet and 
accounting period may be summarized diagrammatically below, assuming 
a 12-month accounting period coinciding with the calendar year. The 
horizontal line represents a portion of time extracted from the continuing 
life of the business. 

31 st December 1987 31 st December 1988 

Time 
Profit and Loss A/c 

for 1987 
Profit and Loss A/c 

for 1988 
Profit and Loss A/c 

for 1989 

Balance sheet Balance sheet 
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Accounting Concepts and 
Accounting Standards 

T o R E C A P I T U L A T E on earlier chapters: when cash is spent the cash book 
(cash A/c) is credited, representing value going out of this account, and 
some other account is debited. If a nominal account is debited, a charge 
will ultimately be made to the profit and loss account; if a real account is 
debited, the amount will not be charged to the profit and loss account but 
will feature in the balance sheet as an asset. Does this create scope for 
manipulating profit up or down? Quite frankly both here and elsewhere 
there is considerable potential for manipulation of profit and it is for this 
reason that we must digress at this stage and consider the basic accounting 
principles upon which profit is calculated and the need for standard 
accounting practices. 

What is Profit? 

£1 profit is not a real thing like a £1 coin, it is not cash but is an accounting 
concept based upon the application of accepted accounting rules (confirm 
this by rereading note 5 on page 25). 

Similarly the totals at the foot of a balance sheet do not value the business 
(they may not even value the assets of the business in real terms) because 
these totals are also based upon application of the same accounting rules 
called concepts and conventions. 

Accounting Concepts 

There are many long-established rules or principles upon which the 
accounting concepts of profit and balance sheet valuation are based but the 
most important ones are as follows: 

28 
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1. The Going-concern Concept 

In putting together a profit and loss account and balance sheet the 
accountant presumes that the business is going to continue and not terminate 
at the balance sheet date. He is therefore not concerned with break-up values 
but with continuing values in use to a going concern. We shall see below 
how the application of this concept affects the valuation of the assets which 
appear in the balance sheet. 

2. The Concept of Relevance 

In putting a profit and loss account together the accountant is concerned, 
not with cash receipts and cash payments, but with those items of income 
and expenditure deemed to be relevant to the period under review. 
Sometimes referred to as the "matching principle" or "accrual accounting" 
the application of this concept was well demonstrated in the first two 
sections of the previous chapter ("Cost of Goods Sold" and "Relevance 
of Income and Expenditure") . 

3. The Concept of Prudence 

The accountant is trained to be prudent, or conservative, in putting 
together a profit and loss account and balance sheet. Whenever there is 
doubt he will resolve it in the least favourable light, always anticipating any 
potential losses but ignoring profits which might not materialize. We shall 
see below how this "belt and braces" concept affects the valuation of current 
assets in the balance sheet. 

4. Consistency 

Once the accountant has determined how he will apply the principles or 
concepts of accounting (including the three mentioned above), he will 
typically continue to apply them in the same way year after year. The 
application of the concept of consistency therefore renders trend and other 
comparisons much more reliable: as was stated on page 17 "one vital rule 
in preparation and interpretation of accounts is that like must be compared 
with l ike." 

Later sections of this chapter lead us gently into some of the areas where 
the application of accounting concepts is most significant. 
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Accounting Conventions 

Over and above the concepts of accounting there are also two basic 
conventions of accounting: 

1. The Historical Cost Convention 

This is the oldest of the two and implies that figures in the profit and loss 
account and balance sheet normally ignore the impact of inflation. Such 
figures normally reflect costs or values which were current historically when 
the original entry was made in the books. Accounting is seldom "pure" and 
even under the historical cost convention some firms have chosen periodi-
cally to revalue fixed assets in the balance sheet—but this still does not 
necessarily reflect current costs or present-day values once the revaluation 
date becomes history. 

2. The Current Cost Convention 

Still relatively new, and therefore somewhat contentious, this convention 
implies that some or all of the figures in the profit and loss account and 
balance sheet will take account of inflation and so reflect current costs and 
present-day values at each balance sheet date. The subject of Current Cost 
Accounting is taken up in a later chapter. 

Capital and Revenue Expenditure 

Capital expenditure is that which results in the acquisition of a permanent 
or long-lasting asset or which extends or enhances the earning capacity of 
the existing assets of the business. This type of expenditure will be debited 
to a real account and will feature as a fixed asset in the balance sheet. 

Revenue expenditure represents the normal day-to-day running expenses 
of the business and does not result in the acquisition of a fixed asset. 
Expenditure incurred in maintaining the fixed assets in efficient working 
order; costs of manufacture, selling and distribution; expenses of admini-
stration and management are all examples of revenue expenditure. This type 
of expenditure will be debited to a nominal account and will thus be a charge 
to the profit and loss account. 

Note that it is not the nature of the expenditure but the purpose for which 
it is incurred which determines whether it is capital or revenue expenditure. 
Thus wages paid to an employee will normally be revenue expenditure, i.e. 
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a normal running expense; however, if that employee were engaged on, say, 
installing a brand-new central heating system to the factory, his wages will 
be capital expenditure. 

The reader will notice a similarity here to the rules of distinction between 
fixed and current assets; again it is the purpose for which expenditure is 
incurred, not the nature of the expenditure, which determines its definition. 

Revenue expenditure is written off, i.e. charged, or debited, to profit and 
loss account during the year in which it is incurred. The concept of relevance 
is applied in determining the amount to write off: this was demonstrated 
in the first two sections of the previous chapter. The concept of relevance 
is now carried a stage further and applied to capital expenditure. This is 
expenditure relevant to a number of years—in fact the years during which 
the asset thereby acquired will provide a useful service to the business. 
Capital expenditure is therefore written off to profit and loss account over 
the useful working life of the fixed asset thereby acquired, the amount 
written off being termed depreciation. 

Depreciation of Fixed Assets 

The object of charging depreciation arises from the concept of relevance 
and was introduced above but it bears repetition: it is to write off to profit 
and loss account the cost of a fixed asset over its useful working life. Many 
misconceptions in accounts interpretation arise when this simple fact is 
overlooked. In particular, the following points arise: 

1. Under the historical cost convention, 

(a) The value at which a fixed asset appears in the balance sheet is 
original cost (or occasionally, in the case of freehold land and 
buildings, a periodic revaluation) less accumulated depreciation to 
date—note that this does not represent a current purchase or resale 
price. 

(b) Fluctuations in market value taking place after initial purchase of 
an asset are ignored by the balance sheet as these have no bearing 
upon the concept of depreciation. Furthermore, fixed assets are not 
held for resale in the normal course of business and so the going 
concern concept dictates that market value is of no consequence. 

2. Under the current cost convention, however, the value of a fixed asset 
is net current replacement cost: i.e. estimated replacement cost scaled down 
by the proport ion of its life expired. 
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£ 
Original cost of asset 1000 
Depreciation year 1: 10% 100 

Undepreciated balance year 1 900 
Depreciation year 2: 10% of £900 90 

Undepreciated balance year 2 810 
Depreciation year 3: 10% of £810 81 and so on 

* Or estimated replacement cost, if the current cost convention is used. 

3. The fact that a fixed asset becomes obsolete is ignored when calculating 
depreciation as such, although application of the concept of prudence might 
suggest an additional deduction from profits for obsolescence if the firm 
now decides to reassess the asset's useful working life. However, if the 
obsolescence is realized (as when it is deemed prudent to sell an obsolete 
item and replace) it represents a loss on disposal and will be taken into 
account as such—but this is not depreciation. 

Methods of Depreciation 

If the object of depreciation is as stated above, it follows that the logical 
method of computing an annual charge for depreciation is to apply the 
formula: 

original cost* minus estimated residual (scrap or resale) value 

estimated number of years ' useful life 

This will obviously produce an equal annual charge and if it were plotted 
on a graph a straight line would result. Hence this method is referred to 
as the straight line or fixed instalment method of depreciation. 

A big practical problem is to estimate the number of years ' useful life— 
who will be bold enough to estimate this? If the firm has a definite 
replacement policy based on a term of years or if the asset has a known life 
span, as with a lease for a stated number of years, the estimate is simple: 
in all other cases it is not so simple. For this reason, the historical cost 
convention permits an alternative to the straight line method and the 
reducing balance method is commonly used. By this method a fixed 
percentage is applied to the reducing balance of the asset each year, for 
example: 
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Compare this with the straight line method and notice in particular that the 
depreciation charge reduces annually and that the undepreciated balance 
can never be eliminated under this method. 

A variation on the straight line method is the depletion unit method which 
is applied to wasting assets such as mines or quarries. Asset life is estimated 
in units of output instead of years and a rate of depreciation is computed 
per unit of output , e.g. per ton of saleable ore raised. Depreciation to be 
written off in any year is ascertained by multiplying the actual units of 
output for that year by the unit rate of depreciation. As with the normal 
straight line method, the object is to depreciate the asset fully by the time 
it is worked out. 

In the case of assets with a doubtful life and of comparatively small value 
(e.g. loose tools or livestock) the valuation method is used whereby the asset 
is valued each year, the difference between valuation and book value being 
deemed to be the depreciation charge for the year. 

The method of depreciation to be selected will be the one most suited to 
the particular fixed asset being depreciated and, once selected, the 
consistency concept determines that it should be applied consistently each 
year. There are other more sophisticated methods of depreciation in use, 
but those outlined in this section are the ones commonly employed in 
practice. 

Valuation of Current Assets 

The two accounting concepts of going concern and prudence help to 
determine the basis of valuation of current assets. Unlike fixed assets, it 
will be remembered that current assets are held for conversion into cash at 
at an early date, and therefore, for balance sheet purposes, a basis of 
valuation is used which is quite different from that outlined above for fixed 
assets. A current asset should not appear in the balance sheet at a value in 
excess of its estimated realizable value on conversion into cash and, 
therefore, the basis adopted is "the lower oi cost or realizable value" (under 
the historical cost convention) or " the lower of replacement value or 
realizable value" (under the current cost convention). Here we see the 
accounting concept of prudence hard at work because this basis of valuation 
writes off any anticipated or suspected loss but ignores any profit until it 
is actually realized. 

Rules are not always easy to apply and that relating to the balance-sheet 
valuation of stock is no exception. Refer back to the calculation of goods 

A I B A M -D 
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sold on page 17: it was not difficult to value those five remaining articles 

at the lower of cost or realizable value; it had to be £10. But take the 

following example: 

My purchases in a period were— 

Articles Cost each Total cost 

£ £ 
10 10 100 
10 15 150 
10 20 200 

30 £450 

and at the end of the period I have left in stock five articles with a realizable 
value of £25 each. Clearly for balance-sheet purposes they must be valued 
at cost because this is the lower . . . but what is their cost? There are at least 
three answers: 

1. The FIFO basis of valuation (First In First Out) implies that the five 
in stock must be part of the final delivery and therefore would be valued 
at £20 each. 

2. On the other hand, LIFO (Last In First Out) would imply that they 
were part of the initial delivery and therefore would be valued at £10 each. 

3. Whilst the average method would clearly value them at £15 each! 

Rather like the selection of a method of depreciation so with the selection 
of a method of stock valuation, the consistency concept determines that , 
once selected, it should be applied consistently each year. 

Goodwill 

What is a business worth? Sufficient should have been said in this chapter 
to make the reader realize that the balance sheet valuation of assets is no 
reliable guide to the " true value" (in non-accounting terminology) of a 
business. Except on a forced sale, current assets should not be worth less 
than their balance sheet value—although of course they may be worth more. 
Fixed assets may be worth more or less than their balance sheet value, 
depending upon the interplay of the forces of obsolescence, changing money 
values and market trends. An up-to-date value may of course be obtained 
by professional valuation of both fixed and current assets but this is a value 
of the business assets only, not of the business. 
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The true value of any commodity is whatever a willing buyer is prepared 
to pay. 

A business may be worth much more than the value of its tangible assets 
due to valuable business contacts, market outlets, production facilities, 
geographical location, reputation of business or product, exclusive or 
monopoly rights, site development potential to mention but a few. How 
much are you willing to pay for this business—how badly do you want it? 
The amount you are willing to pay for these intangible attributes is termed 
goodwill. 

Consider the following balance sheet of a business: 

£ £ 
Capital 1000 Fixed assets 800 

Current assets 200 

£1000 £1000 

For reasons known only to myself I am willing to pay £1500 for this business 
compared to the balance sheet value of its assets of £1000:1 am therefore 
paying £500 for goodwill. Having raised capital of £1500 with which to 
purchase the business, my opening balance sheet will appear as follows: 

£ £ 
Capital 1500 Goodwill 500 

Fixed assets 800 
Current assets 200 

£1500 £1500 

It is not uncommon for an item of goodwill to appear amongst the assets 
in a balance sheet but the inclusion of goodwill does not invest the balance 
sheet with any greater ability to reflect a true commercial value of the 
business. Goodwill itself may be valuable one day and worthless the next 
depending upon the presence or absence of a willing buyer or buyers. 

Goodwill may be quite substantial in relation to other more tangible 
assets, on the other hand it may be of negative value. Consider two extreme 
cases: 

1. A milk round with no tangible assets at all yet which sells for 
£1500—100 percent goodwill. 

2. A gold mine with a shaft sunk and equipment valued at £150,000 but 
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unfortunately no gold is found—is there anything less valuable than a hole 
in the ground with nothing at the bot tom? 

Valuation of Goodwill 

How did I arrive at the price of £1500 for the above business, thereby 
valuing goodwill at £500? Many academic, and sometimes questionable, 
methods of "valuing" goodwill have been proposed, and indeed used, from 
time to time. Perhaps the method with most to recommend it, and which 
will be discussed below, is that of capitalizing future maintainable profits. 

All other things being equal, the more potentially profitable a business 
is, the more valuable will it be. Goodwill is thus indirectly related to profit 
because goodwill becomes more valuable as the potential profit from the 
balance sheet value of a business increases. A genuine purchaser asks himself 
two questions when valuing a business: what profit am I going to get from 
this business in future, under my management?; what rate of return do I 
want on my investment? 

Assuming that the business under consideration has estimated future 
maintainable profits of £300 per annum and that I require a return of 20 
percent per annum on my investment, I am willing to pay 

100 
^ - x £300 or £1500 

20 

for this business. Estimated future maintainable profits have been 
capitalized by this calculation to £1500, i.e. they represent an annual return 
at the desired percentage (20 percent) of this figure. Had I required a return 
of only 10 percent on my investment, I would similarly have been prepared 
to pay £3000 for the business.* 

This method of valuing a business, and thereby goodwill, assumes a 
"genuine" purchaser who requires the business for normal trading purposes. 
On the other hand, the purchaser may realize that there is undeveloped site 
potential and in this case he will value the business at whatever figure is 
acceptable to the seller, provided that it leaves the purchaser a satisfactory 
margin for a quick capital profit on resale or development. Estimated 
maintainable future profits are ignored because the purchaser has no 
intention of perpetuating the business. 

There can be no one simple formula for valuing goodwill because it is 
so much a personal matter between the seller and an individual willing buyer. 

* For a practical demonstration of this see page 207 at note 10. 
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To repeat from page 3 5 : " H o w much are you willing to pay for this 
business—how badly do you want i t ? " 

Balance Sheet Story 

A balance sheet can never tell us what a business is worth, because this 
simply is not the purpose of the balance sheet. What then can it tell us? The 
story told by a balance sheet can be most interesting and illuminating; we 
shall be taking a closer look at a balance sheet in Chapter 11. However, 
before then it is necessary to discourse upon other matters. 

Scope for Opinion 

Returning to the preamble to this chapter and to what has been said about 
the application of accounting concepts it must now be clear to the reader 
that there is certainly scope for opinion and therefore, unfortunately, scope 
for manipulation of profit and balance sheet values. The very words "going 
concern", "relevance", "prudence" and "consistency" are largely soft, 
subjective, grey concepts rather than hard, objective, black and white facts. 
For this reason profit itself must be largely a soft, subjective, grey concept 
rather than the hard, objective fact of, say, a £ coin. 

Two honest accountants faced with the same trial balance might express 
different opinions as to , for example: what is capital and what is revenue; 
how to depreciate fixed assets; how to value stock—and thereby produce 
quite different profits and balance sheet valuations. I repeat, two honest 
accountants might do this: how much more therefore might an unscrupulous 
one do? Whether it was deliberately unscrupulous or whether it was simply 
a matter of opinion is academic but a number of celebrated cases (e.g. Rolls 
Royce who, before changing their policy on this matter, increased reported 
profits by some £20 million by classifying research and development 
expenditure as capital rather than revenue expenditure; G E C who saw a 
takeover profit forecast of £10 million by ΑΕΙ turn into a loss of £4

ι
Λ 

million on a change in basis of stock valuation) brought bad odour upon 
the accounting profession who therefore felt that perhaps the time had come 
to constrain the scope for opinion or at least have it brought out into the 
open. Accounting standards were therefore born . 
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Accounting Standards 

Late in 1969 the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales issued a Statement of Intent to narrow the scope for 
opinion, the areas of difference and the variety in accounting practice by 
publishing authoritative Statements of Standard Accounting Practice 
(SSAPs) on contentious items. What is now the Accounting Standards 
Committee was formed, its membership eventually embracing all the major 
professional accounting Institutes and accounts users (e.g. brokers). 

The normal procedure has been for the Accounting Standards Committee 
to publish an Exposure Draft (ED) as a discussion document and to allow 
a period for interested parties to submit their views before the final SSAP 
is published. It is impractical to present an up-to-date schedule of SSAPs 
because new ones are frequently added, however, to give the reader a feel 
for the areas which have been covered, the following list represents the state 
of the art at July 1986: 

(a) Statements of Standard Accounting Practice 

SSAP 

Effective from 

1 Accounting for the results of associated Jan. 1971 
companies (revised May 1982) 

2 Disclosure of accounting policies Jan. 1972 
3 Earnings per share Jan. 1972 

(revised Aug. 1974) 
4 The accounting treatment of government grants Jan. 1974 
5 Accounting for value-added tax Jan. 1974 
6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments Jan. 1974 

(revised July 1986) 
8 Treatment of taxation under the imputation Jan. 1975 

system in the accounts of companies (revised Jan. 1978) 
9 Stocks and work in progress Jan. 1976 

10 Statements of Source and Application of Funds Jan. 1976 
12 Accounting for depreciation Jan. 1978 

(revised Jan. 1987) 
13 Accounting for research and development Jan. 1978 
14 Group accounts Jan. 1979 
15 Accounting for deferred tax Jan. 1979 

(revised Apr. 1985) 
16 Current cost accounting Jan. 1980 

(non-mandatory from June 1985) 
17 Accounting for post balance sheet events Sept. 1980 
18 Accounting for contingencies Sept. 1980 
19 Accounting for investment properties July. 1981 
20 Foreign currency translation Apr. 1983 
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22 
23 

21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase 
contracts 
Accounting for goodwill 
Accounting for acquisitions and mergers 

Aug. 1984 
Jan. 1985 
Apr. 1985 

Despite suggestions from some quarters to the contrary, SSAPs carry no 
legal authority but if a company in publishing its accounts does not comply, 
the auditors of that company have a professional responsibility to comment 
upon this in their report on the accounts. In such circumstances the directors 
would normally incorporate an explanation into their Directors ' Report 
which accompanies these accounts. 

The U.K. is not the only country to publish accounting standards but is 
further down the road than most. However, for many years the U.S.A. has 
had its equivalent s tandard setting body: the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board or FASB. The EEC is moving slowly but meanwhile there 
is an at tempt to develop international accounting standards via the 
International Accounting Standards Board. It is ironic that we have moved 
relatively quickly from a free-for-all situation to one that some see as in 
danger of over-proliferation of s tandards. The path has not been easy; 
indeed some SSAPs took a very long time to progress from EDs, some 
SSAPs have been rethought and revised more than once, some EDs have 
never got off the starting line, whilst some SSAPs are not being followed 
by a minority for reasons best known to themselves. It seems that the 
accountant 's t ime-honoured prerogative to express opinions dies hard! 
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The Limited Company 

T H E form of organization considered in earlier chapters has been that of 
sole trader—one man managing his own business, using capital provided 
from his own savings or on trust from close friends or relations. His personal 
capital and livelihood are, legally, indistinguishable from those of his 
business—although clearly there should be an accounting distinction! 

Businesses grow and require more capital to finance this growth: friends 
are no longer willing or able to put up large amounts of capital on trust and, 
to safeguard his interests, he who does provide capital may look for a share 
in the management. A form of organization which provides this safeguard 
is a partnership, set up under the Partnership Act 1890, whereby two or 
more persons jointly share in the capital, profits or losses and management 
of the business. A partnership can become unwieldy when a large number 
of partners is taking an active part in management, even though the 
maximum number of partners is limited by law to twenty (except for 
accountants, solicitors and members of a recognized stock exchange). 
Furthermore, any partner can be called upon to meet all the partnership 
debts to the last penny of their private possessions,* irrespective of the 
amount of capital the partner has agreed to contribute, if the other partners 
default or otherwise fail to contribute their agreed capital: in other words, 
the liability of a partner is unlimited. 

A partnership therefore may be far from a happy association and, if 
business is to grow freely, there is need for a form of organization whereby 
many persons can contribute varying amounts of capital, without 
necessarily taking an active part in management and with the knowledge 
that their total liability will be limited to a predetermined amount . The 
Limited Liability Company was created to fill this need. 

* In actual fact, under the laws of bankruptcy, they would be allowed to retain their tools 
of trade and the necessary wearing apparel and bedding of themselves, spouse and children. 

40 



THE LIMITED COMPANY 41 

Legal Status 

A limited company is formed under the Companies Act 1985 or under an 
earlier Act. The 1985 Act consolidated the early Acts of 1948, 1967, 1976, 
1980 and 1981. 

At law, a limited company is an artificial person with its own legal rights 
and privileges quite distinct from those of the members who compose it. 
This is a vital distinction from the sole trader and partnership forms of 
organization considered above where there is no separate legal entity. It is 
this separation of legal rights which admits the principle of limited liability 
whereby a member (one legal person) contracts with the company (another 
legal person) to advance a certain limited amount of money as that 
member 's share of the capital required by that company. 

Memorandum and Articles of Association 

The full legal formalities of forming a limited company are beyond the 
scope of this book, but two documents which must be filed with the 
Registrar of Companies are important and are considered in some detail— 
the " M e m o r a n d u m " and "Articles". 

Because a limited company has a separate legal status there must be some 
document which evidences its existence (we have a birth certificate or 
passport), so when a limited company is formed a Memorandum of 
Association is prepared. This is a formal document containing the following 
five clauses or sections: 

1. The name of the company: "l imited" or "p . I . e . " (or the Welsh 
equivalent) must be the last word. 

2. The country in which the registered office is situate: this is the 
company's nationality—necessary to determine which law shall apply. 

3. The objects of the company: what was the company formed to do? 
This is a vital clause and must be drafted as widely as possible (it is not 
uncommon for this clause to run to several pages in length) because a limited 
company, by law, cannot perform any act not included in this Objects 
Clause. It is possible subsequently to alter a company 's objects, but this 
can be a troublesome legal process. 

4. A simple statement that the liability of members is limited. 
5. The maximum amount of share capital and its division into shares of 

various classes; these terms are discussed later. 
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Public and Private Companies 

There are three stages in transition from a partnership. Firstly a company 
may be formed to reap the benefits of limited liability but still continue in 
a small way with a few "family" members. Provided such a company has 
a minimum of two members and, by its Articles, prohibits the open 
invitation to the public to subscribe capital, it earns the title Limited 
Company or Ltd. i.e. a non public, or private company. A private company 
is exempt from certain of the formalities which would otherwise have to 
be complied with under the Companies Acts. 

The second stage is reached when a private company wishes to expand 
its number of members and offer shares or debentures to the public and 
so becomes a Public Limited Company or PLC. 

A further stage is reached when the company seeks an official quotat ion 
on a Stock Exchange and thence looks to the public at large to provide 
capital through the new issues machinery of the Stock Exchange. It is to 
protect this investing public that the Companies Acts contain many regula-
tions and provisions concerning disclosure of a company 's activities and 
financial position. These regulations as to disclosure get more severe as the 
size of the company gets bigger. 

A limited company is similar to a club in that it is composed of members; 
therefore it is necessary to have a set of club rules, governing the internal 
running of the club and the rights and obligations of its members. The 
Memorandum, in recognizing the existence and purpose of a limited 
company, regulates the company's relationship with the outside world; there 
must be, therefore, another document akin to the club rules and this is the 
Articles of Association. The Articles comprise a formal document, sister 
to the Memorandum, and may be drafted especially for the company, or 
alternatively a model set of articles (Table A) is embraced in the Companies 
Act 1985 which may be adopted instead. Examples of the points covered 
by Table A are: issue of shares to members and payment thereof, conduct 
of meetings, appointment and duties of directors, distribution of profit. 

The Memorandum and Articles of a limited company are among the 
documents which must be filed with the Registrar of Companies and which 
may be inspected by any member of the public on payment of a nominal 
search fee. 
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Share Capital 

Membership of a company is obtained by subscribing towards the share 
capital, i.e. taking a share in the capital of the company. A share may be 
purchased direct from the company upon an initial issue or, in the case of 
a public company, on the Stock Exchange from a member wishing to dispose 
of part or all of his holding. As a result of Stock Exchange dealings members 
of a public company are a constantly changing body, but this does not affect 
the company itself in view of its separate legal status. 

In considering share capital, certain terminology must be understood: 

1. Authorized share capital is the maximum amount of capital a company 
is authorized to issue by the fifth clause of its Memorandum. When a 
company is formed, s tamp duty is payable on this authorized amount and 
any subsequent increase similarly attracts additional s tamp duty. 

2. Allotted, or Issued share capital is that part of the authorized share 
capital which the company has actually issued to its members. 

3. Called up capital is that part of the allotted share capital which the 
members have been called upon to pay. If a company requires capital to 
flow in over a period of time as required, rather than all at once, it will make 
"calls" on the members of so much per share until the full amount of the 
shares has been called. 

4. Paid up capital is that part of the called up capital which has actually 
been paid in cash. Any difference between these two represents a call in 
arrear and if the member does not pay this amount within a reasonable time 
he is liable to have his shares forfeited under the terms of the articles of 
association. When the full value of the allotted capital has been called and 
paid up, it is said to be fully paid. 

Classes of Share 

A choice of investment prospects must be made available to suit the 
different tastes of the investing public: some require a guaranteed fixed 
income, others subordinate income to capital growth, some are willing to 
speculate both capital and income, whilst others look for security of capital 
at a consequently lower rate of income. Our Stock Exchange system 
provides a wide range of securities but individual companies also seek to 
attract different sections of the investing public by offering various classes 
of share, the two most common being preference and ordinary shares. 
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Preference Shares 

The rights of these shares are set out in the Articles but normally they 
carry a fixed rate of dividend which has preference over the dividend on 
any other class of share when profits are being distributed to members. 
Payment of this fixed amount must be all or nothing at all and, if in any 
year there is insufficient profit to meet the full amount , the right to a 
dividend in that year is lost. However, with cumulative preference shares, 
any unpaid amounts may be carried forward without time limit and still 
have priority for payment out of future profits. A further attribute of a 
preference share is its preference over other classes of share for repayment 
of capital if the company is wound up (i.e. its existence terminated). 

Normally, winding up is the only occasion when capital is returned to 
members, but a further type of preference share is a redeemable preference 
share which will be redeemed by the company: that is repayment will be 
made to members, within a stipulated time. 

Yet another type of preference share is a participating preference share, 
which carries the right to a further share in profits in addition to their fixed 
dividend after ordinary shareholders have been paid a certain percentage 
dividend. 

The full title of a preference share will indicate which type it is: a "6 per 
cent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Share 2000-5", for example, is a 
preference share which carries the right to a fixed annual dividend of 6 per 
cent of the nominal value of the share and, should there be insufficient profit 
in any year to meet this dividend, the right accumulates until paid in full; 
the share will be repaid sometime between 1st January 2000 and 31st 
December 2005. 

Ordinary Shares 

Alternatively known as equity shares, these shares carry no preferential 
rights but are entitled to the whole of the profits (but not necessarily as a 
dividend) and capital of the company after prior claims of preference 
shareholders have been met. The bulk of capital issued by most limited 
companies is of this type. Success or failure of an equity share depends upon 
the success or failure of the company itself: when profits are high, ordinary 
dividends will be high; when the value of capital employed in the business 
increases, the value of the ordinary share will increase—and of course vice 
versa. 
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The Companies Act 1981 permitted a company for the first time to buy 
back, or redeem, ordinary shares subject to compliance with certain 
formalities. Prior to that Act, such action was illegal. 

Deferred or founder's shares are a type of ordinary share carrying the 
right to a dividend only after a certain percentage has been paid on ordinary 
shares. These shares are usually issued to vendors of a business in part 
settlement of purchase consideration. During negotiations for purchase of 
a business, the vendor will no doubt paint a glowing picture of future profit 
potential to support his asking price and his acceptance of a deferred share 
will add weight to his claims and serve as an earnest. 

"A "and "B"shares are sometimes met in practice, indicating that there 
is some difference in the rights of the " A " and " B " shareholder, usually 
in the right to vote at general meetings of the company. 

Debentures 

A company may raise capital by means of a loan in addition to the issue 
of shares. A debenture is a document which acknowledges such a loan and 
stipulates the terms for repayment, the interest payable and the assets, if 
any, upon which the loan is secured. There are different types of debentures: 
a fixed debenture or mortgage debenture is secured upon a stipulated asset 
similar to a mortgage secured upon one 's house; a floating debenture 
confers a general charge not attached to any specific asset; unsecured loan 
notes are an unsecured debenture issued by large well-known companies 
which carry the public's confidence to the point where no security need be 
offered for a loan. 

Shares and debentures are both dealt in on the Stock Exchange and are 
often referred to as if they were the same thing. There is an important 
distinction between the two and the fundamental differences are 
summarized below: 
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Share Debenture 

1 A share is part of the capital A debenture is a loan 

2 A shareholder is a member or part A debenture holder is a creditor 
owner of the company of the company 

3 There is no security of capital A debenture may be secured 
4 A shareholder is remunerated by A debenture holder is paid interest 

dividend which is a share of which must be met whether there 
profits. If there are no profits are profits or not 
there can be no dividend 

5 A preference share has priority A debenture has priority over 
over an ordinary share both as both preference and ordinary 
to dividend and capital shares both as to interest and 

repayment of capital 

Board of Directors 

Comparison was drawn earlier in this chapter between a limited company 
and a club, and this comparison can be repeated when considering the 
management structure: both forms of organization are run by a committee 
of members, some of whom may be salaried. In the case of a limited 
company this committee is known as the board of directors. Directors are 
elected by members in general meeting and the Articles normally provide 
for one-third of the board to retire annually by rotation, although retiring 
directors may stand for re-election. The board will elect one of their number 
to act as their chairman (who will thereby also be chairman of the company) 
and another, to take responsibility for day-to-day management of the 
company, who will be called the managing director. 

Primarily, therefore, control of a company is exercised by the managing 
director, but he is responsible to the board, which is in turn responsible to 
the members. Ultimate control of a limited company is thus in the hands 
of members who have power, by their vote in general meeting, to remove 
the board or the managing director if they are dissatisfied with the board 's 
conduct of the company's affairs. An important guide to the effectiveness 
of the board's conduct of the company's affairs is provided for the members 
in the annual published profit and loss account and balance sheet. These 
will be discussed in the next two chapters. 
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Annual Accounts of a Limited 
Company 

I N C H A P T E R 3 we saw how a profit and loss account and balance sheet 
(collectively termed "annual accounts") are produced for a sole trader. 
Annual accounts of a limited company are prepared in exactly the same way 
up to the point where the net profit is ascertained. Attention was drawn 
in Chapter 3 to the fact that , because net profit belongs to the owner, it is 
added to his capital in the balance sheet. Whilst this is also true of a limited 
company, there are slight variations in principle due to there now being 
many joint owners (i.e. shareholders), each of whom looks for a share of 
profits (i.e. dividend) to remunerate their capital invested. These necessary 
variations in principle thus concern the treatment of profit and capital. 

Treatment of Profit 

Page 20 gave an example, in vertical form, of the profit and loss account 
for a sole trader. The format for a limited company is essentially similar 
but has a further section at the foot which shows how the net profit has been 
dealt with, or appropriated: hence this section is often referred to as the 
appropriation section (cf the trading section and profit and loss section 
referred to on page 19). 

The following appropriat ions would normally be made: 

interest payable on borrowed money, 

corporation tax payable on taxable profits, 

dividend payable to shareholders, 

and the balance of profit which is unappropriated will be added to the 
shareholders ' capital in the balance sheet just as the net profit was added 
to the sole t rader 's capital on page 25. 
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The Profit Family 

To differentiate one member of a family from another, each one is given 
his or her own personal first name, e.g. Dorothy Hartley, Colin Hartley. 
Hartley is the family name; Dorothy and Colin are two specific members 
of the Hartley family. Similarly Profit is a family name and specific 
members of that family must be given their own personal first name. 

Up until now we have considered only two members of the Profit family: 
Gross Profit and Net Profit. When reporting the profit of a limited company 
the family grows but the name Net Profit is not normally used because there 
could be some confusion as to exactly what it might be "ne t " of: net of 
interest? net of tax? net of dividend? or what? So the following six, more 
specifically named, members of the Profit family are frequently met in the 
profit and loss account of a limited company: 

Sales 
deduct cost of goods sold 

1 = GROSS PROFIT 
deduct other operating costs 

2 = OPERATING PROFIT (sometimes called TRADING PROFIT) 
deduct interest payable on borrowed money plus 
any non-operating income (e.g. interest received) 

3 = PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 
deduct corporation tax payable on taxable profits 

4 = PROFIT AFTER TAXATION (this is the profit which is now attributable 
to all shareholders) 
deduct profit, if any, attributable to other than ordinary shareholders, e.g. 

i. dividend payable to preference shareholders 
ii. profit attributable to minority interests in 
subsidiaries (this will be explained later, on page 86) 

5 = PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS (Often 
abbreviated to Profit Attributable) 
deduct dividend payable to ordinary shareholders 

6 = PROFIT RETAINED (sometimes called TRANSFER TO RESERVES) 

Hence the profit and loss account of a limited company might look like the 
example at the top of page 49. Please compare this to the sole trader 's profit 
and loss account on page 20. 

Treatment of Capital 

Capital appears at the top left-hand corner of a traditional two-sided 
balance sheet or in the "financed by" part of a vertical balance sheet for 
a limited company just as it does for a sole trader. However, replacing the 
sole trader 's simple statement is a detailed statement of the authorized and 
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X Co. Ltd. 

Profit and Loss Account 

for the year ended 31st December 19 

£ 

Sales 150,000 

Cost of goods sold (detail as page 20) 80,000 

Gross Profit 70,000 
Other expenses (detail as page 20) 26,000 

Operating Profit 44,000 
Interest 10,000 

Profit Before Taxation 34,000 
Corporation tax 12,000 

Profit After Taxation 22,000 
Attributable to minority interests 
in subsidiaries 4,000 

Profit Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders 18,000 
Dividends 8,000 

Profit Retained, transferred to reserves £ 10,000 

allotted capital and its division into shares. To this capital is now added 
the profit retained for the year. The following extract from the X Co. Ltd. 
balance sheet as at 31st December 19 demonstrates the method: 

Capital and Reserves £ 

Authorized share capital 
20,000 6% cumulative preference shares 20,000 
80,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 80,000 

£100,000 

Allotted share capital 
5,805 6% cumulative preference shares 5,805 

79,811 ordinary shares of £1 each, fully paid 79,811 

Profit and loss account 
Balance at end of previous year 15,000 
Add profit retained this year 

(transferred from profit and loss account) 10,000 

85,616 

25,000 

Equity interest 110,616 

A I B A M-E 
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Note that the amount which appears in the balance sheet for profit and loss 
account each year will be the cumulative balance to date. This figure is 
sometimes called Reserves. 

Reserves 

This is perhaps the most misleading word in the accounting language. 
In the English language the word conjures up an image of pots of money 
stashed away somewhere for a "rainy day" ; this is not the case in the 
accounting language. 

Reserves simply means the accumulation of profits retained and 
reinvested in the business over the years: hence the expression transferred 
to reserves. It is most unlikely that the reserves will be represented by a pot 
of money; the reserves are far more likely to have been invested in fixed 
assets or stock or anywhere in the net assets of the company (see a similar 
comment at note 5 on page 25). 

Remember that reserves infers where the money has come from (i.e. 
profits retained), not where the money has gone to . 

In practice the reserves in a limited company balance sheet are built up 
not only from retained profits transferred from the profit and loss account 
as in the above example but also from other "prof i ts" , for example: 

—a company may revalue its properties to reflect more up-to-date market 
values: the "profi t" on revaluation would be transferred to reserves and 
would no doubt be referred to as a revaluation reserve. 

—a company may sell additional shares at a price in excess of that share's 
par (or face) value if the current market value is in excess of par value: 
the "profit" on sale of shares would be transferred to reserves and would 
be referred to as a share premium account. 

If there is inadequate profit after taxation to justify a dividend in any year 
but the directors nevertheless feel justified in paying one, it is possible to 
transfer profit back to the profit and loss account from reserves for this 
purpose. The Companies Acts lay down strict restrictions as to which 
reserves can and cannot be used in this way to justify the distribution of 
a dividend. Hence some companies segregate their reserves into distributable 
and non distributable reserves (see, for example, the balance sheet of John 
Waddington P L C on page 199). 
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Bonus Shares (Capitalization Issue) 

As years go by and successive transfers to reserves are made, the 
accumulated amount of reserves obviously can become quite large in 
relation to the allotted capital. It is at this stage that a limited company may 
decide to utilize some of those reserves in "payment" for a "free" issue of 
shares to existing shareholders. Such an issue is called a bonus issue, or scrip 
issue, or capitalization issue—this latter expression recognizes that the 
reserves are being capitalized by the issue: i.e. an amount is transferred from 
reserves to capital as demonstrated below. 

Suppose a company decides to make a one for two bonus issue of shares 
to existing shareholders: this means that for every two shares held, share-
holders will be given one more "free". The impact on the capital and reserves 
section of the balance sheet would be as follows: 

Before the After the 
bonus issue bonus issue 

Capital and Reserves £ £ 
Allotted share capital 

ordinary shares of £1 each 100 150 
Reserves 200 150 

Total equity interest 300 300 

Note that the total equity interest (i.e. interest of ordinary shareholders) 
in the company remains unchanged at £300 despite the bonus issue. All that 
has happened is that the disposition of the equity interest between capital 
and reserves has been changed. Of course the shareholder now has three 
shares for every two previously held but the odds are that the value of each 
will fall because no real value has been created for the shareholder by the 
bonus issue. Whereas the shareholder previously held two shares with a 
market value of say £3 each (i.e. £6 value in total), he now holds three shares 
whose market value is now perhaps £2 each (i.e. still £6 value in total). 

The tangible benefits to the shareholder from a bonus issue are: 

—/ / the future dividend is maintained at the same amount per share, he 
will of course receive a higher total dividend. 

—the fall in market value often stimulates market interest which might 
cause the market value of his shares to rise. 

—having now more shares, it might be easier for the shareholder to 
dispose of a part of his holding if he wished to do so. 
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Rights Issue 

Do not confuse a bonus issue with a rights issue of shares. In a rights issue 
money does actually change hands and value is added to the company. A 
one for two rights issue implies that the shareholder is thereby given the 
right, if he wishes, to buy one new share for every two that he currently 
holds. 

It is unlikely that the new shares would be issued at par (i.e. their face 
value); they would no doubt be issued at a price slightly lower than their 
current market price to give the shareholders some inducement to buy. 

Suppose a company decides to make a one for two rights issue of £1 shares 
at £1.50 (say the market price is currently £1.60). The impact on the capital 
and reserves section of the balance sheet would be as follows: 

Before the After the 
rights issue rights issue 

Capital and Reserves £ £ 

Allotted share capital 
ordinary shares of £1 each 100 150 

Reserves 200 225 

Total equity interest 300 375 

Note that the allotted share capital is always shown at par value and that 
the 50p per share "profit on sale" (or share premium) is added to reserves. 

Dividends 

The simple statement "dividends" in X Co. Ltd. ' s profit and loss account 
on page 49 is expanded in practice to show whether the dividend is interim 
or final, paid or proposed and to which class of share it applies. 

Payment of dividends is governed by the Articles of Association. These 
usually provide that the directors may make an interim payment during the 
year, if justified by profits, but that they may only propose the final payment 
after considering an appropriate transfer to reserves. Shareholders at the 
annual general meeting actually declare the final dividend; however, because 
they cannot increase the amount proposed by the directors, this is a 
formality only. Because final dividends are only proposals they are unpaid 
at the date of the balance sheet and consequently appear amongst current 
liabilities when the balance sheet is prepared. The annual accounts of 
Typical Products Ltd. which will be discussed shortly, demonstrate these 
principles. 
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Dividends which appear in the profit and loss account are deemed to be 
paid to shareholders net of income tax similarly to the manner in which an 
employer pays wages and salaries to his employees net of income tax. The 
amount of income tax thereby deemed to be deducted must be handed over 
to the Inland Revenue on a quarterly settlement. If an individual shareholder 
is not liable to income tax he may of course claim a refund of this " tax 
credit" from the Inland Revenue. The amount handed over is deemed to 
be an advance payment of the corporation tax due on the profits from which 
the dividend has been declared and thus is called Advance Corporation Tax 
or A C T . 

Taxation 

Part of the profit before taxation of a limited company will be swallowed 
up in taxation (predominantly Corporation Tax) and deducted in the profit 
and loss account as demonstrated for the X Co . Ltd. on page 49. Chapter 
18 will deal with the principles of taxation but one aspect of the subject 
which affects company accounts must be highlighted here. 

As stated above, A C T is payable quarterly. However, the balance of 
Corporation Tax might not become payable until, at the worst, nine months 
after the end of the financial year during which the taxable profits were 
earned; or, at the best, several years later! It is thus possible to have two 
amounts owing for Corporat ion Tax at the end of any financial year: the 
one which will become payable within one year of the balance sheet date 
is included amongst current liabilities but the one which might become 
payable beyond one year from the balance sheet date is shown separately 
and termed deferred taxation. The specimen accounts which we shall 
consider shortly demonstrate this situation. 

Format of Annual Accounts 

The Companies Act 1985 lays down the format which must be followed 
when a limited company prepares its annual accounts. Appendix A 
summarizes the provisions of the Act. 

Appendix C reproduces the annual accounts of John Waddington P L C 
simply as a demonstration of current practice. The reader is also encouraged 
to obtain a copy of the latest published annual accounts of his own company 
and try to understand the expressions and format used therein. 

However, Appendix Β reproduces the annual accounts of Typical 
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Products Ltd. which are a simple demonstration of the principles discussed 
in this and earlier chapters. The meaning of most of the expressions and 
format used should now be understood but some new items have been 
introduced. So let us work through the profit and loss account and balance 
sheet of Typical Products Ltd. line by line, making brief comments where 
appropriate and making reference to earlier parts of this book which may 
be re-read if the meaning of a particular expression is not apparent . 

Profit and Loss Account (page 192) 

The general format should be reasonably understandable (ref. pp. 48-49), 
but the following additional comments are relevant: 
the words on ordinary activities appear twice—this is to indicate that these 
items arise from normal repeating business which clearly does not apply 
to the extraordinary items which appear further down. 

Attributable to minority interests in subsidiaries will be explained later 
(ref. pp . 84-86). 

Earnings per share is yet another member of the profit family and is 
simply the profit attributable to Typical Products ' shareholders divided by 
the number of shares: i.e. it is the profit (or earnings) attributable to one 
share. 

Statement of movement on reserves simply shows what additional 
amounts were transferred to reserves this year. Notice that profit retained 
is only one of these amounts (ref. pp . 49-50). 

Balance Sheet (page 193) 

The vertical presentation has been adopted (ref. pp . 25). The following 
comments are relevant: 

Tangible assets are what we have called fixed assets in earlier parts of this 
book (ref. pp . 23). Remember that they are shown at cost (or perhaps 
revaluation in the case of properties) less cumulative depreciation to date; 
not at current values (ref. pp . 31-33). 

Current assets are those assets which are intended to be converted into 
cash in the normal course of business (ref. p p . 23 and 33). 

Creditors—amounts falling due within one year is a fuller expression than 
current liabilities which we have used earlier (ref. pp . 23). 

Taxation payable is the amount which will become payable within one 
year of the balance sheet date whereas Deferred taxation, (under provision 
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for liabilities and charges) is the amount which might become payable 
beyond one year of the balance sheet date (ref. pp . 53). 

Dividend payable is the proposed final dividend which cannot be paid 
until approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting (ref. pp . 
52). 

12% Debenture 2025/2030 is borrowed money, no doubt secured on the 
assets of the company, which carries an obligation to pay interest at 12% 
p.a . and to be repaid between the years 2025 and 2030 (ref. pp . 45). 

Capital and reserves, or Equity interest, gives the type of detail described 
earlier in this chapter (ref. pp . 49-50). 

Minority interests in subsidiaries will be explained later (ref. pp . 84-86). 

So much for the expressions used in the annual accounts of Typical 
Products Ltd. But how do we set about reading these accounts and what 
do they tell us of the company's performance? We shall try to answer these 
questions in Chapter 11 but a few further matters must first be explored. 
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Value Added 

U P T O now we have concentrated our attention on profit and the profit and 
loss account as the means of measuring the effectiveness of business effort. 
We turn our attention briefly now to another pair of contenders for that 
particular crown: value added and the value added statement. What is value 
added and what is its role in appraising business performance? 

What is Value Added? 

Put in its simplest terms, value added is the difference between what we 
have to pay for the raw materials, supplies and services obtained from 
outside the firm and the amount we get from our customers for the goods 
we produce and the services we provide. Value added therefore represents 
that value we have added to bought-in supplies and services through the 
application of our own labour and our own equipment. Indeed it is perhaps 
the purest measure of wealth creation which can be devised. 

Having created wealth, the next step is to consume or distribute it and 
in any business there are four interested parties when it comes to such 
distribution: 

1 employees: whose share represents wages or salaries plus other related 
and fringe benefits; 

2 the government: whose share represents taxation of all types, direct 
and indirect; 

3 the providers of capital: whose share represents dividends or interest 
payments, plus perhaps an element of rent or hire charges; 

4 the business itself: whose share represents retained profits and 
depreciation and which, like seed corn, is the vital bit representing 
unconsumed wealth which must be put back to ensure continued 
existence or growth in the future. 
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Significance for National Economy 

If the value added of all businesses is added together, the answer is close 
to the Gross National Product ; value added is wealth creation at a micro 
level, Gross National Product is wealth creation at a macro level. Indeed 
the first recorded use of value added was in 1790 when Mr Trenche Cox 
used it in the first U .S . Census of Product ion in order to avoid the double 
counting which would have occurred with any other measure of output (e.g. 
sales). 

Successive governments tell us that if our country is to prosper we must 
maintain a high and productive level of Gross National Product : it seems 
strange, therefore, that the source of Gross National Product , i.e. value 
added, should have had such little emphasis in business accounting and 
financial reporting until relatively recently. 

Significance for Productivity Measurement 

If value added is (as was suggested above) the purest measure of wealth 
creation, then it must also be a prime candidate for effective productivity 
measurement. Productivity implies a comparison of outputs to i n p u t s -
value added is the output so what is the input? Input can variously be 
considered as people or as capital or as materials and services—whatever 
is regarded as the most valuable, or scarce, resource. In this context the 
following measures of productivity are commonly used: 

1 value added per employee, 

2 value added per £ of wages, 

3 value added per £ of net operating assets, 

4 value added per £ of materials/services input. 

The matter of the most efficient utilization of a scarce resource, or limiting 
factor, is to be taken further in a later chapter but at present suffice to say 
that value added based productivity measures provide a most useful means 
of both inter-industry and international comparisons. And of course the 
comparisons can usefully be taken further by next comparing not only the 
creation of wealth but also its proport ionate distribution between the four 
interested parties referred to above. Some very interesting (and often 
disquieting) comparisons have been published concerning the creation, 
distribution and retention of wealth by different companies and by different 
countries. 
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Significance in Financial Reporting 

Value added is clearly a most meaningful element in financial reporting 
and in financial analysis although in fact it has come into popular use 
relatively recently, particularly when reporting to employees. 

The most powerful potential application is in the publication of a Value 
Added Statement as an alternative to the Profit and Loss Account. The first 
U.K. company to take this step was Colt International Ltd. in 1974; many 
other companies produce a value-added statement in addition to the profit 
and loss account. A typical profit and loss account is reproduced to the left 
of page 59 whilst the equivalent value added statement appears to the right. 

Use Within Incentive Schemes 

In view of the comments made about value added as a basis for 
productivity measurement, it is not surprising that some firms employ value 
added based incentive schemes. The principle behind such schemes is that 
employees will earn more if they create more value added—because they 
receive a guaranteed percentage share of any such wealth created. The other 
three interested parties naturally will also benefit from a larger cake. 

Typically such a scheme establishes a guaranteed percentage share of 
value added as a basis for employee remuneration. Periodically the 
percentage thus earned is calculated and compared to the basic remuneration 
already paid: any surplus is then available for bonus payment but typically 
only part will be paid, a smaller part (say 20%) being carried forward in 
reserve against future fluctuations—value added might go down as well 
as up! 

Those who have employed value added within an incentive scheme claim 
that it tends to focus the mind of participants more on the creation of wealth 
than on its consumption: that it engenders a more responsible attitude in 
employees; that it is genuinely payment on delivery of productivity rather 
than payment on promise of productivity. 
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PROFIT A N D LOSS A C C O U N T 

£ 

Sales 1000 

Production costs: 
Materials and services 300 
Direct labour 240 
Depreciation 50 

Gross Profit 410 

Admin and sales costs: 

Materials and services 100 
Salaries 120 
Depreciation 10 

Operating Profit 180 

Interest 20 

Profit before Taxation 160 

Corporation Tax 50 

Profit after Taxation 110 

Dividend 55 

Profit Retained £ 55 

VALUE A D D E D STATEMENT 

£ 

Sales 1000 

Materials and bought out services 400 

Value Added £ 600 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 360 

Government 50 

Providers of capital 75 

Retained in the firm 115 

Total value added as above £ 600 

Note that the numbers are the same; only the manner of presentation is 
different: 

1. materials and bought out services in the value added statement of £400 
is made up of £300 production materials and £100 admin etc. materials and 
services from the profit and loss account. 

2. distribution to employees in the value added statement of £360 is made 
up of £240 direct labour and £120 salaries from the profit and loss account. 

3. distribution to providers of capital in the value added statement of £75 
is made up of £20 interest plus £55 dividend. 

4. value added retained in the firm of £115 is made up of the two items 
of depreciation (£50 - I - £10) plus profit retained £55. 

The arguments in favour of a value added statement revolve around 
putting profit and wealth creation in perspective. For example: 

1. On many occasions, value added is a more meaningful basis than sales 
for reporting the value of output . For example: in the year following that 
reported above, assume production material costs increase by £100, that 
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this is passed directly on to the customers as increased selling price, but all 
other items remain the same. Sales would show an increase of 10 percent 
to £1100 and operating profit °/o sales would show a decline from £180 as 
percent of £1000 to £180 as percent of £1100. Surely such financial 
comparisons are misleading because everything that is controllable within 
the firm has remained unchanged. If the value added approach is used the 
value added will still be £600 the following year (i.e. £1100 sales minus £500 
materials and bought out services) and its distribution will be unchanged. 

2. The distribution of dividend to shareholders is a most emotional 
matter—in the example above it amounts to 50 percent of the profit after 
taxation. To employees this might appear excessive, yet it is a most mis-
leading statistic because it is calculated as a percent of the last remaining 
piece of wealth after all others have had their share. By comparison it 
appears as approximately 9 percent of value added, compared to the 
employees' 60 percent in the value added statement presentation. 

3. The true creation of wealth and its relative disposition between the four 
interested parties can be seen quite clearly in the value added statement. The 
profit and loss account does not highlight these critical subtotals. 

Practical Problems 

The purpose of this chapter was to give a general overview of, rather than 
a detailed examination of, the concept and potential use of valued added. 
There are practical difficulties and in particular there are considerable areas 
for clarification: for example, should employees' PAYE and other statutory 
deductions be included in the employees' share or the government's share?; 
is local rates a bought-out service or part of the government 's share?; are 
rents and lease payments a bought-out service or part of the share of the 
providers of capital? These and other matters would seem to indicate the 
need for guidance and agreement, perhaps via a statement of standard 
accounting practice, if value added comparisons are to become really 
meaningful. 
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Profit vs. Cash Flow 

A FIRM goes bankrupt when it cannot meet its debts as they fall due for 
payment, i.e. bankruptcy is to do with a shortage of cash. However, a 
shortage of cash is not necessarily related to a shortage of profits; in fact 
profitable firms have been known to go bankrupt whilst firms making losses 
have been known to have a considerable cash surplus. This chapter explains 
the reasons for this apparent anomaly and explores the reasons why profit 
and cash flow can and do differ. These reasons give rise to the need for yet 
another financial document: the Statement of Source and Application of 
Funds. 

Profit is an Opinion . . . 

The very first page of this book drew attention to the dual financial motive 
for a firm: 

1. the need to make a profit in the long term, 
2. the need to stay solvent in the short term. 

Chapters 3 and 4 then examined in some detail what profit is and made the 
point that it is not a real thing but a relatively complex concept based on 
the application of accepted accounting rules called concepts and conven-
tions. Furthermore, Chapter 4 pointed out that there is considerable scope 
for opinion in the application of these rules. 

. . . But Cash Flow is a Fact 

On the other hand, cash flow is neither complex nor a concept: it is a 
simple fact which reflects actual cash coming in and cash going out just as 
it happens without any accounting adjustments at all. 

It should therefore be apparent that it would be somewhat of a 
coincidence if profit and cash flow were identical in amount in any one 
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accounting period. However, over the long-term, cumulative profit and 
cumulative cash flow will come closer and indeed over the whole life of a 
firm they will be identical in amount because the difference between the two 
arises from the application of accounting concepts and the passage of time. 

Profit vs. Cash 

The main areas where profit and cash flow will diverge can be summarized 
as follows: 

1. Capital expenditure 

Capital expenditure is a cash flow as and when it is paid but is charged 
against profit subsequently over its estimated useful working life in the form 
of depreciation. 

It therefore follows that if capital expenditure exceeds depreciation in 
any accounting period, cash flow will be lower than profit by the amount 
of this excess . . . and of course vice versa where capital expenditure is lower 
than depreciation. 

2. Movements in stock and work in progress 

Additions to stock and work in progress are a cash flow as and when they 
are paid for but are charged in arriving at profit subsequently only as they 
are sold. 

It therefore follows that if unsold stock and work in progress increase 
during an accounting period, cash flow will be lower than profit by the 
amount of this increase . . . and of course vice versa where there is a 
reduction in stock and work in progress. 

3. Credit Trading 

Once more the accounting concept of relevance causes the disparity 
between profit and cash flow. Income and expenditure go into the compu-
tation of profit at the invoice stage but are cash flows only subsequently 
as and when they are settled in cash. 

It therefore follows that if debtors increase during an accounting period, 
cash flow will be lower than profit by the amount of this increase whereas 
if creditors increase, cash flow will be higher than profit by the amount of 
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this increase . . . and of course vice versa where there is either a decrease 
in debtors or in creditors. 

4. Movement in Finance 

Additional finance coming into the firm or repayments of borrowing by 
the firm are clearly cash flows but of themselves have no impact on profit 
because they affect only the balance sheet. 

It is the interaction between these four areas which is at the heart of the 
difference between profit and cash flow. One of the unfortunate facts of 
business life is that the first three of these areas all tend to work in the same 
direction once triggered off. For example, whilst a firm is expanding: 

1. capital expenditure will almost certainly exceed depreciation, 

2. and stock and work in progress will increase, 

3. and debtors and creditors will increase, 

and therefore profitable expansion could well be accompanied by an acutely 
negative cash flow unless creditors exceed debtors by a considerable amount 
(as they do in a cash-and-carry operation). This manifestation is known as 
"over t rading", i.e. expansion without due consideration for the negative 
cash flow and the consequential additional capital thereby required. 
Overtrading is a frequent cause of bankruptcy and kills many a promising 
young enterprise. 

The impact of inflation on cash flow is identical to that of expansion: 
i.e. (with the exclusion of cash and carry operations) an acutely negative 
cash flow and consequential additional capital requirements. We shall return 
to this problem in the next chapter. 

Cash Flow from Operations 

In Chapter 6 we introduced the term operating profit—this is the profit 
earned from normal business operations or trading activities. We will now 
consider the cash flow generated from those same activities. 

Let us begin with an oversimplified profit and loss account of a firm with 
only cash business, i.e. no credit trading: 
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Cash sales 
Deduct: cash expenses* 

depreciation 

£ 
900 
600 
200 

Operating profit £ 100 

* Includes materials, labour, rates, heating, etc. 

Note that depreciation is not an actual cash expense but is an accounting 
adjustment. It therefore follows that, although operating profit is £100, cash 
flow from operations is £300 (i.e. £900-£600). 

Alternatively accountants arrive at this figure of £300 by adding together 
operating profit and depreciation (i. e. £100 + £200 in our example above): 
this is logical because depreciation is a non-cash item and therefore must 
be added back to operating profit to reveal the net effect of the genuine cash 
items excluding depreciation. 

Cash flow from operations therefore starts its life as operating profit plus 
depreciation. (Depreciation is the normal non-cash charge made against 
operating profit; if there are any other peculiar non-cash charges then these 
also would be added back to operating profit in arriving at cash flow from 
operations.) 

However, although depreciation is not a cash payment, capital 
expenditure certainly is. If, in addition to the cash expenses of £600 in the 
above example, there had also been capital expenditure of £250 then cash 
flow from operations would have come down to only £50 from its starting 
point of £300 (see area 1 on page 62). And what if £40 more stock had been 
bought in cash than had been used and charged in arriving at operating 
p ro f i t . . . cash flow from operations would now come down to £10 although 
operating profit would still be £100 (see area 2 on page 62). Furthermore 
if part of those sales of £900 represent uncollected credit sales and part of 
those expenses of £600 represent unpaid credit purchases then the actual 
cash flow from operations will end up a very different number indeed (see 
area 3 on page 62). 

So our terminology needs refining. Operating profit plus depreciation 
is best defined as Potential Cash Flow From Operations (i.e. the cash flow 
which would have been generated from operations had there been no capital 
expenditure, stock movement or credit trading). Actual Cash Flow From 
Operations will then be measured as follows: 
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Operating profit 
plus depreciation 

equals Potential Cash Flow from Operations 

Minus capital expenditure 
plus proceeds of sales of fixed assets 

plus or minus movements in working capital as follows: 
minus increase in stocks and work in progress 
or plus decrease in stocks and work in progress 

minus increase in debtors 
or plus decrease in debtors 

plus increase in creditors 
or minus decrease in creditors 

equals Actual Cash Flow from Operations 

Non-Operating Cash Flows 

In addition to cash flow from operations, the following further, non-
operating cash flows may occur: 

Inflows of Cash 

1. New sources of finance—either from sale of shares or from borrowing. 
2. Any other non-operating income—e.g. dividends or interest received. 

Outflows of Cash 

1. Contractual financial obligations—e.g.: 
interest paid on borrowing 
repayment of borrowing 
payments due under finance leases or hire purchase 

2. Appropriat ions of profit— 
taxation payment 
dividend payment 

Statement of Source and Application of Funds 

We have now established that profit and cash flow can be very different 

AIBAM-P 
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in amount and so it is obvious that , in measuring business performance, 
we cannot look only at profit and how it has arisen; we must also look at 
cash flow and how it has arisen. So, in addition to the profit and loss account 
(or its variant the value added statement), we need another document which 
summarizes the cash flow position and identifies its various elements as 
described above. Such a document is called a Cash Flow Statement, or 
Funds Flow Statement although its official title is Statement of Source and 
Application of Funds. (There is a fine academic distinction between "cash" 
and "funds" which this author chooses to ignore.) 

One example of a cash flow statement appears on page 194 for Typical 
Products Ltd; this statement should now be understandable. Note that 
although Typical Products Ltd. has made a profit, it has had a considerably 
negative cash flow this year causing its net borrowings to increase 
dramatically. 

A slightly different format appears on page 200 for John Waddington 
P L C . Unfortunately in practice there are several different ways of setting 
out this Statement because the history of the Statement of Source and 
Application of Funds is relatively short in the U.K. The profit and loss 
account was first developed in 1494 (see page 11); the statement of source 
and application of funds came in in 1976 with SSAP 10 (see page 38). At 
the time of writing there is still no legal requirement to produce anything 
but a Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet. 

Our review of the major summarizing accounting documents is now 
complete; there are four in all, each interrelated: 

1. the static document called a Balance Sheet, 
supported by three link documents which explain changes which have taken 
place between two balance sheet dates; two of them explain movements in 
profits or "reserves": 

2. the Profit and Loss Account, 

3. the Value Added Statement, 

whilst the other explains movement in cash or working capital: 

4. the Statement of Source and Application of Funds. 
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Impact of Inflation on Accounting 
Information 

A C C O U N T I N G is concerned with recording and measuring business 
performance and uses money as its measuring device. But money is not 
stable: its value fluctuates due to the impact of inflation. What does this 
imply for accounting information? In this chapter we seek both to answer 
this question and briefly to review the history and current state of accounting 
attitudes and practice. The chapter in no way attempts to be an economics 
treatise on the causes and cure of inflation. 

Impact of Inflation on Profit 

If I begin an accounting period with an item in stock which cost £10 and 
during that period I sell it for £16 cash, it is obvious that I have made £6 
operating profit. If I have to pay half the profit in tax and decide to pay 
the other half in dividend (i.e. £3 each) I will now be left with £10 in cash 
with which I can replenish my stock and so stay in business for the next 
accounting period. 

The process can be summarized as follows: 

Profit Cash 
position position 

£ £ 
Sales 16 + 16 
Less cost of stock consumed 10 

Operating profit 6 
Less tax 3 - 3 

dividend 3 - 3 

Profit retained Nil 

Cash in hand for stock replacement £10 
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Profit Cash 
position position 

£ £ 

Sales 16 + 16 
Less replacement value of 

stock consumed 12 

Current cost operating profit 4 
Less tax 2 - 2 

dividend 2 - 2 

Profit retained Nil 

Cash in hand for stock replacement £12 

This is a grossly over-simplified example, of course, but is reasonably 
representative of the situation which exists for any firm which charges, in 
arriving at profit, for the consumption of assets which subsequently have 
to be replaced. The prime examples are stock replacement and fixed asset 
replacement (similarly to the above example: a depreciation charge based 

. . . and of course this can go on repeating itself year after year ad infinitum 

. . . or until inflation strikes! 

Now suppose that at the time of sale the replacement value of the stock, 
which still originally cost £10, is now £12 and I still sell for £16: how much 
operating profit have I made? There are in fact two possible answers to this 
deceptively simple question: 

1. £6 as before, i.e. the difference between selling price and original cost 
of stock sold. This is the answer that would be given by historical cost 
accounting. 

2. £4; i.e. the difference between selling price and replacement value, 
at the date of sale, of the stock sold. This is the answer that would 
be given by current cost accounting. 

The problem with historical cost accounting is that if tax and dividend 
are based on an operating profit of £6, we have seen above that this leaves 
cash in hand of £10—and if stock replacement now costs £121 will either 
have to reduce my level of activity to something which costs only £10 or 
else I shall have to borrow £2—not to expand but just to stand still. On the 
other hand, if tax and dividend are based on a current cost operating profit 
of £4 I can still afford to carry on my business and remain self-financing 
as follows: 
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on the original cost of fixed assets will provide an inadequate basis for 
ultimate replacement and will over-state profits in the meantime). The 
longer the time delay between replacement dates, the more marked is the 
over-statement of profits if inflation continues; heavy engineering, for 
example, is particularly vulnerable here. 

Impact of Inflation on Cash Flow 

Profit is only a concept (albeit an important one) and therefore it can 
be said to be only academic to worry about the over statement of profit. 
However, cash flow is a reality and the need for an additional £2 in the 
example above is certainly not academic! This is the real killer as far as 
inflation is concerned: is the firm able to generate sufficient cash flow from 
its ongoing operations to enable it to replace its assets as they are consumed 
without recourse to additional finance, i.e. without recourse to the need 
to borrow just to stand still? 

In the mid-1970s when inflation in the U.K. was running very high, many 
firms found themselves in acute financial difficulty. The reason for this is 
not difficult to establish. Refer back to page 63 where the cash flow 
consequences of expansion were explained. Now forget about expansion: 
just consider the cash flow consequences of standing still in a period of 
inflation. How much more cash will be required by a firm to cover an 
inflationary uplift in both the cost of replacing fixed assets and the 
maintenance of working capital? For all but a cash-and-carry operation the 
amount could be considerable. And if the inflationary uplift in potential 
cash flow from operations is inadequate to meet this additional cash 
requirement, there will be a negative pressure on actual cash flow from 
operations which may have to be financed by costly borrowing. 

Even when the annual rate of inflation is very low, the cumulative impact 
of inflation on the replacement value of longer lived fixed assets or of stocks 
held for lengthy maturat ion could cause cash flow problems. 

Rate of Inflation 

There is no one universal measure of inflation. Different countries, 
different industries, different firms, different categories of income and 
expenditure within the same firm all suffer different rates of inflation and 
this is one of the problems when accounting for inflation. How shall it be 
measured? A general measure which is available in the U.K. is the Index of 
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Retail Prices and the graph below reveals the trend in this index over a period 
of time. 
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Because the Index of Retail Prices will not be appropriate to all firms, 
clearly it is desirable for each firm to identify and measure the specific 
impact of inflation within its own activities as a necessary prerequisite to 
assessing the impact of inflation on its own financial performance. 

Inflation and Financial Performance 

Before going on to review the history and development of accounting for 
inflation let us pause to summarize the problem. If the falling value of 
money caused by inflation is not taken into account, the practical impact 
upon a company via its traditional financial statements will manifest itself 
in one or all of the following ways: 

as highlighted in the earlier example— 
(a) Over-statement of profits due to under charge of certain expenditures 

(principally depreciation and withdrawals from stock). 
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(b) Over-distribution of dividends out of the over-stated profits created 
at (a). 

(c) Inability to finance replacement of assets due to over distribution of 
profits at (b) and to the excessive tax charge (which traditionally ignores 
inflation). 

But also— 

(d) Understatement of the real value of assets employed in the business 
(because historical cost accounting traditionally bases the balance-sheet 
valuation of assets on cost). 

(e) Gross over-statement of return on investment (or return on assets) due 
to the relationship between (a) and (d). 

(f) Complacent attitude towards growth trends (suppose our sales or profit 
graph followed the same upward moving line as in the graph on page 
70: has there really been growth?) 

(g) Ill-founded belief that profits are "excessive". 

Monetary Items 

In accounting for inflation, one thorny matter has to be grasped: how 
to deal with monetary items. Monetary items are amounts fixed by reality, 
contract or statute in terms of numbers of pounds: there are both monetary 
assets (e.g. cash and debtors) and monetary liabilities (e.g. creditors and 
most loans). 

To hold monetary assets over a period of time is to suffer a loss in 
purchasing power (but not of actual £ notes) whereas to owe monetary 
liabilities over a period of time is to reap a gain in purchasing power (but 
not in actual £ notes). On the other hand, to hold ΛΟΛ-monetary assets (e.g. 
stocks and fixed assets) is to suffer a loss in actual £ notes, as demonstrated 
in the simple example earlier in this chapter, when it comes to replacement 
of those assets. 

Should accounting for inflation take account of the loss or gain on 
monetary items despite the fact that it is not a real loss or gain in terms of 
£ notes? Consider a bank (full of the monetary asset cash) at one end of 
the spectrum and a well-borrowed company (i.e. with significant monetary 
liabilities) at the other end of the spectrum. The difference in reported profit 
could be considerable as revealed by the following extracts from a review 
carried out in 1973 by the London brokers Phillips & Drew at a time when 
inflation was roaring away: 
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Company Year Conventional Estimated pre-tax 
end pre-tax profit adjusted for 

profit inflation 

ignoring with 
monetary monetary 
items adjustments 

(£m) (£m) (£m) 

Barclays Bank Dec. 74 162 153 95 
Grand Metropolitan Sept. 74 33 5 99 
Tube Investments Dec. 74 40 (15) 1 
Tesco Feb. 75 23 11 24 

. . . and as highlighted by the significant 1977 Ford Motor Co . U.K. wage 
claim: how much can the company afford to pay? How much profit has 
been made? 

Ford (post-tax) Dec. 76 59 5.6 67 

History of Accounting for Inflation 

So what has the Accounting Profession been doing about inflation, what 
does it recommend for dealing with the problem? This section very briefly 
traces the significant dates and cast of characters in the unfolding history 
of accounting for inflation: 

January 1949 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants published its recommendation 

on accounting for charges in the purchasing power of money but this carried 
little weight and had little impact. In any event the rate of inflation was 
relatively low. 

August 1971 
The Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) published a discussion 

paper entitled "Inflation and Accounts" . 

January 1973 
Following its discussion paper the ASC issued an exposure draft (ED8) 

which, if accepted, was to become a statement of standard accounting 
practice (SSAP) with effect from January 1974. 
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July 1973 
The government asked the ASC to hold their fire because it was setting 

up its own committee to conduct an enquiry into inflation accounting under 
the chairmanship of Francis Sandilands. 

May 1974 
The ASC nevertheless published an amended ED8 as a provisional SSAP7 

to apply to published accounts for periods beginning after 30th June 1974. 
PSSAP7 was simple: it recommended the publication of a supplementary 
statement which uplifted all the figures in the profit and loss account and 
balance sheet by reference to the retail price index. The method was to be 
called C P P (Constant, or Current , Purchasing Power) and, because it 
uplifted all figures, automatically adjusted for monetary items. 

September 1975 
Came the bombshell. The Sandilands Committee reported: it rejected 

C P P as being insufficiently appropriate to an individual firm; it dismissed 
the monetary items adjustment; it recommended a system of adjustment 
based on individual replacement values to be called CCA (Current Cost 
Accounting); it recommended that the adjustment process be taken right 
down into the book-keeping and that a steering group be set up to hammer 
out the details. 

January 1976 
The steering group recommended by Sandilands was set up under Douglas 

Morpeth charged with producing a workable system of CCA to be 
operational by 24th December 1977. 

November 1976 
After displaying considerable speed Morpeth published, via the ASC, 

ED18: "Current Cost Account ing". ED18 was a necessarily complex 
document, virtually rewriting the concepts upon which accounting had 
stood for almost 500 years. It was open for discussion up to 31 st May 1977 
whereafter the final SSAP was to become operational in stages between July 
1978 and January 1980. An impossible timetable it subsequently transpired. 

July 1977 
Came the revolution! E D 18 never became an SSAP: a groundswell of 

professional accounting opinion thought it was impractical, too subjective 
and too complicated. Its fate was finally sealed at a Special Meeting of the 
English Institute of Chartered Accountants which rejected E D 18 and the 
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whole concept of a compulsory system of CCA. The ASC reacted quickly 
to this rejection and on the rebound set up yet another working party, under 
the chairmanship of William Hyde, charged with the task of producing 
something as quickly as possible which would be simple, speedy, inexpensive 
and, above all, practical and operationally acceptable to accountants and 
account users alike. 

November 1977 
Hyde completed his deliberations and the "Hyde Guidelines" were 

produced as an interim measure pending a fuller reconsideration of E D 18. 
Hyde required all companies listed on the Stock Exchange to include in their 
published accounts a prominent statement showing three adjustments to 
profit computed under the historical cost accounting convention: 
depreciation adjustment, cost of sales adjustment and gearing adjustment 
(these expressions will be explained later). 

April 1979 
Morpeth 's fuller reconsideration was published as ED24. 

March 1980 

SSAP16, "Currrent Cost Accounting" was published with a suggestion 
that it be let stand for a trial period of at least 3 years during which time 
firms would gain experience in its use and experiment as necesssary. SSAP16 
applied to quoted public limited companies and required the production 
of a separate current cost profit and loss account and balance sheet in 
addition to the historical cost ones. However, historical cost accounting was 
to remain. 

July 1982 
Came the second revolution! The same faction which led the 1977 

revolution came back demanding the scrapping of SSAP16. The Institute 
of Chartered Accountants won this time but by the most slender of 
majorities and so felt it necessary to instruct the ASC to return once more 
to the drawing board to have a substitute for SSAP16 ready when its trial 
period came to an end. 

July 1984 
Amidst continuing dissention and debate, and against the backcloth of 

falling rates of inflation, ED35 "Accounting for the Effects of Changing 
Prices" was published. The proposals in ED35 were a considerable watering 
down of SSAP16: the current cost balance sheet was dropped and the profit 
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and loss account adjustments could be lost somewhere in the notes to the 
accounts if desired. 

1985—CCA RIP 
But even the watered down ED35 could not gain unanimous support and 

in March 1985 it was withdrawn. The Stock Exchange no longer required 
compliance with SSAP16 and in May 1985 the ASC announced that SSAP16 
was no longer mandatory. Noises are being made that "something must be 
done" but at the time of writing there is no great enthusiasm for the subject. 

And so it is that after more than 15 years of costly experimentation and 
debate, firms are back to where they were: they can publish inflation 
accounting information or not as they wish and in whatever form they 
choose. 

Current Cost Accounting (CCA) 

The philosophy of current cost accounting rests on the simple statement: 
" the first bit of profit doesn' t count" 

because, just to stand still in times of inflation, some of the profit ought 
to be set aside to provide for replacement of assets before deciding how 
much is available for distribution as dividend. This is clearly demonstrated 
in the simple example on page 68 where £2 was required to replace stock 
consumed: failure to set aside this amount dictated that £2 had to be 
borrowed just to stand still. 

So those firms which try to reflect the impact of inflation when publishing 
their accounts will no doubt do it by some variation of the following four 
adjustments. The first three would affect the operating profit, the fourth 
is a non-operating item: 

1. Depreciation adjustment: 
This is the difference between the depreciation computed on the 
original (historical) cost of fixed assets and the depreciation which 
would have been computed on the current cost of equivalent fixed 
assets if they had been replaced at the balance sheet date . 

2. Cost of sales adjustment (COSA): 
This is the difference between the original (historical) cost of stock 
and work in progress consumed and the current cost of that same stock 
and work in progress if it had to be replaced at its date of consumption 
(e.g. the £2 difference in the simple example which began this chapter). 
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3. Monetary working capital adjustment (MWCA): 
This reflects the impact of inflation on the amount of capital tied up 
in monetary working capital (principally debtors minus creditors); as 
inflation moves up, so must the value of debtors minus creditors which 
thus creates the need for a further investment of an amount 
approximating to this monetary working capital adjustment. 

4. Gearing adjustment: 
This is that proport ion of the first three adjustments which has not 
actually been suffered by shareholders because they have used other 
people's money (substantially borrowings) instead of their own to 
finance the investment in fixed assets, stock and work in progress and 
monetary working capital. 

Where Are We Now? 

CCA may be dead but inflation is not necessarily so! Moreover inflation 
does not have a constant universal impact: some areas, some activities, 
sometimes suffer more from inflation than others. Therefore, irrespective 
of what the accounting profession is or is not doing with published 
information, every operating manager needs to know how inflation affects 
his own planning and control decisions and so he must have inflation 
corrected management information on a regular basis. 

The reader is invited to ascertain his own firm's policies and practice 
regarding the impact of inflation on both published and management 
accounting information. 
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Published Financial Information 

T H E general form and content of the annual accounts of a limited company 
have been considered in earlier chapters. 

The actual form, content and degree of detail of any particular set of 
internal accounts depends on the wishes and whims of the directors and 
management for whom these accounts are prepared as internal documents 
of control. Should any further information be required, it can readily be 
ascertained from the books of account. 

However, directors have a duty to account for their stewardship to 
members of the company and, in view of the remarks made above about 
the contents of internal accounts, it is not surprising that the law sets out 
certain minimum information which must be disclosed in any published 
accounts circulated externally to shareholders. 

Moreover, there is an increasing weight of legal and social pressure to 
present financial and other information to wider groups of interested parties 
over and above the shareholder/investor group. 

Legal Requirements 

The prime legal requirement for presentation of financial information 
by limited companies is embodied in the Companies Acts which state that 
once at least in every calendar year every limited company shall present to 
shareholders and file with the Registrar of Companies a set of annual 
accounts which give a true and fair view of the company's affairs. The Acts 
stipulate in some detail the minimum information which shall be disclosed 
in or with these accounts and Appendix A to this book is included to 
demonstrate the detail called for in the Companies Act 1985. 

Some companies take the opportunity to present more than the legal 
minimum information, in particular when producing the profit and loss 
account. For this reason the reader of a published profit and loss account 
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must note with care words such as "gross profit", "trading profit", "surplus 
on trading" and "operating profit" to understand exactly what the company 
means by these expressions and how they relate to this book ' s family of 
profits introduced on page 48. However, due to the universal application 
of the provisions of the Acts, there is an increasing degree of consistency 
and comparability between the published accounts of limited companies. 

The requirements of earlier Companies Acts were rooted in the concept 
that shareholders and debentureholders were the only parties interested in, 
and therefore entitled to receive financial information. Later Companies 
Acts have broadened this narrow view but more particularly other pieces 
of legislation (e.g. the Industry Act, the Health & Safety at Work Act) have 
progressively added to the legal requirement for publication of financial 
information to a wider audience. 

Legal requirements are no longer parochially national and, in addition 
to publishing financial and other information required by U.K. legislation, 
U.K. companies must also comply with EEC legislation and directives. The 
O E C D also has specific requirements for the publication of financial 
information by multinational enterprises. 

Other Pressures 

The legislature tends to follow a leisurely process, brings in changes 
infrequently and often follows rather than dictates public opinion and best 
practice. When a company publishes financial and other information it is 
therefore under much greater pressures than merely legal. Some of the 
further pressures which might also help to shape the form and content of 
published financial information are as follows: 

1. Stock Exchange Requirements 

If a public company wishes to continue its listing and so retain its 
quotation it must fulfil the current requirements of the body which governs 
the appropriate stock exchange (the Stock Exchange Council in the U.K.) . 
Such requirements may cover not only content but also frequency of 
publication of information: for example, a company quoted on the U.K. 
Stock Exchange must publish an Interim Statement half-way through the 
year in addition to its annual published accounts; some other stock 
exchanges require the publication of quarterly information. 
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2. Statements of Standard Accounting Practice 

Chapter 4 discussed the development of EDs and SSAPs and their 
implication when a company publishes its annual acounts. 

3. Government Green and White Papers 

Government views in anticipation of pending legislation clearly exert 
some pressure. 

4. Developing Accounting Thought 

A far-reaching discussion document was published by the Accounting 
Standards Committee in August 1975 which opened up the whole question 
of what information ought to be presented, when and to whom. This 
document was entitled The Corporate Report and a brief summary of its 
contents appears below. 

5. Competition 

Each year the magazine The Accountant (the journal of the English 
Institute of Chartered Accountants) presents two awards for what are 
judged by a panel to be the best set of published accounts submitted by a 
large and a small quoted company. This does tend to create a spirit of 
competition which has done much to raise the general standard of presen-
tation and disclosure. Other competitions are also run in the area of 
presentation of information to employees. 

6. Best Practice 

There will always be leaders and followers in any activity and the 
presentation of financial information is no exception. Some accountants 
feel that the pace of development in the accounting profession is not fast 
enough and so "do their own th ing"; pressure groups are formed; papers 
are produced: therefore some companies will always disclose more than 
others. No doubt this process will continue into the future as radical 
developments of today become the accepted commonplace of tomorrow. 
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The Corporate Report

Reference was made above to this significant (if now somewhat historical)
discussion document published by the Accounting Standards Committee
which addressed itself generally to the question of who should present what
information to whom and when. Without doubt it has had a profound
impact on shaping not only corporate attitudes, but also government, trades
union and public attitudes, towards what is desirable and possible in the
field of publication of financial information.

In the first place The Corporate Report considered who might have a
reasonable right to receive financial information. It came up with the
following short list, the breadth of which, perhaps for the first time,
formally drew attention to the declining importance of the shareholder:

(a) the equity investor group: Le. the shareholder,
(b) the loan creditor group,
(c) the employee group, both as an individual and within a trade union,
(d) the analyst/adviser group,
(e) the business contact group, including customers and suppliers,
(f) the government,
(g) the public.

The Corporate Report then went on to review what information ought to
be published in the light of particular needs of each of these interested
parties. It recommended that, in addition to the three traditional financial
statements (balance sheet, profit and loss account, statement of source and
application of funds), published corporate reports should also include the
following:

(a) a statement of value added;
(b) an employment report, which would reveal, for example, numbers

employed, age and sex distribution, geographical location, major
plant closures, hours worked, employment and training costs,
recognized unions, accident statistics;

(c) a statement of money exchanges with the government, summarized
by type of tax or duty and whether at national or local level;

(d) a statement of transactions in foreign currency, e.g. exports,
imports, overseas investments, interest and dividends;

(e) a statement of future prospects-for the year following the balance
sheet date at least and covering profit levels, employment prospects
and investment;
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(0 a statement of corporate objectives, covering both general
philosophy and more specific information concerning strategic
targets in certain key policy areas.

The Corporate Report also recommended the presentation of such
disaggregated, or segmental, information as will reveal the financial
performances of separate divisions or classes of business which are
combined within the corporate whole. Moreover, it recommended that all
financial information be presented in inflation adjusted terms.

... a most significant, almost revolutionary, document which was
received with less than enthusiasm in some areas of both accounting and
corporate management; it has nevertheless had a considerable impact on
subsequent developments in published financial information.

The Published Report and Accounts Booklet

Having considered the legal requirements and other pressures summarized
above, the board of a public limited company must decide upon the precise
nature and content of its published financial information. This will be put
together in the form of an AnnualReport andAccounts booklet. The precise
layout of the contents of this booklet vary from company to company but
generally adopts the following sequence:

1. Names of directors, secretary and auditor of the company and address
of the registered office.

2. Notice convening the annual general meeting, incorporating the
agenda, which will contain five items:

to receive and consider the director's report and annual accounts;
to approve the proposed dividends;
to elect directors;
to fix the remuneration of the auditors;
to transact any other business which can properly be dealt with at an

annual general meeting.
3. Summarized financial highlights of the year.
4. Chairman's statement, which reviews the activities of the company,

assesses progress in the context of the national and international political
and economic climate and forecasts future prospects.

5. Report of the directors, which recommends how the profit shall be
appropriated and gives various information required by the Acts (see, for
example, Appendix A).

6. Statement of accounting policies which clarifies the company's attitude
AIBAM-G
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Consolidated Accounts 

One of the requirements of the Acts is that when a company has 
subsidiaries, consolidated accounts shall be prepared embracing the 
activities of both parent and subsidiary companies. Parent and subsidiaries 
are collectively known as a group of companies and consolidated accounts 
are sometimes called group accounts. 

Consider the following abbreviated balance sheet of Ρ Ltd. : 

towards its interpretation and application of accounting concepts and 
standards discussed in Chapter 4. 

7. Published annual accounts generally prepared under the historical cost 
accounting convention and comprising: 

consolidated profit and loss account; 
consolidated balance sheet; 
parent company balance sheet; 
statement of source and application of funds; 
value added statement (in some cases); 
explanatory notes. 
8. Additional financial information reflecting application of the current 

cost convention (in some cases). 
9. Report of the auditors on the published accounts. 

10. Financial and other statistical summaries in diagrammatic or tabular 
form, indicating the progress of the company over the past 5 or 10 years, 
or amplifying certain figures contained in the published accounts or giving 
segmental information. 

11. Any other detailed information on the activities of the company which 
may be of interest to readers—often using full colour illustrations, 
photographic reproductions and other commercial art forms. 

Appendix C is an extract from the published report and accounts booklet 
of John Waddington P L C and is included as an example of the type of 
information published under items 6-9 above. 
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It is obvious that the substance of Ρ Ltd. is sunk in S Ltd.; unless members 
of Ρ Ltd. have some indication of the value of this investment, they are 
unable to assess the financial position of Ρ Ltd. 

S Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ρ Ltd., and its abbreviated balance 
sheet is as follows: 

£ £ 

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets 17,300 

Current assets 1,100 
Current liabilities 1,000 

Net current assets 100 

Total assets less current liabilities 17,400 
Deduct loan from Ρ Ltd. 2,000 

Net assets £ 15,400 

Called up share capital 10,000 
Reserves 5,400 

Equity interest £ 15,400 

Ρ has invested £10,000 in S Ltd. which is represented by net assets employed 
in S Ltd. now valued, for balance-sheet purposes, at £15,400. Net assets 
of Ρ Ltd. of £12,300 are consequently understated by £5400. 

£ £ 
Fixed assets 

Tangible assets 100 
Investment in S Ltd.: Shares 10,000 

Loan 2,000 12,000 

12,100 
Current assets 400 
Current liabilities 200 

Net current assets 200 

Net assets £ 12,300 

Called up share capital 11,000 
Reserves 1,300 

Equity interest £ 12,300 
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£ £ 

Fixed assets 

Tangible assets (100 + 17,300) 17,400 

Current assets (400 + 1100) 1,500 
Current liabilities (200 + 1000) 1,200 

Net current assets 300 

Net assets of the Group £ 17,700 

Called up share capital of Ρ Ltd. 11,000 
Reserves (1300 + 5400) 6,700 

Equity interest £ 17,700 

This balance sheet now shows the full balance sheet value of net assets 
employed in the group as a whole, £17,700, and gives to the members of 
Ρ Ltd. a clearer indication of the use to which their capital has been put . 
Observe that the loan between Ρ Ltd. and S Ltd. cancels out in the 
aggregation of the two balance sheets and does not appear in the consoli-
dated balance sheet. This is reasonable because it is an intra group matter 
and does not affect the overall financial position of the group. 

A consolidated profit and loss account would similarly be prepared for 
publication by aggregating each item in the profit and loss accounts of 
parent and subsidiary companies and eliminating intra group items. 

Consolidated Accounts with Minority Interests 

In the preceding section, S Ltd. was a wholly owned subsidiary of Ρ Ltd. 
Had Ρ Ltd. owned only 80 percent of the shares in S Ltd. , the other 20 
percent would be owned by shareholders outside the group, who are known 
as outside shareholders or minority interests. Despite a subsidiary being only 

A consolidated balance sheet shows the total net assets employed in the 
group controlled by the parent company. For the investment in a subsidiary 
appearing in the balance sheet of the parent company is substituted the 
actual net assets representing that investment. A simple way of doing this 
is to add together the balance sheets of both parent and subsidiary 
companies, allowing the investment in subsidiary in the one balance sheet 
to cancel out the called up share capital in the other. The consolidated 
balance sheet of Ρ Ltd. and its subsidiary would be as follows: 
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partly owned, a consolidated balance sheet is still required if the overall 
financial position of the group is to be revealed. 

Consider now the situation where the balance sheet of Ρ Ltd. is as before 
(page 83) but the balance sheet of S Ltd. (now 80 percent owned) is as 
follows: 

£ £ 
Fixed assets 

Tangible assets 20,200 

Current assets 1,800 
Current liabilities 1,500 

Net current assets 300 

Total assets less current liabilities 20,500 
Deduct loan from Ρ Ltd. 2,000 

Net assets £ 18,500 

Called up share capital 12,500 
Reserves 6,000 

Equity interest £ 18,500 

Net assets are valued at £18,500 in this balance sheet of which 80 percent, 
or £14,800, is owned by Ρ Ltd. and 20 percent, or £3700, by minority 
interests. The £10,000 investment by Ρ Ltd. is thus now represented by net 
assets employed in S Ltd . , which are valued, for balance sheet purposes, 
at £14,800—net assets of Ρ Ltd. are consequently understated by £4800. 

How shall a consolidated balance sheet be prepared when a subsidiary 
is not wholly owned? In this example, 80 percent only of the net assets of 
S Ltd. could be aggregated with those of Ρ Ltd. , but this method would 
become complicated when there were many subsidiaries to consolidate. 
Fur thermore, this method would not reveal the full extent of net assets 
employed in the group. The method adopted in practice is to aggregate all 
the net assets as for wholly owned subsidiaries but then show, in the 
consolidated balance sheet, that part financed by minority interests in 
subsidiaries. The consolidated balance sheet will then usefully show where 
the money has come from to run the whole group (including that provided 
by outsiders) and the disposition of these funds about the group. Our 
consolidated balance sheet will thus be: 
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£ £ 
Fixed assets 

Tangible assets (100 + 20,200 20,300 

Current assets (400 + 1,800) 2,200 
Current liabilities (200 + 1,500) 1,700 

Net current assets 500 

Net assets of the group £ 20,800 

Called up share capital of Ρ Ltd. 11,000 
Reserves (1300 + 80% of 6000) 6,100 

Equity interest 17,100 

Minority interests in subsidiaries 
(20% of 18500) 3,700 

Total financing of the group £ 20,800 

A consolidated profit and loss account would be prepared as described 
on page 84 and then the proport ion of profit attributable to minority 
interests would be deducted, leaving a net amount available to the parent 
company—which will agree with the amount incorporated in the 
consolidated balance sheet. (See for example page 192 and page 193.) 

Associated, or Related, Companies 

A subsidiary company is one in which a parent company holds a control-
ling interest (i.e. more than 50 percent of the voting shares). In this case 
the whole of the items from the net assets and from the profit and loss 
account of each subsidiary are aggregated into the consolidated accounts 
of the group, a deduction being made at the end for that part attributable 
to minority interests in subsidiaries: as described in the previous section of 
this chapter. 

An associated company, or related company, is one in which there is a 
substantial, but not a controlling interest by another company. 
"Substant ial" is most frequently defined as between 20 percent and 50 
percent of the voting shares. Because there is no control, it would be quite 
wrong to go through the aggregation process described above for subsidiary 
companies: the totals thus produced would be meaningless. The normal 
practice for dealing with results of associated, or related, companies in a 
set of published accounts therefore is as follows: 
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1. in the consolidated profit and loss account: the relevant share only 
of the profit before taxation and of the tax charge of the related 
company are shown. 

2. in the consolidated balance sheet: the original cost of the investment 
in the related company only is shown. 

3. fuller details might be given in the notes to the published accounts if 
the company thought fit to do so. 

So above 50 percent is a subsidiary company (i.e. control); 20 percent to 
50 percent is an associated, or related, company (i.e. a substantial say but 
short of control) . . . therefore what about an investment in another 
company of less than 20 percent of its voting shares? Such an investment 
is often termed a trade investment or other investment and treatment in the 
consolidated accounts is very simple: 

1. only the income (interest or dividend) received is shown in the 
consolidated profit and loss account. 

2. only the original cost of the investment is shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

Presentation of Financial Information to Employees 

The 1970s saw a great movement towards industrial democracy and one 
of the manifestations of this was the increasing legal and other pressures, 
referred to above, towards the greater disclosure of financial information 
to employees. If a company decides to go down this particular path it is 
opening a great big Pandora ' s Box because it must now decide such matters 
as how far down the line to present, what to present, how, when, in what 
form and with what frequency. 

In certain cases there has been an at tempt to tailor the published report 
and accounts booklet so as to cater both for the shareholder and the 
employee. However, in the majority of cases, those companies which do 
present financial information to employees do so in a special Employees' 
Report which generally presents information in an abbreviated, simplified 
and less legalistic format which concentrates on those aspects of a 
company 's performance deemed to be of greater interest to employees. 
Some companies back up this document with specially prepared films or 
other audio visual material. 
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Interpretation of Annual Accounts 

I N EARLIER chapters we have considered both the way in which annual 
accounts are prepared and the information they contain. This chapter is 
concerned with reading these accounts and understanding the story they tell. 

First Principles 

Anyone reading accounts must bear in mind certain basic facts if the 
reading is to be performed at all intelligently: 

1. Any product of an accounting system suffers from the severe 
limitations discussed in Chapter 1 and is based on the conventions and 
concepts discussed in Chapter 4. 

2. Figures are mere symbols on a piece of paper and the "bigness" or 
"smallness" of a figure is meaningless unless considered in its context: 
therefore ratios and trends must be developed in order to assess one figure 
in the light of another. 

3. Invalid comparisons are dangerous but easily made when two figures 
have been computed on different bases. The golden rule is always to 
compare like with like. 

Points of View 

Whilst a set of figures can tell only one story, each reader will be 
particularly interested in one special aspect and will therefore slant his 
interpretation in that direction. Examples of biased interpretation of facts 
are seen every day in "authent ic" reports appearing in different national 
newspapers—what sort of facts does the reader wish to know? What do you 
wish to know from a set of accounts? 

A reader 's attitude of mind or particular interest must colour his inter-

pretation, which will differ from that of a reader with other interests. 

88 
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Management, for example, is interested in detailed control of operations 
and seeks to make the business more successful. A shareholder or prospec-
tive shareholder looks to the security of his investment, the anticipated 
return and the prospects for capital growth. The bank manager, or other 
person advancing a loan, is more concerned with security, ability to pay 
interest and ease of repayment. A creditor's prime considerations are getting 
paid and obtaining further orders. Take-over bidders will look for 
undeveloped potential, or activities and possessions which can be economi-
cally combined with their own, or saleable assets ("asset stripping"). 

The object of this chapter is to acquaint the reader with certain techniques 
of interpretation of accounts. The degree of importance placed upon each 
technique must depend on the purpose for which the interpretation is being 
made. 

Non-financial Considerations 

Financial interpretation of accounts can never constitute a complete 
review of a business: many other non-quantitative appraisals must be made. 
What size and stage has the business reached? What type of business is being 
carried on? What does the future hold: technologically, economically and 
politically? These are just a few of the questions which may have to be 
answered before the interpretation is complete. Such considerations are 
outside the field of accounting; the financial interpretation only is 
considered here. 

What to Look For 

Financial interpretation is concerned with a firm's financial health—both 
presently and in prospect. Pointers which will help this interpretation are 
as follows: 

1. Operating efficiency—i.e. how efficiently is the business being run 
by its operating managers; this has three aspects: 

(a) operating profitability 
(b) asset productivity, or efficient use of resources 
(c) cash flow (although this is largely determined by (a) and (b)) 

2. Liquidity—i.e. can the business pay its way 

3. Financial structure—i.e. is the split of financing between shareholders 
and borrowing sensible and safe 
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4. Shareholder satisfaction—i.e. is the shareholder happy? this has three 
aspects: 

(a) shareholder profitability 
(b) dividend 
(c) share value 

As a demonstration of financial interpretation we shall shortly apply these 
pointers to the published accounts of Typical Products Ltd. , extracts from 
which are reproduced at Appendix B. However, we must first establish 
certain principles concerning the measurement of profitability. 

Operating Management Responsibility 

The profit and loss account and balance sheet are made up of a mixture 
of operating and non-operating items. Therefore if we are to assess correctly 
the financial performance of operating management it is first necessary to 
isolate from the profit and loss account and balance sheet those four areas 
for which operating management is responsible: 

1. the revenue generated by operations 
2. the profit made on that revenue 
3. the resources employed to make that profit and generate that revenue 
4 the cash flow generated by these operations 

Clear definition of these areas of responsibility is necessary so that every 
operating manager is made aware of the precise basis for his or her perform-
ance appraisal. Furthermore, a uniform definition is necessary to ensure 
consistency when comparing the financial performance of different 
operating managers or different companies. 

Each company must define its own terms and develop its own house rules 
as to performance appraisal; clearly different companies and different 
financial analysts might employ different definitions. For the purpose of 
financial analysis in this book, the author 's personal preference will be used 
as follows: 

revenue generated: 
— sales (or turnover) but excluding VAT, sales tax and excise duties 

because these do not reflect operating management 's decisions 

profit made: 
— operating profit (see page 48): this reflects normal operating decisions 
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because it is the profit before adding non-operating income (e.g. 
investment income received) and before deducting non-operating 
expenses (i.e. interest, tax and dividend) and before extraordinary 
items 

resources employed: 
— only those assets controlled by operating management and necessarily 

used to generate sales and operating profit viz: 

fixed assets 
plus working capital (i.e. stocks and work in progress plus trade 
debtors minus trade creditors). Ideally a minimum operating cash 
balance ought also to be included in working capital but it is not easy 
to isolate this element from that cash balance which merely represents 
a temporary surplus of funds; so for convenience cash and bank 
balances will be ignored when measuring working capital. 

The total of fixed assets plus working capital will be referred to in this 
book as Net Operating Assets (to distinguish it from net wow-operating 
assets). 

cash flow: 
— actual cash flow from operations, as defined on page 65. 

Applying these rules to Typical Products Ltd. the following numbers 

emerge: 

Last year This year 
£000s 

2,025 

123 

Sales 

Operating profit 

Net operating assets: 
Fixed assets 
Working capital 

£000s 

3,500 

168 

262 430 

315 

262 
254 

(201) 

Stocks 
Trade debtors 
Trade creditors 

703 
611 

(613) 
701 

577 1,131 

103 
Cash flow from operations 

(see page 194) (386) 

The reader is encouraged to ascertain the house rules for operating 
management performance appraisal adopted by his own company and 
compare them to those selected above. 
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Operating Profitability 

Profitability must be the ultimate test of operating efficiency and often 
is the first financial ratio to look for when reading annual accounts. Notice 
that we are talking about profitability (indicating a ratio or the rate of 
earning profit) rather than the amount of profit itself. 

Two operating profitability ratios can be calculated: 

1. Operating profit to sales, i.e. operating profit for the year expressed 
as a percentage of sales for the year 

2. Operating profit to net operating assets, i.e. operating profit for the 
year expressed as a percentage of the value, at the year end, of the 
resources employed to earn that operating profit. This ratio is 
variously referred to as return on investment (ROI), or return on 
capital employed (ROC) or, as we shall refer to it henceforth, return 
on net operating assets, or RON A. 

The first ratio becomes more meaningful if an analysis of operating 
expenses is available and the ratio of each class of expense to sales is also 
calculated. Any changes in these latter ratios will indicate reasons for any 
variation in the operating profit to sales ratio. But RON A is the more 
important ratio of the two; one of the objects of making an investment is 
to earn a reasonable return: if the return obtained from an investment in 
net operating assets is inadequate, the investment perhaps might better be 
made elsewhere. 

These two operating profitability ratios are closely related via a third 
ratio: the asset turnover ratio, or velocity ratio. This ratio reveals what sales 
have been generated for every £ invested in net operating assets and hence 
is the starting point for the measurement of asset productivity. Consider 
the following example: 

Company 
A 

Company 
Β 

Sales £1,000 £500 

Operating profit £100 £40 

Net operating assets £1,000 £250 

Operating profit to sales 10°7o 8% 

Velocity ratio, or asset turnover ratio 
(i.e. sales -H net operating assets) 1 2 

RONA 10% 16% 

Observe that company A turned over its net operating assets in sales only 
once but company Β did it twice. Put another way: for every £ 1 of sales, 
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company A required £1 of net operating assets whereas company Β required 
only 50p. Here we have a compounding element in the operating profit-
ability ratios: company A earned 10 percent on sales but earned this only 
once to produce 10 percent RON A whereas company Β earned only 8 
percent on sales but earned this twice to produce 16 percent RON A—a much 
better profitability performance than A. Notice therefore that when 
measuring RON A it is important to isolate its two compounding elements: 
operating profit to sales ratio and velocity rat io, and that the relationship 
between these two elements can be expressed in the following formula: 

Operating profit Operating profit Sales 
RONA i.e. = χ 

Net operating assets Sales Net operating assets 

Î 
Velocity ratio 

It therefore follows that there are two quite distinct routes to the 
improvement of operating profitability 

— the one is concerned with cost control, pricing, sales volumes and sales 
mix; i.e. selling more profitably: 
which culminates in the ratio of operating profit to sales 

— the other is concerned with fixed asset utilization, stock control and 
credit control; i.e. generating more sales from the same investment 
in net operating assets or reducing net operating assets for the same 
level of sales: 

which culminates in the velocity ratio. 

And finally, do remember that the velocity ratio is a multiplier. In super-
market retailing of foods, for example, competition forces down the 
operating profit to sales ratio to very low levels so an adequate R O N A can 
only be guaranteed by high velocity ratios; however in speculative house 
building or heavy engineering, where a high velocity ratio is difficult to 
achieve, it is much more important to generate a high operating profit to 
sales ratio if an adequate R O N A is to be guaranteed. 

Shareholder Profitability 

We have seen that return on investment is the prime measure of profit-
ability and that , in the case of operating management, return on investment 
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is refined as RONA (operating profit expressed as a percentage of net 
operating assets). 

But what of the shareholder? They would measure return on investment 
quite differently because they are primarily concerned with what ' s left in 
it for them, i.e. what is their return on their investment: 

— the shareholders' profit is profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
— the shareholders ' investment is equity interest (i.e. called up share 

capital plus the accumulation of reserves) 

So the shareholders ' return on investment is refined as profit attributable 
to ordinary shareholders for the year expressed as a percentage of equity 
interest at the year end. We shall henceforth refer to this as return on equity 
interest after tax, or ROE. 

A shareholder may also wish to highlight how much the ROE has been 
affected by corporation tax so, for comparison purposes, one may also 
calculate the profit before taxation for the year as a percentage of equity 
interest at the year end. 

Finally, instead of calculating ROE (which is the profit attributable 
expressed as a percentage of equity interest), a shareholder might calculate 
EPS—or Earnings per Share (which is the profit attributable divided by the 
number of ordinary shares). 

To summarize: shareholder profitability is measured either in terms of: 

ROE 
—both before and after tax 

or EPS 
—normally after tax only 

both these would normally ignore extraordinary items. Their relationship 
to RONA is explained by capital gearing, which we must turn to next. 

Capital Gearing (The Debt/Equity Ratio) 

Capital gearing (sometimes called leverage) is simply a reflection of the 
mix of borrowed money (debt) to shareholders ' money (equity) in the 
financing of a company. The higher the proport ion borrowed, the higher 
is said to be the gearing; the lower the proport ion borrowed, the lower the 
gearing. 

Gearing is important to the shareholder because if money can be 
borrowed at a cost of interest lower than the R O N A that can be earned by 
investing that money in net operating assets, the shareholder will benefit 
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Situation 1 Situation 2 

A Β A Β 

Debt (i.e. borrowing) @ 10% 
Equity interest 

200 
800 

800 
200 

200 
800 

800 
200 

Net operating assets £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 

Operating profit 
Interest on debt @ 10% 

200 
20 

200 
80 

160 
20 

160 
80 

Profit before taxation £180 £120 £140 £80 

RONA 
(operating profit % 
net operating assets) 

20% 20% 16% 16% 

ROE before tax 
(profit before taxation % 
equity) 

22.5% 60% 17.5% 40% 

Notice that although firms A and Β are both earning the same 20 percent 
RONA, the shareholder in Β earns a higher before tax ROE than the share-
holder in A; moreover both sets of shareholders earn a higher before tax 
ROE than has been generated from R O N A . Such is the benefit of gearing 
to the shareholder: provided that RONA (20 percent) is higher than the cost 
of borrowing (10 percent), the higher the gearing the higher will be the before 
tax ROE. 

But of course what goes up might come down: the higher the gearing, 
the higher the volatility of ROE and the greater the risk of a negative ROE 
despite a small positive R O N A . Consider a 20 percent decline in operating 
profit in the above demonstrat ion, situation 2: notice that RONA declines 
by 20 percent also to 16 percent; ROE in A falls by a little more than 20 
percent to 17.5 percent; but ROE in Β falls by 33 percent from 60 percent 
to 40 percent. 

The reader is invited to demonstrate for himself that if operating profit 
were to fall to £80, RONA would fall to 8 percent, ROE in A would be 7.5 
percent, but ROE in Β would be nil. 

The debt/equity ratio simply reflects the degree of gearing: the higher 
the ratio the higher the gearing. Unfortunately two methods of measuring 

from the excess of R O N A over the cost of interest as demonstrated in 
situation 1 below: 
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debt/equity are employed in practice so the reader is urged always to 
confirm which method has been used. The demonstrat ion on page 95 
revealed the following financial structure: 

A Β 

Debt 200 800 

Equity 800 200 

Total financing £1,000 £1,000 

The most frequently used measure of debt /equi ty simply expresses debt as 
a percent of equity: 25 percent for A, 400 percent for B. But occasionally 
debt is expressed as a percent of total financing; 20 percent for A, 80 percent 
for B. Henceforth in this book we shall use the former basis of measurement 
rather than the latter. 

Having had that lengthy, but necessary, excursion into the principles of 
profitability analysis, let us return to the annual accounts of Typical 
Products Ltd. at Appendix Β and see what they tell us about its financial 
performance. Note that £ references are in £000s through the rest of this 
chapter. 

Operating Efficiency 

Just how efficiently has operating management of Typical Products Ltd. 
performed over the last 2 years? Let us extract the relevant financial ratios. 

(a) Operating Profitability 
Last year This year % change 

Sales a £2,025 £3,500 + 73% 
Operating profit b £123 £168 + 37% 
Net operating assets c £577 £1,131 + 96% 

Operating profit to sales b%a 6 .1% 4.8% 
Velocity ratio a + c 3.5 x 3 . 1 x 
RONA b%c 21.6% 14.9% 

These ratios reveal that, although operating profit has increased in amount, 
profitability has declined. Operating profit to sales is much lower this year 
than last—there is insufficient information to give any explanation for this. 
But worse, the velocity ratio has also slowed down thus compounding the 
1.3 points decline in operating profit to sales into a 6.7 points decline in 
RONA. Some explanation for the decline in velocity ratio will be revealed 
by subsequent ratios. 
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(b) Asset Productivity 
Last year This year % change 

Stocks a 262 703 + 168% 
Trade debtors b 254 611 + 1 4 1 % 
Trade Creditors c (201) (613) + 205% 

Working capital d = a + b - c 315 701 + 1 2 3 % 
Fixed assets e 262 430 + 64% 

Net operating assets f = d + e £577 £1,131 + 96% 

In the light of the 73 percent increase in sales, there appears to have been 
an improvement in productivity of fixed assets but a decline in productivity 
of working capital. 

Productivity in the three elements of working capital is often measured 
by the following further ratios: 

1. Stock turnover ratio, which is an indicator of the number of times 
stock is replenished in a year, or how long it is held without moving. 

2. Debtors to sales ratio, which is an indicator of the length of time it 
takes to collect from trade debtors , i.e. the average debtor collection 
period. 

3. Creditors to purchases ratio, which is an indicator of the length of 
time being taken to pay trade creditors, i.e. the average creditor 
payment period. 

These three ratios are calculated thus: 
1. Strictly the stock turnover ratio should be calculated separately for raw 

materials, work in progress and finished goods by comparing average stock-
holding at cost with usage at cost. Whilst this measure would be applied 
internally where cost of usage is available, this information is not always 
available in published accounts (and is not available for Typical Products 
Ltd.) . As an alternative, some indication of the trend in stock turnover can 
be obtained by comparing stock with sales and expressing the answer either 
as a multiplier or as a percentage. This is meaningless insofar as it is 
comparing an item at cost with an item at selling price, but the trend of this 
ratio will indicate any changes in velocity of stock turnover (unfortunately, 
changes in pricing policy will also affect the ratio calculated thus). 

Last year This year 
Sales a £2,025 £3,500 
Stocks b £262 £703 

Stock turnover indicator : a + b 7 · 7 χ 5 x 
or b%a 12.9% 20% 

The ratio indicates a slowing down in velocity of stock turnover. 

AIBAM-Η 
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Last year This year 

Sales a £2,025 £3,500 
Sales including VAT b = a x l l 5 % £2,329 £4,025 
(assuming VAT @ 15%) 
Average daily sales c = b + 365 £6.4 £11 
Trade debtors d £254 £611 

Average collection period e = d + c 40 days 55 days 
(assuming no cash sales) 

Trade debtors % sales f = d%a 12.5% 17.5% 

The ratios indicate an extension of the average debtor collection period. 

3. Information on purchases would be available internally but it is not 
given in the published accounts of Typical Products Ltd. Therefore it is not 
possible to compute this ratio. However, as a general indicator of credit 
taken from suppliers, a simple percentage of trade creditors to sales can be 
calculated. 

Last year This year 

Sales a £2,025 £3,500 
Trade creditors b £201 £613 

Trade creditors % sales c = b%a 9.9% 17.5% 

The ratio indicates a considerable extension of credit taken from suppliers, 

(c) Cash Flow 

The cash flow statement on page 194 tells all: a £103 positive actual cash 
flow from operations last year can be compared to a negative £386 this year. 
The necessary investment in fixed assets of £229 this year to cope with the 
growth in sales was itself significant but by far the greatest negative influence 
was the declining productivity in working capital which caused a cash 
outflow of £386. 

2. Correct computat ion of the average debtor collection period from 
published accounts can be complex because: 

i. it is only credit sales to which debtors relate but the figure for sales 

in the profit and loss account includes both cash and credit sales 

ii sales in the profit and loss account excludes VAT, sales tax and excise 
but debtors in the balance sheet includes these items. 

For these reasons a simple percentage of trade debtors to sales is often 
calculated because the trend in this percentage will indicate any changes in 
collection period. 
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The three working capital productivity ratios which we have calculated 
above should have given rise to concern; the cash flow analysis puts a size 
to this concern: potential cash flow from operations this year amounted 
to £206 and, out of that , £441 was invested in additional stocks, £357 in 
longer collection period from trade debtors whilst extension of trade 
creditors generated £412. 

Liquidity 

A vital issue is the ability of a business to meet its obligations when they 
fall due. This leads to a comparison of current liabilities (the obligations) 
with current assets (out of which the obligations must be met) and to a 
consideration of the margin of safety between the two, i.e. the net current 
assets. The current ratio, measures this margin of safety by calculating the 
number of times the current assets cover the current liabilities: 

Last year This year 

Current assets a £538 £1,322 
Current liabilities b £221 £847 
Current ratio a + b 2 - 4 : 1 1 - 6 : 1 

The ratio reveals that current liabilities are not as well covered this year as 
last: i.e. that the company is less able to meet its obligations when they fall 
due. This observation is consistent with our comment above on extension 
of trade creditors. 

If all those to whom we owe money demanded payment now, could we 
quickly lay our hands on sufficient cash? This is the acid test of liquidity. 
Not all the current assets can be converted into cash quickly; in particular, 
stock may first have to be processed and then become a debtor before 
conversion into cash. The acid test, or quick ratio, measures the ability to 
pay by comparing current liabilities with quick assets (i.e. those which can 
quickly be converted into cash, generally taken as current assets minus 
stock): 

Last year This year 

Quick assets a £276 £619 
Current liabilities b £221 £847 
Acid test a - b 1 - 2 : 1 0 - 7 : 1 

The ratio reveals the deterioration of the liquid position; in an emergency 
Typical Products Ltd. cannot meet all its obligations this year. 
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In computing the quick ratio one could argue that the bank overdraft 
should be excluded from the figure for current liabilities, as it might not 
normally have to be settled "quickly". If this were done the quick ratio this 
year would be 0-9 (i.e. £619, compared with £657): still a deterioration on 
last year. 

Because the inclusion of the bank overdraft brings down this ratio from 
an almost acceptable 0 · 9 to an unacceptable 0 · 7 it does underline the danger 
of the overdraft 's being recalled quickly. This firm must keep friends with 
the bank manager! 

Overtrading 

A common cause of deterioration of the liquid position is this killer 
disease of many a promising credit trading enterprise. Reduced to its 
simplest terms, overtrading is an expansion of sales with inadequate capital 
support . In order to expand, stocks and work in progress are built up and 
financed by increased demands on creditors, or by borrowing. Debtors also 
increase and there is a time lag before cash flows back to pay the creditors. 
There is an urge to borrow more or to offer cut prices for prompt cash; either 
way leads to reduced profits and irate creditors. This was also touched upon 
in Chapter 8. 

The danger of overtrading also underlines the importance of the three 
working capital productivity ratios introduced at page 97. 

1. Stock turnover ratio 
2. Debtors to sales ratio 
3. Creditors to purchases ratio 

Financial Structure 

We have seen that declining productivity of working capital in Typical 
Products Ltd. has led to a negative cash flow from operations which in turn 
has led to declining liquidity ratios and recourse to increased borrowing. 
What has this done to the financial structure of the company and how safe 
is the borrowing? Let us dig out some more numbers from page 193: 
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Last year This year 

12% Debentures a 50 50 
Bank overdraft b 190 

Total debt c = a + b 50 240 
Cash at bank and in hand d 22 8 

Net debt e = c - d £28 £232 

Equity interest f £490 £809 

Debt/equity ratio g = e%f 5.7% 28.7% 

This is a considerable increase in gearing but does not necessarily represent 
a level which the company cannot live with. 

An additional measure of borrowing safety is the interest cover: this 
indicates by how much operating profit can fall before it ceases to provide 
for interest. Inability to meet the interest payment is bad news for the lender! 

Last year This year 

Operating profit a £123 £168 
Interest payable b £6 £26 

Interest cover c = a + b 20.5 χ 6.5 χ 

The declining interest cover would certainly be looked upon with disfavour 
by the lending banker. 

Shareholder Satisfaction 

How happy is the shareholder of Typical Products Ltd. going to be? Let 
us do some more ratios on the lines described on pages 94 to 96. 

(a) Shareholder Profitability 

We have seen that R O N A has declined and that the debt/equity ratio has 
increased. What is the combined impact of these on ROE and EPS? 

Last year This year 

Profit attributable to Typical 
Products Ltd. shareholders a £65 £82 
Equity interest b £490 £809 
Number of ordinary shares c 250 450 

ROE after tax d = a%b 13.2% 10.1% 
EPS e = a + c 26.0p 18.2p 



102 A N INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS ACCOUNTING FOR MANAGERS 

ROE after tax has also declined but not quite as steeply as RONA; the 
shareholder has been shielded somewhat by the combined impact of higher 
gearing and lower tax charge as the following further ratios demonstrate: 

Last year This year 

Profit before taxation a £117 £142 
Total capital and reserves b £498 £817 
Corporation tax charge c £51 £58 

ROE before tax d = = a%b 23.5% 17.4% 
RONA (see page 96) e 21.6% 14.9% 
Benefit from gearing f = = d - e + 1.9% + 2.5% 

Rate at which corporation tax 
suffered g = = c%a 43.6% 40.8% 

So shareholder profitability is not as bad as it might have been; but the 
shareholders will no doubt be less than enthusiastic about this performance, 
particularly bearing in mind that they have been asked to invest £300 more 
capital in the company via the rights issue this year. 

(b) Dividend 

One of the objects of making an investment is to receive a satisfactory 
rate of return in cash; in the case of a share, this is provided by the dividend. 
The rate of dividend is of course important : from Typical Products Ltd. 
the ordinary dividend went up from 1 l p per share last year (4p interim plus 
7p final) to 13.2p per share this year (4.4p interim plus 8.8p final). An 
equally important matter is the dividend cover, which indicates what 
proportion of the profit for the year has actually been distributed as dividend 
(as opposed to being transferred to reserves). Dividend cover thus indicates 
the margin of safety, or the amount by which profit for the year can be 
allowed to fall before the dividend might be reduced. For Typical Products 
Ltd. it is: 

Last year This year 

Profit attributable to Typical 
Products Ltd. shareholders a £65 £82 
Profit for the year b £62 £79 
Dividends c £28 £60 

Dividend cover before extra-
ordinary items d = a - H C 2.3 times 1.4 times 
Dividend cover after extra-
ordinary items e = b + c 2.2 times 1.3 times 
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The ratio reveals a considerable reduction in margin of safety for the 
ordinary dividend which will no doubt add to the shareholders ' lack of 
enthusiasm. In theory of course the rate of dividend can be maintained by 
drawing from the accumulated reserves: however it is most unlikely that 
these reserves will be represented by actual cash so they should not be relied 
upon too strongly as a potential source of cash dividend. 

In addition to the cover, each shareholder is also interested in the yield 
he is obtaining on his investment. Yield is calculated by expressing his annual 
income as a percentage of his capital invested. For example, the additional 
£1 ordinary shares issued by Typical Products Ltd. this year were issued 
at £1.50 (notice that there is an increase of £200 in called up share capital 
but also £100 in share premium, indicating an issue at a premium of 50p). 
If I bought 100 shares (nominal value £100) they would have cost me £150 
and my yield would be calculated as follows: 

Nominal value of investment in 100 shares a £100 
Dividend thereon @ 13.2p b £13.2 
Actual cost of investment c £150 
Actual yield b + c 8.8% 

Other than an initial purchase of shares from the company, each shareholder 
will no doubt buy shares at a different price depending on the prevailing 
market price of the share at the date of purchase. Therefore in practice 
dividend yield is a calculation which is personal to each shareholder. Yields 
which are quoted in the financial press are normally calculated by reference 
to the closing market price on the day to which the quote relates. 

(c) Share Value 

What is a share worth? A similar question was posed on page 34, "What 
is a business worth?" , and the answer is the same: "Whatever a willing buyer 
is prepared to pay" . Shares in a public company have an advantage here, 
because a ready market is provided in the Stock Exchange, whose official 
quotat ion provides a basis of value for a particular share transaction. But 
what of a private company? Share valuation here must be something for 
negotiation and a starting figure often selected is the net book value of the 
share. This is simply the net assets attr ibutable to shareholders divided by 
the number of shares issued. 

Net assets attributable to ordinary shareholders of Typical Products Ltd. 
can be computed from the balance sheet by taking total net assets and 
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deducting therefrom the proport ion attributable to other than ordinary 
shareholders (i.e. minority interests in subsidiaries). A more direct way of 
getting the same answer is simply pick up the figure for equity interest. Net 
book value of an ordinary share is therefore: 

Last year This year 

Equity interest 
(i.e. Net assets attributable to ordinary 
shareholders) a £490 £809 

Number of ordinary shares issued b 250 450 

Net book value of one ordinary share a + b £1.96 £1.80 

The theory behind this valuation is that if the company were to close down 
at the balance-sheet date, realize all the assets at their balance-sheet values 
and pay off all the liabilities and prior charges—there would be left, in cash, 
for each holder of a £1 ordinary share £1.96 last year and £1.80 this year. 
This is why the net book value of a share is often referred to as the share's 
break-up value. Many people, including some investment analysts, set great 
store by break-up value, but a brief recap of those sections of Chapter 4 
relating to goodwill will put this value in its true perspective. A balance sheet 
does not reflect the true commercial value of a business, similarly a balance 
sheet value of a share cannot reflect the true commercial value of that share. 
As stated earlier, the net book calculation is only a starting figure in the 
negotiation for a sale; a valuation based on future earnings is often 
computed, on a similar basis to the method of valuing goodwill outlined 
on page 36. ("Future earnings" would be total profit attributable to 
shareholders if all the shares were being sold, but perhaps dividend only 
if a minority shareholding only were being sold.) 

The price earnings ratio (P/E ratio) is widely used as an indicator of share 
value. This, as the name implies, is simply a comparison of market price 
with earnings per share. On the assumption that he who buys a share is 
buying a proport ion of the future earnings, the higher the P / E ratio the 
more highly is the share valued by the market. It is interesting to compare 
the P / E ratio of one share with another within the same industry, (referred 
to as a share's P/E relative). Assuming the market price of an ordinary share 
in Typical Products Ltd. is 154-7 its P / E ratio on this year 's earnings is 
calculated thus: 
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Profit attributable to Typical 
Products Ltd. shareholders 
Number of ordinary shares issued 

a 
b 

£82 
450 

18·2ρ 
154-7 
8-5 

EPS 
Assumed market price 
P / E ratio 

c = a + b 
d 

d - c 

and if similar shares enjoy a P / E ratio of 14 · 2, then Typical Products P / E 
relative is 8 - 5 % 14-2 or 6 0 % . 

There can be no simple formula for valuing a share because it is so much 
a personal matter between the seller and an individual willing buyer. As was 
the case with valuing goodwill: "How badly do you want it—how much are 
you willing to pay?" 

Desirable Ratios 

The reader may ask, "What is a desirable ra t io?" or, "Is the ratio I have 
calculated good or b a d ? " It is difficult to answer these questions because 
much depends upon the nature of business carried on, the stage of develop-
ment reached and the general economic situation. However, some general 
comments are appropriate: 

1. Operating efficiency 

An adequate level of RONA should reward the business risks undertaken 
and also cover the cost of capital which has been raised to finance the net 
operating assets. What is desirable will therefore be affected by prevailing 
interest rates and shareholder expectations, business risks, inflation and 
taxation; under the conditions prevailing at the time of writing it would seem 
that , in the U.K. , 20 percent to 25 percent in historical cost terms should 
be a minimum acceptable R O N A . 

Within this RONA the combination of operating profit to sales and 
velocity ratios depends very much on the nature of the business and any 
combination from a high operating profit to sales/low velocity ratio (more 
typical of say heavy engineering) to a low operating profit to sales/high 
velocity ratio (more typical of say supermarket food retailing) is possible 
as demonstrated by the following graph: 
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0 I 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
Velocity ratio ( t imes ) 

Desirable ratios for stock turn and credit collection periods clearly depend 
upon individual business environments. 

Cash flow from operations ideally ought to be sufficiently positive to 
permit a degree of internal growth without constant recourse to external 
financing. However some products are inherently cash consumers (consider 
the continuing investment which is demanded by stocks of maturing scotch 
whisky, for example) whilst some are inherently cash generators (consider 
a supermarket for example which sells quickly for cash and pays slowly on 
credit). This aspect of operations presents an interesting problem of strategic 
business mix to many organizations. 

2. Liquidity 

A widely held view is that the current ratio should be at least 2 :1 , indeed 
it has been referred to as the " two to one ra t io" . This is misleading because 
different business environments may require more or less than this. 
However, it is not unreasonable to expect at least 1:1 in the acid test ratio. 

3. Financial structure 

What is a desirable debt/equity ratio for any company depends very much 
upon the risk preference of the board of directors . . . but in the ultimate 
no company can borrow more than the lender is prepared to lend! At the 
time of writing debt/equity ratios in the U.K. and the U.S .A. tend not to 
go beyond 50 percent to 60 percent but in the rest of Western Europe they 
tend to be somewhat higher whilst in Australia and the Far East they tend 
to be considerably higher. 
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Interest cover ought to be quite high for safety and a multiple of between 
5 and 10 would not be considered excessive. 

4. Shareholder Satisfaction 

Acceptable dividends, dividend growth, dividend cover, dividend yield, 
EPS and P / E ratios can only be determined by comparison with other 
investment opportunities. The Financial Times or similar publication 
provides such a basis of comparison on a daily basis within classified 
industrial grouping. Brokers and other institutions also provide share 
information services. 

Typical Products Ltd. Review 

We have now read the published accounts of Typical Products Ltd.; what 
story have they told? 

Beginning with the Profit and Loss Account, we see that sales of the 
Group increased by 73 percent from £2025 last year to £3500 this year but 
that operating profit increased by only 37 percent from £123 last year to 
£168 this year. Of this £168, interest absorbed £26, taxation £58 and, £2 
belonged to minority interests in subsidiaries. This left £82 attributable to 
shareholders, an increase of £17 on last year; out of this a dividend of 13 · 2p 
on the ordinary shares is proposed, compared with l i p last year. The 
balance of profits, £19 this year against £34 last year, goes to swell reserves, 
i.e. is "ploughed back" . 

So far as operations are concerned, the year has seen a tremendous 
increase in sales but this was achieved at lower margins. This expansion must 
have required additional capital and the increased charge for depreciation 
(£38 against £13) indicates substantial acquisitions of assets. The balance 
sheet will indicate the source of this necessary additional finance. 

The proport ion of profits distributed as dividend has increased (i.e. the 
dividend cover has been reduced)—the rate of ordinary dividend was 
increased despite the reduction in profitability. This may indicate a more 
liberal dividend policy on the part of the directors, who perhaps feel that 
it is no longer necessary to plough back such a large proport ion of profits 
for expansion purposes. 

Turning to the Balance Sheet we notice signs of the expansion which has 
taken place. Total assets less current liabilities have increased by 55 percent 
from £594 to £920 but it is interesting to note that tangible fixed assets 
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account for only £168 of the increase; additional stock of £441 and debtors 
of £357 were also necessary to help promote the expansion. This position 
is confirmed by the Statement of Source and Application of Funds , which 
also reminds us that the necessary finance comes mainly from three sources: 

1. Additional credit was obtained from suppliers—-£412. 
2. Additional £1 shares were issued at £1.50, producing £300. 
3. The balance at bank was run down and overdraft facilities of £190 were 

created. 

One wonders whether the £300 from additional shares was sufficient 
because the liquid position is now under severe strain, the quick ratio being 
less than unity. Furthermore, the owners have now less than 50 percent 
financial stake in the business, creditors and bank overdraft are providing 
almost the same amount between them. It would appear that the company 
would be in a healthier position if more permanent capital were available. 
However, if the future profits are expected to be much higher than this year, 
the directors may be hoping to reduce the reliance upon bank and creditors 
by using future ploughed-back profits as a source of finance—yet this is 
hardly borne out by the current dividend policy. 

Net operating assets, at their enhanced amount this year, have not been 
employed as efficiently as last year; the main reason for this is the dispro-
portionate increase in amount of stock and debtors. The rate of turnover 
of stock has slowed down whilst the average collection period for debtors 
has increased—both unwelcome trends. (But beware: in this case the trend 
in these two measures may be misleading: much depends on when the sales 
expansion took place. If the expansion got under way late in the year, stock 
and debtors at the year end are clearly representative of a higher annual 
rate of sales than this year's total sales of £3500. The comparison undertaken 
for this year on pages 97-98 would then be invalid until an annual rate of 
sales were substituted for the actual sales figure.) 

To sum up . . . Typical Products Ltd. has expanded rapidly, almost 
doubling its sales within 12 months , and to finance this expansion, £300 
was raised from shareholders. Substantial acquisition of property and plant 
was made but the increased level of activity also demanded increased 
working capital. Perhaps the £300 was insufficient because the liquid 
position is now under severe strain and recourse has been made to the bank 
for substantial overdraft facilities. Profitability at the new level of activity 
is lower than at the old, and although the ordinary dividend has been 
increased slightly, the cover is reduced. 
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This very brief financial appraisal relates the more obvious points revealed 
by the figures contained in this set of published accounts which have been 
produced on the historical cost convention and therefore ignore inflation. 
However, a financial appraisal can be only one of the many pieces of 
information required to make a decision on this company. Other necessary 
information would include details of the expansion which has taken place, 
the nature of the company's business activities, its future prospects and the 
calibre of its management . These and other vital pieces of non-financial 
information must be obtained before the picture of Typical Products Ltd. 
is complete. 

But Beware . . . 

The final word on the subject must be one of repeated caution. All the 
ratios which have been used as the basis for our financial evaluation of 
Typical Products Ltd. have been calculated from the balance sheet and 
profit and loss account. Two observations are relevant: 

1. The balance sheet represents the financial position at the year end (and 
may have been carefully "window dressed" for the occasion). What did it 
look like on the other 364 days in the year and could this have coloured our 
views? 

2. Does the profit and loss account represent a normal year and is it 
reasonable to assume that the figures accumulated at a steady rate through-
out the year? The large piece in parenthesis three paragraphs above (But 
beware: . . . ) is worth reiterating in the case of Typical Products Ltd. which 
has had a most unusual year of growth. 



C H A P T E R 12 

Structured Use of Financial Ratios 

I N T H E preceding chapter we reviewed some of the financial ratios which 
could be calculated for Typical Products Ltd. and several times made 
reference to the possibility of calculating more had more data been available. 
How many ratios do you need and how can you pick your way through 
them? This is the topic to which we address our attention in this chapter. 

Interrelationship Between Ratios 

Financial ratio analysis aims to provide a useful, if sometimes rough, 
analytical tool which can be used for diagnosis, planning and control of 
business performance. But eventually a considerable number of ratios could 
be computed and tabulated thereby creating for the reader a real danger 
of utter confusion. The way to overcome this is to look for cause and effect 
relationships between ratios: in this way it is possible to pick a route through 
ratios in a logical progression which follows orders of priorities or chains 
of events. 

A good example of interrelationship and progression was developed 
between pages 92 and 93 where we observed an interrelationship between 
three ratios as follows: 

Operating profit Operating profit Sales 
RONA i.e. = χ 

Net operating assets Sales Net operating assets 

The first ratio is a compound of the other two; therefore changes in the first 
would be explained by changes in the other two. Similarly if we now wished 
to explain changes in the operating profit to sales ratio we would look for 
a small number of major income/expenditure ratios, each of which would 
then be explained by a further sequence of ratios and so on. Similarly 
changes in the third ratio above would be explained by a sequence of asset 
n o 
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Operating profit 
I. RONA 

Net operating assets 

ι ' 1 

Operating profit Sales 

Sales Net operating assets 

Because there are only two types of net operating assets, namely fixed assets 
and working capital, ratio 3 is explained as follows: 

Sales 
Net operating assets 

Sales + 32 Sales 
Fixed assets ' Working capital 

and ratio 3 · 2 is obviously explained by the stock turnover ratio, the debtors 
to sales ratio and the creditors to purchases ratio because stocks, debtors 
and creditors are the three elements of working capital. 

Eventually the whole thing can be put together into one pyramid, each 

productivity ratios again following a logical progression of cause and effect 
relationship. 

Pyramid Presentation 

This logical progression is aided by the manner in which ratios are 
presented. A useful schematic concept is to think of ratios in the form of 
a pyramid structure or "fault-finding char t" . The fault-finding pyramid 
concept is used in many technical situations where it is necessary to get to 
the root of a problem quickly; examples are in the control of a piece of 
process plant or the operation of a motor car: if the thing does not work 
correctly it is sensible to progress through a logical sequence of interrelated 
cause-and-effect steps until the trouble spot is located. 

Applying this concept to financial ratio analysis we could begin a pyramid 
with the three ratios referred to above as follows: 
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successive line of which explains the movement in the line above. An 
example of such a completed pyramid appears on page 113. Some of the 
expressions used there below ratio 2 will not be explained until Chapter 14 
but are included at this stage for completeness. 

Variations on the Theme 

The pyramid on page 113 is an example only of the concept, not 
necessarily the one possible method of presentation. In particular the 
following variations might appeal to the reader: 

1. If it is felt that operating management is better measured against their 
use of total operating assets then this would appear as the denominator of 
ratios 1 and 3 instead of net operating assets. The denominator of 3 - 2 would 
then become current assets and ratio 3-2-3 would disappear. 

2. Chapter 7 made the point that sales might not be a valid measure of 
activity. In this case the substitution of value added for sales throughout 
the pyramid might be more meaningful. 

3. If the concept of a velocity, or turnover ratio is difficult to grasp, ratio 
3 could be amended to reflect instead net operating assets as percent of sales; 
e.g. instead of saying that the sales to net operating assets ratio is 4, one 
would say that net operating assets are 25 percent of sales—and so on down 
the right-hand side of the pyramid on page 113. 

4. The pyramid could be drafted to progress horizontally across the page 
instead of vertically down the page. 

Application to Typical Products Ltd. 

As a demonstration of this structured approach to financial ratio analysis, 
a financial fault finding chart for Typical Products Ltd. , employing 
variation 3 above, appears on page 114 using the ratios developed in the 
previous chapter. Note how the decline in R O N A is sequentially explained 
by successive lines on the chart: control of stocks and debtors eventually 
emerge as the chief culprits. 
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Pyramid of ratios revealing the financial performance 
of operating management in Typical Products Ltd. 

RONA : 
Operating profit 

Net operating assets 

Last This 
year year 

1 2 1 . 6 % 
I 4 . 9 % | 

Operating profit 

Sales 

|~4~8%1 

Sales 

6 . 1 % 

ι 
Contribution Sales 

I no data avai lable here) 

Overheads 

Sales 

Net operating assets 

I 3.5 χ J 3~T7~| 

i.e. velocity ra t io 
I 

or as a percentage 

Net operat ing assets 

Sales 

2 8 . 5 % 3 2 . 3 % 

Fixed assets 

Sales 

I I 2 . 9 % | 1 2 . 3 % ] 

Working capital 

Sales 

1 5 . 6 % 2 0 % 

Stocks 

Sales 

1 1 2 . 9 % I 2 0 % 

Trade 
debtors 

Sales 

I 2 . 5 % | I 7 . 5 % | 

Trade 
creditors 

Sales 

9 . 9 % J 1 7 . 5 % ] 

Diagnosis; Planning; Control 

Once the pyramid structure is grasped, it forms a useful framework not 
only for diagnosing financial troubles but also for planning and for control. 
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For instance, if management wishes to improve R O N A by 5 percent, what 
does this imply for all the ratios down the line; what are the interrelation-
ships, the trade-offs, the practical possibilities? Similarly what are the most 
significant items to keep under close control down the pyramid to prevent 
a deterioration working its way to the top? 

The concept also aids financial analysis via interdivision or interfirm 
comparison. If ratios between comparable units are compiled on a consistent 
basis and structured in the fault finding pyramid concept, much can be 
learned of the comparative strengths and weaknesses of each unit. A number 
of organizations offer such schemes of interfirm comparison; the major 
problem to be overcome is that of ensuring genuine comparability both 
between the basis of computat ion of the ratios used and between the firms 
being compared. 

The last word on the subject must again be that financial ratio analysis 
should never be seen as an end in itself but only one aspect of that data which 
is necessary to guide a firm towards improved performance, growth and 
stability. 

Shareholder Satisfaction 

Thus far we have concentrated our attention on operating management 's 
performance. The pyramid concept can be applied equally to ratios 
calculated in respect of shareholder satisfaction and the pyramid reproduced 
below is a simplified example of how this might be done. Notice that all 
ratios are ultimately interrelated because the top of the pyramid on page 
113 slots into the bot tom of the pyramid below. 

Pyramid of ratios revealing financial performance of an investment inordinary shares 

ROE 

Prof it attributable 
to shareholders 

Equity interest 
I 

Market price of an equity (ordinary ) share 
, I . 

. EPS P/E ratio 

Profit before taxation 
Equity interest 

, I 

Operating profit 
Net operating assets 

* 
Then as page 

113 

Tax rate 
suffered 

Impact 
of gearing 

(debt equity ratio) 
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Principles of Absorption Cost 
Accounting 

C H A P T E R ι outlined the twin fields of accounting. Financial accounting has 
already been considered in some detail and now the field of management 
accounting will be explored. 

Deficiency of Annual Accounts 

Financial accounting is geared to the ultimate preparation of annual 
accounts which are an indispensable aid to an appreciation of the financial 
position of a business. However, as an aid to day-to-day management, they 
present two serious disadvantages: 

1 . They are historical. If the situation is bad, corrective action should be 
taken by management long before annual accounts are prepared (in fact 
management often produces a profit and loss account and balance sheet 
more frequently than once per year—ideally monthly). 

2. They are global. Management is concerned with detailed, or segmental, 
operating results of each aspect of business activities in addition to the 
overall position revealed by annual accounts. 

Consider the following simplified profit statement of a firm selling three 
products: 

Sales 
Operating expenses 

£ 
2,000 
1,600 

Operating profit £400 

116 
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An operating profit to sales ratio of 20 percent may appear reasonable, but 
a different picture is obtained if an analysis of the figures is available: 

Total Product analysis 
as above A Β C 

£ £ £ £ 
Sales 2,000 800 700 500 
Operating expenses 1,600 400 900 300 

Operating profit £400 £400 £(200) £200 

Product Β is heavily subsidized by products A and C. This may be unavoid-
able or even established policy (discussed more fully in the next chapter), 
but if the information is available, management is at least made aware of 
the situation and is then able to take whatever action it can. 

Clearly there is need for something additional to financial accounts if 
management is to make the best use of its accounting service. This need is 
filled by management accounting (or cost accounting), which provides up-
to-date accounting information on the detailed operating results of 
individual jobs , products , processes, departments or any other segment of 
business activities. 

Segmental Profit 

For purposes of illustration in this chapter let us assume that management 
is interested in the operating profit of individual jobs and in particular of 
job 616, an engineering product . 

How may this profit be ascertained? Every item of operating expense 
incurred by the firm could be considered, those relating to job 616 added 
together and the difference between the total thus obtained and the selling 
price of the job would be the operating profit. This requires a tremendous 
feat of analysis and is impracticable, however desirable it may be. To cut 
down the work involved, certain short cuts are adopted in practice, although 
the basic object is still to add together all items of expense relevant to job 616. 

Direct Expense 

The first step is to separate, evaluate and add together those items which 
can be related conveniently and directly to the job . These items are of three 
types and will be obtained as indicated: 
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1. Direct labour. Productive labour hours directly employed on this job 
are obtained from time sheets or job cards completed by operatives and 
priced at the appropriate wage rate. 

2. Direct material. Quantities of material directly used on this job are 
obtained from stores requisitions, material specifications or other stores 
documentation and priced at the appropriate price of the material used. 

3. Direct expenses. Any other expenditure incurred specifically for this 
job—for example, special tools or hire of special equipment—is obtained 
from relevant invoices or receipted accounts. 

Only operatives directly working on the conversion of direct material into 
the finished product can be regarded as direct labour. All other labour is 
classified as "indirect labour" and will be included in indirect expenses (see 
below). Similarly, only material which can be directly identified with a 
particular job is regarded as direct. All other material is classified as 
"indirect material" and is also included in indirect expenses. 

Furthermore, only those items which can be related conveniently to a job 
are regarded as direct items. Somewhere in job 616 there may be a touch 
of grease, taken from a drum issued from stores for general use in an 
assembly shop: it would be impracticable to attempt to assess the cost of 
this touch of grease, even though it has been directly used on the j ob . Such 
material would, for convenience, be regarded as indirect. 

The total of direct items is also referred to as the prime cost of a job . 

Indirect Expense (Overheads) 

After dealing with the direct expense, there remains a large volume of 
expenditure which cannot be related directly to a particular job because it 
is incurred generally for the benefit of all jobs . Within this group would 
be included such items as general shop-floor labour, supervision, materials 
which cannot be related directly to a j ob , management salaries, heat, light, 
power, depreciation and general establishment charges. These are termed 
indirect expenses or overheads. 

A big problem now is to decide what proport ion of overhead shall be 
included in the cost of job 616—or, to introduce further technical terms, 
what proport ion of overhead shall be absorbed by, or recovered by, job 
616. A simple solution is to add some percentage, based on past experience, 
to prime cost. An analysis of operating expenses charged in last year's profit 
and loss account, for example, might reveal the following: 
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£ 
Direct expenses 1,233 
Overheads 3,699 

Total operating expenses £4,932 

Overhead is thus 300 percent of direct expenses, which could be used as a 
basis for overhead absorption as follows: 

Job A Job Β 
£ £ 

Direct labour 50 50 
Direct material 100 100 

Prime cost 150 150 
Overhead 300% 450 450 

Total cost £600 £600 

Job A was carried out by a skilled man , whose wage rate is £20 per hour , 
working on an expensive machine for 10 hours and using 50 kilos of material 
costing £10 per kilo. Job Β is a dissimilar j ob which was carried out by an 
apprentice, whose wage rate is £2 per hour , working on a small machine 
for 50 hours; he spoilt the job once and had to start all over again and, in 
all, he used 1000 kilos of material costing 10p per kilo. 

In the light of all the facts, is it reasonable that both jobs should bear 
the same amount of overhead? Surely not: the flat percentage method of 
absorption has avoided the true incidence of overhead by ignoring two vital 
facts: 

1. Overhead is not incurred uniformly throughout the firm: some sections 
are more expensive to operate than others. 

2. A large part of overhead is incurred in relation to the passage of time; 
the longer a j ob takes, the greater should be the overhead absorption. 

Therefore, a method of absorption must be found which acknowledges 
these facts. 

Analysis of Overhead 

Overhead must be absorbed not in one but in several stages in order to 
accord with fact No . 1 above and to get away from the global approach. 
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For this reason, overhead is analysed into a small number of groups which 
correspond to the main sections of activity within the firm. Each group of 
overhead is then absorbed separately into the cost of the j o b . 

The groups selected will be determined by the organization of the firm 
and by the nature of business carried on, but a common selection is: 
production overhead, administration overhead, selling overhead and 
distribution overhead. Each item of expense forming part of the overhead 
must be allocated primarily to one of these groups or, where necessary, 
analysed between two or more (as in the case of rent: that proport ion 
attributable to the works is production overhead, whereas that attributable 
to showrooms is selling overhead and so on). 

Absorption of Production Overhead 

Production overhead is that part of overhead which is incurred in 
operating the production departments (e.g. general shop floor labour; 
supervision; rent, rates, heat and light of factory areas; depreciation of 
productive plant and machinery). It must be absorbed by the jobs which 
are passing through the production departments whilst the overhead is being 
incurred; moreover, the basis of absorption selected must take account of 
the passage of time. All this can be achieved by calculating an hourly rate 
of production overhead and each job will then absorb its share of production 
overhead by applying this hourly rate to the number of hours the job spends 
in production. The hourly rate will be calculated by applying the formula: 

estimate of production overhead to be incurred in any period 

estimate of hours of production in same period 

However, this method of absorption, whilst taking account of the passage 
of time, ignores the other vital fact: that overhead is not incurred uniformly 
throughout the firm. It is obviously inequitable to charge the same amount 
of production overhead to a job engaging a hand operation for 10 hours 
as to a job engaging a costly precision machine for 10 hours . This problem 
is overcome in practice by calculating separate production overhead 
absorption rates (cost rates for short) for each section of production activity, 
each machine if necessary, instead of the one global rate referred to above. 
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Cost Rates 

Calculation of cost rates resolves itself into six distinct stages: 

1. Estimate of production overhead. A detailed estimate is built up item 
by item for the period under review. 

2. Allocation to departments. Product ion overhead estimated under 1 
is allocated, on varying bases, according to the nature of each individual 
item of expense, over the various departments in the works. Distinction is 
drawn between production departments (where the work is actually 
produced) and service departments (auxiliary departments , such as boiler 
house and maintenance, which provide a service for the production 
departments) . 

3. Reallocation of service department cost. The total overhead allocated 
to each service department under 2 is reallocated to production departments 
in proport ion to the amount of service rendered by the service department 
to each production department . 

4. Allocation to cost centres. Because production overhead is not even 
incurred uniformly th roughout the product ion depar tment , each 
department is further subdivided into cost centres. A cost centre is the 
smallest production unit to which costs can conveniently be allocated and 
within which there is homogeneity of production method. Thus a cost centre 
may consist of one machine, or a group of similar machines, or a collection 
of hand labour performing similar tasks. The total overhead allocated to 
each production department under 2 and 3 is now further allocated, on 
similar bases, to cost centres within each production department. 

5. Estimate of production hours. An estimate is made of the hours to be 
spent on production in each cost centre during the period under review. Note 
that it is the hours to be spent on production which must be estimated, i.e. 
after anticipating holidays, waiting t ime, breakdowns and other unpro-
ductive t ime. 

6. Calculation of cost rates. For each cost centre, the estimated overhead 
from 4 is divided by the estimated hours from 5 to arrive at an hourly 
production overhead absorption rate . 

It will be apparent from the above (particularly from the vital steps 1 and 
5) that a cost rate is an estimate prepared in advance of a defined period 
of time for use during that period of time. 

Product ion overhead will now be absorbed cost centre by cost centre 
instead of globally, as first suggested on page 120. For example, if job 616 
has spent 4 hours in cost centre 106, 2 hours in cost centre 207 and 5 hours 
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which are adopted in practice. 

Suggested basis Suitable for 

Proportionate to effective floor 
space occupied 

Proportionate to number of 
employees 

Proportionate to number of 
hours worked 

Technical estimate or past 
experience 

Rent, rates and upkeep of build-
ings, lighting* and heating* 

Canteen, welfare, time keepers, 
supervision 

Sundry small items 

Maintenance, internal transport 
and other services, works 
management 

* If actual metered consumption per department is not available. 

in 210, the amount of production overhead absorbed is: 4 χ hourly cost 
rate for cost centre 106, plus 2 χ rate for 207, plus 5 χ rate for 210. 

The number of hours a job spends in each cost centre will already be 
available, because this information has been ascertained previously for the 
purposes of charging direct labour to the j ob . A single cost rate incorpo-
rating both direct labour and production overhead is commonly used in 
practice to avoid the necessity of performing two multiplications using the 
same multiplier. 

Production Overhead Allocation 

Before going on to consider absorption of the other groups of overhead, 
a digression will be made into the bases of allocation employed at stages 
2, 3 and 4 in the calculation of cost rates. 

The main object is to ensure that the allocation, as near as possible, 
reflects the facts. An actual basis must therefore be used wherever possible: 
for example, depreciation and power of machines can be allocated directly 
to the appropriate cost centre; wages of a labourer can be allocated directly 
to the department within which he works; boiler fuel is a cost of operating 
the boiler house and will be allocated direct to that service department . 
However, there will remain a large number of items which cannot be 
allocated directly to a particular department or cost centre; some equitable 
basis of apport ionment must be adopted for these items which will reflect 
the estimated benefit derived by each department or cost centre. A few 
examples are tabulated below to indicate the various bases of apportionment 
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Cost of Production 

This is the term applied to that stage in cost ascertainment which reflects 
the accumulated cost of the product coming off the shop floor, i.e. prime 
cost plus production overhead. 

Absorption of Administration Overhead 

Administration overhead includes general office salaries, postage and 
stationery, rent, rates, heat and light of office area, office cleaning and 
depreciation and maintenance of office equipment. 

A considerable amount of cold water was poured on the flat percentage 
method of overhead absorption in earlier pages, and yet it is this very 
method which is most often used for absorption of that part of overhead 
incurred in general administration. The percentage which is adopted is 
usually applied to cost of production. Those in favour of this method argue 
that the administrative machinery is maintained to administer the 
production processes, and so the higher the cost of production, the higher 
should be the cost of administration. The ready acceptance of this method 
dates from the time when administration overhead was of negligible amount 
compared with the cost of product ion: any more elaborate method of 
absorption would have cost too much to administer in relationship to the 
benefits to be derived. 

However, the weight of administration overhead is growing in modern 
business as sophisticated control techniques are developed, computers are 
employed and automation in the factory creates fewer jobs for shop-floor 
workers and more jobs for salaried technicians. The time is overdue when 
a more equitable basis of absorption must be found for administration 
overhead: the reader is invited to ponder the problem. 

It may well be impossible to select an equitable basis of absorption for 
the bulk of administration overhead, but this is no excuse for not seriously 
considering the problem. Perhaps the answer is to shift the emphasis from 
absorption to control. Is the particular element of administration overhead 
really necessary? Is value for money being obtained? These questions will 
be considered further in Chapter 15 under the heading of budgetary control. 

Forms which can be used to assist in allocating production overhead and 
in calculating cost rates are reproduced on pages 124 and 125. 
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Absorption of Selling Overhead 

This is also a difficult problem, dealing as it does with such items as 
advertising, salaries, commission and expenses of sales force, rent, rates, 
heat, light and upkeep of showrooms. How can this be related to the cost 
of a particular job or product when there is no direct relationship between 
the amount of selling effort required and the ultimate sale achieved? Many 
long and expensive visits may be made which produce nothing and yet a 
brief telephone inquiry may bring home a large order. 

If the efforts of certain parts of the sales force are devoted to selling a 
particular product group, a primary allocation of selling overhead should 
be made to that product group. Similarly the cost of a special advertising 
campaign or sales drive for the benefit of one product would be allocated 
to that product . However, absorption into the cost of a job still remains 
a problem which again is often solved by applying a percentage, calculated 
separately for each product group, to sales value or cost of production. 

Attention was drawn above to the problem posed by the growing weight 
of administration overhead in modern business. Selling overhead is growing 
even faster as, over the years, there has been an increasing recognition of 
the importance of the marketing aspects of a business organization. 

With the emergence of an increasingly developed and complex economy 
due to a vast increase in the number of firms competing in the same markets, 
businessmen have been forced, to a greater or lesser extent, to change their 
philosophy from "we must sell what we can make" to "we must make what 
we can sell". The implication is that whoever satisfies best the demands of 
the market will be most successful. Thus more time, effort and money have 
been spent on ascertaining the needs of the market and this has resulted in 
a variety of specialist marketing functions such as market research, 
motivation research, advertising (press, poster, TV, cinema, magazines, 
etc.) and sales promotion. No longer, in the present state of intense 
competition, will "the world beat a path to the door of the man who makes 
a better mouset rap" (to paraphrase Emerson). Manufacturers must now 
distinguish their product from a host of others in the eyes of the consuming 
public and, increasingly as more nations become industrialized, in the eyes 
of industrial goods users also. 

A most significant recent trend indicates that it is becoming increasingly 
less profitable to indulge in a constant battle to maintain or improve one's 
market position. Thus there is emerging a philosophy of regular 
introduction of new products in the hope that during the first year or two 
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of the sales life of the product the innovating firm will have a virtual 
monopoly—since it takes that length of time for competitors successfully 
to launch a competing product . In this way the innovating firm will reap 
the "monopoly profit". When strong competition arises, the time has come 
to introduce another product and so on—always striving to keep ahead of 
the market. Perhaps the following diagram more adequately describes this 
product life cycle: 

Therefore in addition to increasing marketing costs there is an increasing 
amount spent on research and development to ensure that the firm stays 
one j ump ahead by always having a "new" product in the pipeline ready 
for the market . Whether research and development cost are properly 
regarded as part of selling overhead or of production overhead or treated 
separately is a matter of opinion—the problem of absorption remains. 

The general field of selling overhead therefore embraces expenditures 
which are increasing at a relatively stupendous rate in many industries. By 
their very weight they thus require a treatment different from the time-
honoured percentage absorption approach. Certainly more direct bases of 
absorption must be used but, as with administration overhead, perhaps the 
answer is partly to shift the emphasis from absorption to control. Again 
the questions—is the expenditure really necessary?, is value for money being 
obtained? Certain control techniques are considered in Chapter 15. 
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Absorption of Distribution Overhead 

Yet another costly area of the burden of overhead is that of distribution, 
which includes packing, freight, transit insurance and upkeep of despatch 
warehouse and transport department. Distribution will normally be peculiar 
to a particular job or product and it should therefore be possible to calculate 
a reasonably accurate charge per item as a basis of absorption of this group 
of overhead. 

Total Absorbed Cost 

This term refers to the grand total of all direct and absorbed costs and, 
when compared to selling price, the profit or loss on the job is revealed. 
A cost sheet is used in practice to accumulate all these items of cost. A 
specimen cost sheet is not reproduced because the layout depends so much 
on the nature of the business carried on, but the chart on page 128 summa-
rizes the routine for ascertaining total cost and profit of any particular job . 
The chart also shows the relationship between the various technical terms 
introduced in this chapter. 

A I B A M -J 
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Principles of Marginal Costing 

A M A N A G I N G director may turn to his works manager and ask, "What are 
the dimensions of job 616?" The works manager 's reply will be accurate 
to within certain clearly defined tolerances of measurement. If the managing 
director then asks his cost accountant, "What is the cost of job 616?", there 
is great danger that the managing director will assume that the reply given 
possesses the same degree of accuracy as the works manager 's reply—which 
of course it does not . 

Accurate Cost? 

How reliable is a figure of cost? Before answering, the question must be 
put more specifically: which cost is required—prime cost, cost of produc-
tion, total absorbed cost, or what? Prime cost should be reasonably reliable 
within the limitation of using money as a means of evaluation, whereas cost 
of production and total absorbed cost are not so reliable. 

Reflect for a moment on the chart on page 128 and consider how many 
estimates, opinions, allocations, apportionments and, of necessity, inspired 
guesses have gone into the ascertainment of cost of production and total 
absorbed cost. The cumulative effect of all these canhot possibly produce 
an "accurate cost" and it is vital to bear this in mind always when dealing 
with this type of information. Any segmental cost is useful as a guide and 
as a means of comparison and it must always be treated with the utmost 
respect. 

Accurate Profit? 

Blind reliance upon costing figures has sometimes been the cause of 
business failure. Once one has assumed that costing figures are "accurate", 
it is but a short step to assume that if the costing figures reveal a reasonable 

130 
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profit on each job , the year-end profit will similarly be reasonable: indeed, 
the total of all the profits made on individual jobs should equal the operating 
profit eventually shown in the profit and loss account. This assumption is 
also unfounded. 

There are two main reasons why the total of all the profits made on 
individual jobs (costing profit) might not agree with the operating profit 
revealed by the profit and loss account (financial profit): 

1. For domestic or political reasons, certain items of expense may be 
excluded from the costing figures (e.g. research expenditure); on the other 
hand notional items of expense may be included in the costing figures (e.g. 
internal rental or interest charges) which do not appear in the financial 
figures. As this is a policy decision, management is fully aware that the 
ultimate financial profit will be costing profit plus or minus these items and 
this will be taken into account when determining the profit margin for 
individual jobs . 

2. Over-and under-absorption of overhead. This is the aspect of the 
problem which can prove fatal to a business if management is not kept 
informed of its extent. 

Under-absorption of Overhead 

Certain estimates were made in compiling overhead absorption rates. If 
the estimates prove correct, the actual overhead incurred will be fully 
absorbed in the cost of completed jobs; if the estimates prove incorrect, there 
will be either an over- or an under-absorption of overhead. Consider the 
following example: 

In this example, overhead absorbed will be 500 hours @ £1.50 or £750 whilst 
the actual overhead is £1000: an under-absorption of £250. Costing profit 
will thus be overstated by £250. This example is over simplified in that one 
overhead absorption rate has been used. When all the stages of overhead 
absorption noted in the chart on page 128 are in use, each stage requires 
estimates to be made and each estimate may be wrong. Thus the situation 

Estimate of overhead 
Estimate of hours of production 
Overhead absorption rate 

£1500 
1000 hours 
£1.50 per hour 

Actual overhead 
Actual hours of production 

£1000 
500 hours 
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is infinitely complex in practice but is vitally important in view of the danger 
of believing that profits are being earned when in fact the business is making 
a loss—a fool's paradise indeed. 

There is, of course, the other side to the coin: it is possible to over-absorb. 
Management is no less concerned with this state of affairs, which may have 
an important bearing on pricing policy. 

Reconciliation of Profit 

A special exercise should be carried out frequently, say once a month , 
reconciling the financial profit with the costing profit and bringing out the 
reasons for any disparity. It must not be assumed that costing is a waste 
of time because this reconciliation is necessary. Indeed this exercise adds 
to the value of the costing service by indicating its tolerances of accuracy 
and, by making minor adjustments, the value of the service as a 
management aid is greatly enhanced. 

Fixed and Variable Expenses 

One of the causes of under-absorption is that when hours of production 
are reduced, overhead does not necessarily reduce in the same proport ion. 
This is because some expenses are fixed and some are variable. 

Fixed expenses are those which tend to remain fixed, irrespective of 
variations in volume of output—e.g. rent, rates, salaries, depreciation. 
Sometimes referred to as period costs or policy costs. 

Variable expenses are those which tend to vary directly with variations 
in volume of output—e.g. power, consumable stores, all direct material. 
Sometimes referred to as direct costs or marginal costs. 

Fixed expenses are thus related to a period of time irrespective of volume 
of output whilst variable expenses are related to volume of output irres-
pective of time. Observe the use of the word " tends" in the above 
definitions. One cannot dogmatize and state categorically that this item is 
always fixed and that is always variable. Indeed, in the short run everything 
may well be fixed (can labour and materials be disposed of at a moment ' s 
notice?) but in the long run everything is variable (as when all expense is 
terminated by closing down the business). An item may be fixed under 
certain circumstances but variable under others. For example, works super-
vision is normally fixed irrespective of variations in volume of output . 
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However, if a variation in output entails the acquisition of further 
manufacturing capacity or the introduction of shift working, an increase 
in supervision will be necessary. Under these circumstances works 
supervision ceases to be fixed at the base level. Some accountants widen 
the classification by also grouping expense under terms such as semi-
variable, semi-fixed or stepped, indicating that whilst there is variation, it 
is not related directly to variation in volume of output . 

This book will not dwell on fine academic points: all that is required of 
the reader for an appreciation of what follows is a general understanding 
of the fundamental distinction between fixed and variable expenses. 

Significance of Volume 

Absorption rates for overhead are compiled for an estimated volume of 
output . It is therefore apparent that if there is a significant variation from 
that estimate the rates will become unrealistic. Furthermore, when there 
is a substantial amount of fixed expense, any significant variation in volume 
of output will have a significant effect upon total unit cost: the higher the 
volume, the lower the fixed expense per unit of output . . . and vice versa. 

For example, a firm with fixed expenses of £100 and variable expenses 
of £1 per unit will be affected by variations in volume as follows: 

Output in units 10 20 100 

£ £ £ 
Fixed expenses 100 100 100 
Variable expenses 10 20 100 

Total expenses £110 £120 £200 

Cost per unit £11 £6 £2 

This simple matter plays an important part in guiding management 
decisions: 

Picture the scene: the marketing manager is about to make an important 
pricing decision and therefore asks the cost accountant "What is the cost 
of this p roduc t?" ; "Anything from £11 to £2" comes his reply, quickly 
adding "Provided that there has been no error in any of the many estimates 
and opinions underlying the several bases of allocation and absorption of 
overhead which have been used." 
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The Argument for Marginal Costing 

What price absorption costing as a basis for guiding management 
decisions of the type just exemplified? Consider the following arguments: 

1. Management decisions, as far as possible, should be guided by fact 
rather than by opinion. 

2. An absorbed cost of necessity must be a mixture of fact (mainly in the 
direct cost area) and of opinion (mainly in the allocation and absorption 
of overhead). 

3. The proport ion of overhead, and therefore of opinion, in total 
absorbed costs tends to grow over time and as a business develops, thereby 
aggravating the problem. 

4. Many cost accountants are burning midnight oil in the compilation 
of absorption cost rates and total absorbed costs which subsequently might 
be of little practical assistance to management decision making. 

These rather powerful arguments are used by the advocates of marginal 
(or direct) costing, the essential elements of which can be summarized as 
follows: 

1. it tries to stick to facts and avoid the need to express opinions; 

2. it tries to avoid the need to allocate or absorb overhead; 

3. it sees operating profit not so much as sales minus operating expenses 
but as a two-stage process: 

(a) sales minus direct expenses equals contribution, sometimes 
referred to as gross margin, or margin 

(b) contribution minus overheads equals operating profit; 

4. segmental analysis is taken only as far as contribution, not all the way 
down to operating profit. 

The tables on page 135 summarize the difference in approach between 
absorption and marginal costing. The most significant attribute of marginal 
costing is that it sees operating profit as the difference between contribution 
and overheads, i.e. there are only two routes to the creation of operating 
profit: 

either increase contribution, 
or reduce overheads 

There are several ways of doing each of these, of course, but broadly 
speaking increasing contribution or reducing overheads are the only things 
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that can be done to create operating profit. (No amount of reallocation of 
overhead will create real operating profit.) At this stage the reader is invited 
to return to page 113: the logic of structuring the left-hand side of the 
financial fault-finding chart below ratio no . 2 is perhaps now apparent; no 
explanation was given at the time. 

Use of Marginal Costing 

Marginal costing is generally seen as being most appropriate in the 
guidance of management decisions. If we accept that the only two routes 
to the creation of operating profit are an increase in contribution or a 
reduction in overheads, it follows that marginal costing is more appropriate 
in the guidance of management decisions because it highlights the impact 
of the decision upon these two elements. We will return to this matter in 
the next chapter but in the meantime a simple example will suffice. "The 
cost" (i.e. total absorbed cost) of an item is £10 and the best price obtainable 
in the market-place is £8. Should the opportunity to sell be accepted or 
rejected? Absorption costing might suggest rejection in the light of the £2 
" loss" . But suppose that this £10 total absorbed cost was made up of direct 
cost £7 and absorption of fixed overhead £3. In this case marginal costing 
might suggest acceptance because sale at £8 would at least create a 
contribution of £1 (£8-£7 direct cost) towards the totality of fixed overheads, 
i.e. contribution and therefore operating profit will be higher by £1 as a 
result of a sale at £8 than with no sale at all—unless of course overheads 
could be reduced by £1 if the sale were not made. 

Dangers of Marginal Costing 

Having put forward the arguments for marginal costing and against 
absorption costing it is perhaps fair to draw attention to the very real dangers 
in the uncontrolled use of marginal costing to guide management decisions. 

1. If the simple example above is taken to its illogical conclusion, 
everything will be sold at deep cut prices which, although producing a small 
contribution on each item sold, might not add up to the total overheads 
thereby encouraging a loss to develop. 

2. Acceptance of marginal business (i.e. that which is priced very low but 
still produces a contribution) might not be a good thing even though it does 
genuinely add to contribution because it may encourage more and more 
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similarly priced business, eventually pushing out the good until the situation 
at 1 is created. The object of the exercise must be to increase long-run 
operating profit—no one should become a busy fool. 

3. Business may in fact be obtained at a very good rate of contribution 
but not in sufficient volume to produce a total contribution sufficiently in 
excess of overheads to provide an acceptable level of operating profit. 

4. Contribution both in detail and in total may appear desirable in the 
light of a current target but in the meantime overheads may have escalated 
to a level higher than total contribution—again a negative operating profit. 

5. Marginal costing rests largely upon the concept of fixed and variable 
expense definition, but the point was made earlier in this chapter that no 
item of expense is either wholly fixed or wholly variable for all time and 
in all circumstances: therefore outdated marginal cost information might 
be even less valuable than absorption cost information. 

6. There are occasions (e.g. in costs plus pricing decisions) when total 
absorbed cost data is vital to management: on such occasions, marginal 
costing is of little value. 

Those who use marginal costing therefore must use it with care. 
Particularly if it is used as part of an ongoing costing system (as opposed 
to being used solely to guide ad hoc short-term management decisions) it 
must be supported by efficient budgetary control techniques designed to 
give early warning of the dangers listed above. 

Benefits of Costing 

In this chapter the limitations of cost accounting have been demonstrated. 
An attempt has also been made to show how these limitations, if recognized 
and revealed, can be used to make cost accounting of greater value as a tool 
of management control. However, in view of the stress which has been 
placed on these limitations it is appropriate to end this chapter with a list 
of the benefits one would expect to accrue from the costing service: 

1. Profitable and unprofitable segments of a business are disclosed. Steps 
can be taken to curtail unprofitable activities, or put them on to a profitable 
basis. 

2. Details of all items contributing to total cost of each segment are 
produced. This will indicate to management any sources of economy which 
may be effected due to inefficient use of labour, materials, machinery or 
equipment. 
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3. An efficient system of stores accounting is essential to the ascertainment 
of material costs. A more effective control over stocks is thus provided: 
obsolete and slow-moving stocks are brought to light and the amount of 
capital tied up in stocks and work in progress is kept to a minimum. 

4. Information is made available which will assist the reliable preparation 
of estimates and tenders. 

5. Data are made available from which useful comparisons may be 
drawn—for example, upon the relative efficiencies of different departments 
and the relative merits of making or buying certain components . 

6. Vital assistance is rendered in the preparation of annual accounts and 
it is possible to prepare accounts at much more frequent intervals. 

Intelligent utilization of the information obtained from the costing service 
is essential if the maximum benefit is to be obtained. A costing system, 
similarly to a financial accounting system, must be " ta i lor-made" to suit 
the requirements of each firm—it need not be an expensive system, but any 
expense of operating the system should be adequately justified by the 
benefits derived. 

Management accounting is an investment—the dividends paid thereon 
can be great indeed. 
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Accounting as an Aid to 
Management Planning and Control 

I N T H E previous chapter the limitations of cost accounting were 
demonstrated. An attempt was also made to show how these limitations, 
if recognized and revealed, can be harnessed to make management 
accounting of greater value as a tool of management control. This chapter 
will explore some management control techniques which have been 
developed from cost accounting. A further object of this chapter is to help 
the reader to appreciate that business accounting is not purely historical but 
has a vital role to play in current control and future planning of operations. 

Need for Planning and Control 

Any business activity must be planned. However, although all manage-
ments plan, there are considerable differences in the way they plan and the 
extent of their plans. The manager of the smallest business, having done 
his planning in his head, may keep all plan details in his head; others may 
perform rough calculations on the backs of used envelopes. 

As a business grows in size and complexity, responsibility must be 
delegated and personal lines of control are severed. The man at the top no 
longer has everything at his fingertips, and similarly one particular manager 
may not be aware of the detailed actions of his fellow managers. Under these 
circumstances there is a compelling need to formalize planning procedures 
and control techniques. Such formalization necessitates reducing policies, 
plans and procedures to paper so that all involved in the various activities 
have the same references and guide lines from which to work. 

Planning and control embraces the following aspects: 

1. Long-term planning on a strategic basis which looks at the firm, its 
markets and its environment over a number of years ahead in order to 

139 
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Budgeting 

A budget is a written plan expressed in quantitative terms. This chapter 
is primarily concerned with budgets expressed in money terms (a convenient 
common denominator) although non-monetary quantitative measures are 
used where appropriate—e.g. number of employees, units of time, units 
of output . The budget is thus a blueprint for future operations within a 
selected period of time: month , year or longer. A long-term plan will 
normally be prepared in general terms to give the overall direction for a 
number of years ahead. The long term is then broken down into shorter 
budget periods for more detailed budgeting. Detailed budgets will in fact 
be prepared for each area of business activity prior to being combined into 
a master budget to reveal the co-ordinated business plan for the budget 
period. 

develop an overall corporate strategy for the firm's long-term growth and 
development. 

2. Project planning (including capital expenditure budgeting) which 
forecasts how future cash flows will be affected over the life of a specific 
project or development. Each project under consideration will, of course, 
be linked to the long-term plan. 

3. Short-term planning or budgeting on a tactical basis which takes the 
first time period of the long-term plan together with all ongoing projects 
and develops a financial blueprint for achievement of this part of the long-
term plan or suggests a basis for its amendment . 

4. Monitoring actual results on a frequent and regular basis, comparing 
them to budgets which have been produced and highlighting variances, or 
deviations from plan. 

5. Ongoing control of day-to-day detailed activities of the business in 
order to ensure that actual results are in line with the short term plan; or 
to give the earliest possible warning that either the short, or long-term plan 
cannot be achieved and perhaps should be revised or updated. 

Note how each of these five aspects are interrelated and interdependent. 

The subjects of long-term strategic planning and capital expenditure 
budgeting lie beyond the scope of this book, therefore we look now mainly 
at the subjects of short-term planning, or budgeting, and control. However 
we will turn briefly to capital investment appraisal in the next chapter. 
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Co-ordination of Budgets 

No individual aspect of the activities of a business exists in isolation: all 
affect each other to a greater or lesser extent. This presents an initial problem 
when budgeting because each budget will interact on every other budget, 
thus posing the problem "Where shall a start be m a d e ? " The answer lies 
in isolating the limiting factor and starting at that point: every other budget 
should then follow in a logical sequence. The limiting factor may be defined 
as that factor in the activities of a business which at a particular point in 
time or over a period will limit the ability of the firm to earn contribution. 
This factor, which may change from time to t ime, may be the availability 
of labour, materials, space or capital depending on current conditions and 
restrictions. However, under normal competitive business conditions 
operating in a free and unrestricted economy, the limiting factor will usually 
be the sales volume which a business can achieve. In the sequence of budgets 
discussed in the following section, sales volume is assumed to represent the 
limiting factor and accordingly is the first to be considered. 

Sequence of Short-term Budgets 

In order to obtain a detailed view of a business it will normally be 
necessary to prepare the following budgets, each of which must be an honest 
at tempt to forecast and evaluate future activities during the forthcoming 
budget period. Past results may be used as a guide, but these must be 
amended in the light of anticipated conditions in the budget period. Within 
the scope of this book the following budgets can be discussed in the briefest 
detail only. 

Sales budget. This should be prepared in detail in terms of both quantity 
and value for each product after a careful consideration of market 
conditions and prospects. As this is assumed to be the limiting factor, sales 
must be forecast as carefully as possible or all other budgets lose their value. 
Since it is not possible, of course, for forecasting to be absolutely accurate, 
flexible budgets can be constructed to take account of possible fluctuations 
in sales volume. Flexible budgets are discussed further on page 144. 

Production budget. The production budget forecasts what is to be 
produced if the sales budget is to be met but it will take into account 
management's policy on the holding of finished stocks and work in progress. 
Thus a production budget of 80 units, prepared in the light of a policy 
reduction of 20 units finished stock, would meet a sales budget of 100 units. 
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A further matter to be considered when drawing up the production budget 
is that the sales budget may present a seasonal fluctuation in demand which 
may not be desirable for production purposes if an even flow of production 
is considered more economical. In this event the production budget would 
be drawn up assuming a stable rate of production, creating a budgeted 
buffer stock to meet the fluctuations in demand presented by the seasonal 
nature of the sales budget. 

Labour requirements budget. This budget forecasts the detailed labour 
requirements to meet the production budget. Potential recruitments or 
redundancies will be indicated, as will the need for shift or overtime 
working. A secondary limiting factor here may cause an amendment to be 
made to the production budget to take account of necessary subcontracting. 

Materials requirements budget. Similarly to the labour requirements 
budget, this budget forecasts the materials required to meet the production 
budget. 

Purchasing budget. In the same way in which the production budget 
recognized stock policy in planning to meet the sales budget, so the 
purchasing budget plans to meet the materials requirements budget. Bulk 
purchase and other buying policies will also be reflected in this budget. 

Plant requirements budget. This budget will indicate the availability of 
plant, machinery and equipment in the light of the production budget. New 
plant, retirements and major overhauls will all be taken into account. New 
plant and other fixed assets should be planned on a long-term basis in the 
capital expenditure budget. 

Departmental overhead budgets. Every item of overhead is caused by and 
is controllable by someone within the organization. The area under an 
individual's control is defined as a budget centre and a forecast is made of 
the cost of operating each budget centre (or department) at the level of 
activity indicated by the sales budget or production budget. Departmental 
overhead budgets will embrace the whole spectrum of overhead: production, 
administration, selling and distribution. 

The Master Budget 

The detailed budgets enumerated above now contain all the information 
necessary to compile the master budget, which comprises: 

1. Forecast profit and loss account or value added statement for the 
budget period. 
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2. Forecast balance sheet as at the end of the budget period. 

3. Forecast of cash requirements in detail throughout the budget period. 

The master budget is thus the "grand plan" or co-ordinated blueprint of 
operations for the forthcoming budget period. This is a most critical stage 
in budgeting because, if the master budget reveals a forecast of an unsatis-
factory state of affairs, it may be necessary to start all over again on a 
different premise in an at tempt to improve the situation. The reader may 
smile at this stage, thinking that budgeting is at best just playing with figures. 
However, to think this is to fail to realize the vital need for planning in 
modern business. After all, if one is about to undertake a strange journey 
does one not study maps to select the most advantageous of several possible 
routes? Budgets are the maps appropriate to the journey into time that the 
business is about to undertake. 

Having selected the most advantageous route, the next stage is to check 
and report upon any deviation from that route, to attempt to get back on 
route or, if the circumstances change, to select a new route (i.e. change the 
plan). 

Budgetary Control 

This is the area in which financial planning and control of operations are 
brought together. Budgetary control takes the detailed short-term budgets 
and compares them with actual results at frequent intervals (e.g. monthly) 
throughout the budget period. Similarly the master budget is frequently 
compared with the actual profit and loss account, balance sheet and cash 
flow position. The value of budgetary control lies in that it does not stop 
at mere comparison but looks into the causes of differences between budget 
and actual performance. Thus managerial attention is directed towards 
divergencies from plan, and action can be taken to correct the situation 
whilst there is yet t ime. This important aspect of budgetary control gives 
rise to the terms responsibility accounting and management by exception 
and indicates the main advantages claimed for budgetary control: 

1. Responsibility for each item of expense is fixed and control exercised 
over actual results. 

2. Managerial attention is directed towards exceptions when action can 
be taken quickly to rectify the situation. 

3. The process acts as a discipline, stimulating departmental efficiency 
and more effective utilization of resources. 
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Unfortunately in practice these advantages are sometimes not realized 
due to the way in which a system of budgetary control may be administered. 
All systems are administered by people and thereby suffer from any weak-
nesses in the administration. Budgets may be set without serious consider-
ation or may be employed as whipping blocks or objects of recriminatory 
post-mortems to an unjustifiable degree. Worse still, some managers may 
abdicate their responsibility to manage, throwing all responsibility on "the 
system". This is a psychological problem and these dangers can only be 
avoided by education of all concerned (both "controller" and "controlled") 
into that frame of mind which will help them to employ the system 
intelligently and judiciously. 

Effective Control 

An effective system of budgetary control should prompt management 
action by identifying the cause of each variation from budget and directing 
attention to either reducing or eliminating or getting better value for expense 
incurred. A vital principle which must be followed is that no one should 
be held responsible for something which is not primarily under his control. 
Towards this end the following should be noted: 

1. A budget must never be "imposed from above" . It should be prepared 
in conjunction with the person on whom the control is to be exercised. This 
person should also agree the budget before it is finally accepted as the basis 
for control of future operations. 

2. Everything is controllable by someone. The budget centre structure 
must ensure that no item is included in any budget unless it is primarily 
within the control of the person responsible for that budget centre. 

3. Control must recognize changed conditions. A budget is normally 
prepared in the light of a given volume of sales or production. Should actual 
volume differ from budgeted volume it is unrealistic to draw comparisons 
between actual results and the original budget. Flexible budgetary control 
recognizes this by preparing a range of budgets appropriate to a range of 
volume. In comparing with actual results, it will select that level of budget 
appropriate to the level of volume actually achieved. In this way divergencies 
are genuinely controllable and not merely attributable to an error made by 
someone who originally estimated volume requirements. If there is a radical 
change in conditions, quite apart from fluctuations in volume, it may be 
necessary to revise a budget completely. This is often done in practice by, 
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say, a quarterly update of an annual budget or by the preparation of rolling 
annual forecasts at more frequent intervals than once a year. 

4. No one can control the past, only the future. Towards this end control 
information should be forward looking; for example, there is more merit 
in presenting information which compares the original budget for the year 
with the now anticipated outcome for the year than there is with comparing 
the expired portion of the budget to date with the historical outcome to date. 
Rolling forecasts are clearly essential if this comparison is to be possible. 

Project Planning 

As part of, or in addition to , the long-term plan, a manager in business 
is frequently called upon to decide between competing courses of action. 
The type of decision inferred by the title "project planning" is the "one-
off" policy decision outside the normal daily routine. Examples of such 
decision might be: 

1. Whether to cease to make and instead to buy out a major component . 

2. Whether to discontinue a particular area of activity, be it a product , 
a department or a complete manufacturing activity. 

3. Justification for capital expenditure, perhaps also involving a selection 
between competing capital projects or a decision between the alternatives 
of buying new capital equipment outright or of financing it through a leasing 
option (we will look briefly at the mechanics of capital investment appraisal 
in the next chapter). 

The decision the manager makes in these circumstances will affect the 
profitability of the business perhaps for a long time to come. Therefore, 
in making such decisions the manager must have financial information 
which will assist him to forecast and evaluate the results of his decision. 
However, if it is to be effective, the financial information must be relevant 
to the decision which is to be made. 

At this stage the reader 's attention is directed again to earlier sections of 
the text: 

"Figures tell one story at once"—page 8. 
"Fixed and variable expenses" and "significance of volume"—pages 

132-133. 
It should now be apparent that financial information must be specially 

tailored for each special project. Each such project faced in business will 
normally be concerned with a new set of circumstances. It will be a most 
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unusual coincidence if financial information produced for some other 
purpose or to assist an earlier piece of project planning will be entirely 
relevant to the circumstances of the decision now being faced. Hence the 
excitingly vital element of this aspect of business accounting: sometimes 
referred to as incremental analysis. 

Unfortunately the scope of this book does not permit a more thorough 
investigation into this field nor a detailed description of all the techniques 
which have been developed to provide financial information in an acceptable 
form. The object of such techniques is to provide relevant, or incremental, 
figures to assess the effect that any decision is likely to have on the financial 
viability of the business. These figures will reveal what income will be earned 
in cash, what expenditure will be incurred in cash and what capital outlay 
will be required as a result of this decision but of no other. Armed with this 
information the manager can measure the effect that his decision will have 
on future profitability (as measured by RONA or ROE) and on future cash 
flow. 

Break-even Analysis 

This technique is an offshoot of marginal costing and finds particularly 
useful application within flexible budgeting and within project planning. 
Recall from the previous chapter that : 

selling price—direct expense = contribution 

and contribution—overheads = operating profit 

it therefore follows that: 

1. when contribution = overheads, operating profit will be nil (this is 
called the Break-even Pointy, 

2. operating profit - I - overheads = contribution (a useful rephrasing of 
the relationship, particularly when used in planning and expressed as: 
target operating profit + budgeted overheads = necessary target 
contribution. 

Let us consider a grossly over-simplified example of break-even analysis: 
Suppose we were to open a shop to sell that well-known product Plod . . . 
which we can buy at £8 each and sell at £10 each; suppose also that our policy 
in selecting our shop predetermines our overheads (e.g. rent, heat, light, 
assistant's wages) at £10,000 p.a . ; suppose, also that we desire at least 15 
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£ 
Sales, 5000 @ £10 50,000 
Deduct: direct expenses, 5000 @ £8 40,000 

overheads 10,000 

Operating profit nil 

(b) This question is asking for the application of formula 2 above, i.e. 
target contribution must equal the target operating profit of £6000 (15 
percent R O N A on £40,000) plus budgeted overheads of £10,000 which is 
£16,000 or 8000 Plod and can be proved as follows: 

£ 
Sales, 8000 @ £10 80,000 
Deduct: direct expenses, 8000 @ £8 64,000 

overheads 10,000 

Operating profit £6,000 

Net operating assets £40,000 

RONA (operating profit °/o net 

operating assets) 15 °7o 

(c) It is worth undertaking the advertising campaign only if it produces 
additional sales of at least 250 units because these will generate an additional 
contribution, at £2 each, on £500 which will just pay for the additional 
overhead of £500 and so maintain the operating profit intact. 

percent p .a . return to satisfy the £40,000 invested in net operating assets 
for our venture into Plod: 

(a) How many Plods must be sold to cover our overheads (i.e. to break 
even)? 

(b) How many Plods must be sold to earn the 15 percent RONA? 

(c) Is it worth undertaking an advertising campaign at a cost of £500? 

(d) Is it worth lowering the selling price by £0.50? 

Break-even analysis will help us to reach the answers to these four 
questions as follows: 

(a) This question is asking for the break-even point, i.e. at what volume 
of Plod does contribution = overheads? Contribution is £2 per Plod (£10 
selling price—£8 direct expense) whilst overheads are £10,000. Break-even 
point is therefore at 5000 units which can be proved as follows: 



148 A N INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS ACCOUNTING FOR MANAGERS 

(d) the new selling price would reduce contribution to £1.50 per unit; thus 
it is worth lowering the selling price only if sales volume increases by a 
sufficient amount to maintain the total contribution intact—returning to 
questions (a) and (b): 

(a) the break-even point now moves up to £10,000 -s- £1-50 or 6667 units, 

(b) the target sales volume now moves up to (£6,000 + £10,000) -s- £1 · 50 
or 10,667 units. 

The Break-even Chart 

The underlying relationships of break-even analysis can be expressed 
graphically in the celebrated break-even chart. Only the most simple versions 
of this chart will be described here in detail but brief reference will be given 
later to some of the more practical aspects. The simple break-even chart 
blindly assumes that expenses are either directly variable or completely fixed 
and that selling price is constant within a wide range of volume. Let us apply 
the technique to the well-known product Plod: 

1. Direct expenses vary at the rate of £8 per unit and can be expressed 
graphically as follows: 

O 2 4 6 8 10 

Volume OOO s units 
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ο ο ο 

Indirect expenses 

Volume OOOs units 

3. Sales at the £10 selling price can be expressed graphically as follows: 

Volume OOOs units 

2. Overheads are fixed at £10,000 and can be expressed graphically as 
follows: 
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Putting these three graphs together so as to show also the total expenses 
(i.e. direct and overheads added together) we now get the following break-
even chart: 

-

-
Β ι V A / 

' Direct 
expenses 

f 1 I t * 1 1 1 

s 
• D 

0 2 4 5 6 θ IC 

Volume OOOs units 

Note that : 

(a) angle SOD is contribution, 

(b) point Β is the break-even point (5000 units as calculated on page 147). 

(c) area F ^ O indicates losses, where contribution fails to cover 
overheads, 

(d) area SBF 2 indicates operating profit and this amounts to £6000 at 
8000 units as calculated on page 147. 

A much more simple, two-line break-even chart can be drawn as follows, 
where line OC is contribution (@ £2 per unit of Plod): 
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Note that the break-even point now moves out to 6667 units and the target 
sales volume to 10,667 units as calculated on page 148. 

Break-even charting is never as simple as this in practice because direct 
expenses are never directly variable, nor overheads permanently fixed, nor 
selling prices constant over a wide range of volume. However, the principle 
of break-even analysis is nevertheless helpful when attempting to find that 
sensitive, or " g o / n o g o " point upon which an alternative choice 
management decision might turn. 

Margin of Safety 

No business wishes to operate at break even: this represents the critical 
lower level of volume below which it becomes unprofitable to operate. So 
a useful development of break-even analysis is to compute the margin of 
safety which reveals how far below the current position volume can fall 
before break-even is reached. 

Returning to our well-known product Plod question (a) where we 

Note that break-even point is again 5000 units, area FjBO again indicates 
loss and that operating profit is again £6000 at 8000 units. 

Having only two lines, it is possible to test the impact of proposed 
management decisions much more clearly. For example the impact of the 
proposed price change in Plod question (d) can be demonstrated as follows, 
where line OCj is the original contribution @ £2 per unit and line O C 2 is 
the proposed contribution @ £1.50 per unit: 
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calculated break-even point at 5000 units; if we are currently selling 8000 
units, we have a margin of safety of 8000—5000 = 3000 units which is 37.5 
percent of the current 8000 units—a handsome margin of safety indeed. 
On the other hand if we are currently selling 6000 units, our margin of safety 
is only 1000 units or 16.7 percent of the 6000 currently being sold: if volume 
falls by more than 16.7 percent we will be operating at a loss. 

Some Other Techniques 

For the sake of completeness an outline is given below of four financial 
control techniques employed in business. They are referred to only briefly 
to whet the reader 's appetite for fuller reading in other volumes. 

Standard costing goes further than budgetary control and compares 
predetermined product costs with actual results, operation by operation. 
As in budgetary control, managerial action is directed towards any operating 
deficiencies revealed by the variances (differences between predetermined 
"s tandard" and actual results) which are thrown up by the system. 

Incremental analysis applies the principles of marginal costing and break-
even analysis to individual management decisions in such a way as to isolate 
the true impact of such a decision upon profit, profitability or cash flow. 
A few examples of decisions which might employ this technique are: 

1. In the field of marketing: 

(a) price determination including special pricing, price/volume 
trade-offs and market segmentation; 

(b) evaluation of special promotions; 

(c) direction of effort to specific products . 

2. In the field of purchasing: 
(a) make or buy decisions; 

(b) quantity purchase at advantageous prices versus stock-holding 
cost; 

(c) special packaging or delivery arrangements. 

3. In the field of production: 
(a) allocation of orders to different factories; 
(b) selection of method of manufacture; 

(c) utilization of surplus capacity. 

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, the technique finds wide application 
in project planning. 
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Opportunity costing is also directed towards assisting management 
decisions or project planning. It is concerned with comparative rather than 
actual costs and considers, as part of the cost of any action, the return or 
value foregone by deciding upon this course of action rather than upon that. 
For example, the cost of producing A" is deemed to be the profit that could 
have been earned if y had been produced instead, or if capital had been 
invested with Ζ instead, or if some other rewarding opportunity had been 
seized instead. 

Zero base budgeting finds application particularly when budgeting for 
non-production and service departments . The budget is built up from zero 
(i.e. no provision of service) in discreet stages representing increasing degrees 
of provision of service. In this way value for money can be tested as each 
stage builds upon the last. Furthermore, a basis is provided for a systematic 
selective cut back in case of need instead of a blind axe swinging exercise 
such as "10 percent off everybody's budget" . 

Management Accounting Caveats 

1. Segmental Preference 

What is the best segmental mix for a business to develop (e.g. product 
mix, operation mix, geographic mix)? In this and the previous two chapters 
we have examined techniques which should point management towards the 
highest operating profit via control of its two key elements: contribution 
and overheads. But reflect for a moment : operating management is not 
concerned with operating profit perse—operating management is ultimately 
concerned with RONA and cash flow from operations; contribution and 
overheads form part only of these two ultimate measures of performance. 
For example there may be no value in pushing a product mix with a high 
operating profit if the demands of that mix upon working capital are so 
huge that : 

— velocity ratio is so reduced that R O N A falls despite the increase in 
operating profit 

— actual cash flow from operations becomes permanently negative. 

So a good management accounting system will extend the principles 
described in this and the previous two chapters beyond segmental operating 
profit and into segmental RONA and segmental cash flow from operations. 
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2. Exclusiveness 

In conclusion it must be stressed that the writer does not suggest that 
financial information is the only information a manager requires in order 
to plan, control, or reach a reasoned decision. Nor is it suggested that 
management accounting information can replace the manager 's exercise of 
initiative and judgement. However, the possession of pertinent management 
accounting information should make easier the exercise of judgement. 
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Capital Investment Appraisal 

A R G U A B L Y the capital investment decision is one of the more critical that 
an operating manager takes in that the firm is thereby set on tramlines on 
which it will roll into the future and off which it may be very expensive to 
get. For this reason most firms justifiably put proposed capital investments 
under a microscope and operate rigid rules for the planning, budgeting, 
evaluation, control and post audit of capital expenditure. A full consider-
ation of all aspects of such routines is beyond the scope of this book but, 
as part of our review of techniques of financial analysis it is appropriate 
briefly to review those which are applied to capital investment appraisal. 

The Capital Investment Decision 

Put in its simplest terms, capital investment is an exchange of values: it 
represents a largely irreversible outflow of cash now (capital expenditure) 
in exchange for a somewhat uncertain inflow of cash in the future (cash 
flow from operations). 

Assuming that the firm wishes to be profitable, the future cash flow from 
operations must be big enough not only to recover the capital expenditure 
but to provide an adequate profit as reward for that capital investment. An 
adequate reward must take account of 

— time: the longer one has to wait for the return, the greater the reward 
should be 

— risk (including inflation): the greater the risk, the greater the reward 
should be. 

Thus this simple definition of capital investment also incorporates the 
elements of the mechanics of capital investment appraisal, the aim of which 
is to ensure both recovery of the capital expenditure and the provision of 
an adequate reward. 

155 
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Financial Information Required 

The effort involved in putting together a capital investment appraisal must 
not be minimized. In this chapter we are concerned only with the mechanics 
of appraisal—which is a relatively trivial part of the whole exercise. In 
addition to any non-financial information which is clearly necessary, the 
following is a short list of the financial information which will be required 
in practice: 

1. The initial outlay on net operating assets (fixed assets plus working 

capital) 

2. Future cash flow from operations 

3. The life of the project 

4. Any estimated terminal values at the end of its life 

5. The impact on taxation; including capital allowances, grants and 

subsidies 

6. The timing of 1, 2, 4 and 5 

7. The degree of uncertainty and key sensitivities incorporated into 1, 

2, 3, 4 and 5 

8. An assessment of the riskiness of the project 

9. The cost of capital required to finance the project 

10. In the light of all the above, the rate of return that the project should 

provide. 

Methods of Investment Appraisal 

Having accumulated this necessary financial information, it is now 
processed to test for the adequacy of reward. Three quite different methods 
of processing are found in practice: 

1. Payback 

This method ignores any reward in the form of profit on any unrecovered 
capital expenditure. 

2. RONA 

This method uses the mechanics of simple interest to test for the adequacy 
of reward. 
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3. DCF (Discounted Cash Flow) 

This method uses the mechanics of compound interest to test for the 
adequacy of reward. There are two variations in the use of DCF: 

i. IRR (Internal Rate of Return) or DCF Yield 

ii. NPV (Net Present Value) or PV (Present Value) 

Let us now examine and compare the application of each of these methods 
to the following grossly oversimplified pair of capital investment proposals: 

Project A Project Β 

£ £ 

Initial capital expenditure request £1000 £1000 

Estimated future cash flow from 
operations in year: 

1 200 100 
2 300 200 
3 500 700 
4 800 800 
5 200 nil 

Total estimated future cash flow £2000 £1800 

Assume no difference in riskiness between the two projects. 
Note that project A has an estimated life of 5 years whereas Β has 
only 4 years. 

It should be glaringly obvious that project A is preferable to project B. 
However, let us see what each of the three methods of investment appraisal 
would say. 

Payback Method 

This is without doubt the simplest of the three and is the most widely used 
method in practice. 

It seeks to reveal how long before the capital expenditure is repaid out 
of future cash inflows: in our example each project 's £1000 capital 
expenditure is paid back in 3 years; therefore, if blindly applied, this method 
would rank both projects equally attractive. This would be misleading 
information to management because in fact A is preferable to B. 

Therefore if the payback method is used, do be aware of its two 
weaknesses clearly demonstrated in this example: 
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Project A Project Β 

Year Cash Dep'n Operating Cash Dep'n Operating 
flow 5 years profit flow 4 years Profit/(Loss) 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 
1 200 200 — 100 250 (150) 
2 300 200 100 200 250 (50) 
3 500 200 300 700 250 450 
4 800 200 600 800 250 550 
5 200 200 — n/a n/a n/a 

Total 2000 1000 1000 1800 1000 800 

Average p.a. operating profit 200 200 

Average p.a. (RONA (expressed 
as % initial capital expr.) 20% 20% 

Based on an average p .a . RONA over the life of each project, this method 
has again ranked each project as equally attractive which is again misleading 
management information: the two projects are not equally attractive. 

Therefore if the RONA method is used, do be aware of its two weaknesses 
clearly demonstrated here: 

1 . if an averaging method is used, it fails to take account of the timing of 
operating profit. 

1 . it ignores that vital period after payback: i.e. it ignores the need to 
make profit 

2. it fails to take account of the timing of cash flows within the payback 
period (A's timing is clearly preferable to B's). 

But at least it is simple and it does concentrate on getting cash back quickly 
and in so doing favours the less risky project. As a safeguard against the 
weaknesses, some appraisal routines would quote payback against life 
expectancy: 3 years out of 5 for A is clearly better than 3 years out of 4 for B. 

Accounting Rate of Return Method (RONA) 

RONA, as we know, is operating profit expressed as a percent per annum 
of net operating assets (assume this is the capital expenditure only in our 
example). The future inflows in our example are cash flows so depreciation 
must be deducted in order to arrive at operating profit as follows: 
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2. it is difficult to use as a basis of comparison between projects with 
different lives. 

But at least it does give a feel for what a project might do to future RONAs 
if the project were to be taken on. As a safeguard against the weaknesses, 
some appraisal routines would average RONAs over a constant number of 
years, irrespective of a project 's estimated life: project Β clearly looks less 
attractive if averaged over 5 years. Fur thermore, the first year 's RONA 
ought always to be highlighted: project B's is negative. 

Discounted Cash Flow Method (DCF) 

In truth this method is quite simple but it rests upon more complex 
mathematics than the other two methods so those managers who do not 
have a taste for things mathematical tend to dub it "difficult". 

Anyone who has a building society mortgage comes across discounted 
cash flow every time he makes a periodic mortgage repayment; the periodic 
repayment is designed to do two things over the life of the mortgage: 

1. repay the initial amount borrowed 

2. provide a return at an agreed annual rate of compound interest on 
the steadily reducing outstanding balance of the amount borrowed 
until it is eventually repaid; the higher the rate of interest, the higher 
the periodic repayments—and vice versa. 

Similarly, the future cash inflows from a capital project do two things: 

1. repay the initial capital investment 

2. provide a return at an annual compound rate on the steadily reducing 
outstanding balance of the investment over its useful life. 

If the building society did not tell you what was the rate of compound 
interest implied by the size of the periodic mortgage repayments, you would 
have to work it out; and you would use discount tables (or present value 
tables) for this purpose. Similarly to work out the compound rate of return 
implied by the size of future cash inflows from a project you would use 
discount tables . . . or better still a programmed calculator or micro-
computer. Appendix D incorporates a discount table and brief instruction 
as to its use. 
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Internal Rate of Return 

The internal rate of return (or DCF yield) wthat compound rate of return 
implied by the size of future cash inflows from a project. In our example 
project A provides an internal rate of return of approximately 25 percent 
whereas project Β provides approximately 20 percent. In other words both 
projects repay their initial capital investment but, over and above this, A 
provides approximately 25 percent p .a . compound return on the steadily 
reducing balance outstanding until repaid whereas Β provides only 20 percent 
compound return. This statement can be proved in A 's case as follows: 

Investment Investment 
outstanding 25% Cash outstanding 

Year at start of a inflow at end 
£ £ £ £ 
a b c d = a + b - c 

1 1000 250 200 1050 
2 1050 263 300 1013 
3 1013 254 500 767 
4 767 193 800 160 
5 160 40 200 Nil 

Overall 1000 1000 2000 nil 

The reader is invited to carry out the same proof for project Β (the return 
is only approximately 20 percent. 

Notice that this method at last ranks project A higher than project B: 
the method therefore overcomes the weaknesses of the other two methods. 

On the other hand the method does itself suffer from the following 
weaknesses: 

1. The internal rate of return (being an actuarial measure based upon 
compound interest) does not relate to RONA (being an accounting measure 
based upon simple interest) therefore it fails to indicate what the project 
might do to the ongoing RONA of the business into which the project is 
to be introduced 

2. It might not adequately handicap a more risky project, which the 
payback method would do . Take a look at project X: 

Initial capital expenditure request £1000 

Estimated future cash inflows: 
years 1 to 9 nil 
year 10 £20,000 



CAPITAL INVESTMENT A P P R A I S A L 161 

The internal rate of return looks good at 35 percent but the payback does 
not come until year 10 of a 10 year project which is not particularly attractive 
and certainly is high risk . . . anything can happen within the next 9 years, 
and probably will! 

Net Present Value 

A variation on the use of the discount table will tell you, for any desired 
compound rate of return, what is the most you ought to invest now for the 
right to receive a given stream of cash inflows in the future: the higher the 
desired rate of return, the smaller is the amount you would be prepared to 
invest to receive that given stream of cash inflows, and vice versa. 

Suppose we require a compound rate of return of 30 percent, then the 
most we ought to invest in project A is £892.7, calculated as follows: 

Estimated 30% discount Present 
future factor from value 

Year cash inflow Appendix D @ 30% 

a b c = a x b 

1 200 0.769 153.8 
2 300 0.592 177.6 
3 500 0.455 227.5 
4 800 0.350 280.0 
5 200 0.269 53.8 

Total present value @ 30% of future stream 
£ 892.7 of cash inflows £ 892.7 

The reader is invited to prove that the total present value @ 30 percent of 
the future stream of cash inflows from project Β is £793.8. 

Having worked out what is the most we ought to invest, we compare this 
to what we are asked to invest to see if we are getting a bargain. If we had 
been asked to invest £700 in these two projects, then project A would give 
the better bargain than project B: A would have a net present value @ 30 
percent of £892.7 - £700 = £192.7 whereas Β has only £93.8. So again this 
method ranks A higher than B. 

But we were not asked to invest £700 in these projects, we were asked 
to invest £1000; so at that asking price A has a negative net present value 
of £892.7 - £1000 = - £ 1 0 7 . 3 whereas Β has - £206.2: both projects are 
unattractive, Β more so than A. Clearly a negative net present value is bad 
news in that it indicates that the future cash flows from a project do not 
promise to repay the initial capital investment and provide the desired 
compound rate of return required. 

AIBAM-L 
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The DCF method has indicated that it is only worth going ahead with 
project A if your desired compound rate of return were 25 percent or with 
project Β if your desired compound rate of return were 20 percent. 

Which Appraisal Method to Use? 

We have now reviewed each of the commonly used methods of capital 
investment appraisal. Which is best? Which one should be used? 

Because each method suffers certain weaknesses and each method has 
certain unique advantages, the wise firm will use all three methods within 
its capital investment appraisal routines. After all, it represents relatively 
little cost and effort in the context of the whole project evaluation and might 
just prevent an expensive management mistake. 

Ah, but what if? 

No capital investment project should be appraised on one set of estimated 
future cash inflows alone; if any of these cash flows should turn out 
differently to the estimate, the project may no longer be viable. Capital 
investment appraisal is thus a natural for the application of sensitivity 
analysis and for the computat ion of break-even points and margins of 
safety. For example it would be sensible to compute the following additional 
information for each of our projects A and B: 

1. what would happen to the financial outcome if sales were to be 10 
percent lower than forecast? 

2. what would happen to the financial outcome if contribution percent 
sales was to be X percent instead of the Y percent forecast? 

. . . or better still: 

1. by how much does sales have to fall before the project ceases to be 
viable? 

2. by how much does contribution have to fall before the project ceases 
to be viable? 

. . . and so on. 

Impact of Inflation 

Amongst all the uncertainties associated with estimating future cash 
flows, perhaps the most common is how to deal with inflation. Different 
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firms adopt different practices and therefore it is not easy to give specific 
advice but the following represents a random selection of policies frequently 
adopted in practice: 

— always estimate the impact of inflation on capital expenditures up to 
the date of commissioning so that the actual outlay is clearly identified 

— always estimate the impact of inflation on cost reduction capital 
projects to highlight whether the project is viable at current spending 
rates or only at estimated future spending rates 

— ignore the impact of inflation on future cash flows of normal revenue 
earning projects on the assumption that the inflationary impact on 
expenses will be offset by an equivalent inflationary uplift of selling 
prices 

— carry out sensitivity tests as described above: e.g. what if inflation 
comes at X percent or: by how much does inflation have to move 
before . . . ? 

Non Profit Earning Projects 

The methods of capital investment appraisal considered in this chapter 
have rested on the existence of future cash inflows. But what of the project 
which does not offer any future cash flow, for example: 

— the new machine guards required due to a change in industrial safety 

legislation 

— the replacement central heating boiler 

— the new motor car for the sales representative 

— the new first aid centre 

— the new word processor 

These expenditures are sometimes called lazy capital: they provide no 
measurable, quantifiable, gain and so cannot be made the subject of normal 
capital investment appraisal routines. They can only be justified on 
subjective, value for money, considerations. However, often for emotional 
rather than economic reasons, it is very easy to indulge in such expenditures 
and so they must be controlled. Bear in mind that the greater the expend-
iture permitted on lazy capital, the greater must be the return (in RONA 
or IRR terms) generated on those projects which do promise a quantifiable 
gain: otherwise the overall RONA on total net operating assets will fall. 
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Is That All? 

In this chapter we have looked briefly at the mechanics of capital 
investment appraisal. In the preamble to the chapter we observed that it 
was but a small part of the routines for the planning, budgeting, evaluation, 
control and post audit of capital expenditures. In conclusion, and for 
completeness, the following is a brief review of these routines to guide that 
reader who is interested in taking his studies further: 

1. There must be some strategic and tactical direction for capital 
expenditures which can only come from the existence of a long-term plan; 
moreover financial planning will ensure an adequacy of financial resources 
to meet capital expenditures 

2. There must be some formalized identification of responsibilities 
(coupled with spending levels) for the authorization of capital expenditures 

3. In addition to the financial aspects of capital investment appraisal 
discussed in this chapter there must be adequate recognition of non-financial 
aspects: technological, personnel, production, marketing etc. 

4. There must be some basis for the assessment of priorities and the 
allocation of funds in case there are competing claims for a limited supply 
of resources 

5. There must be some formalized system for the measurement of progress 
of projects which have been authorized in order to flag up overspends or 
time overruns 

6. Finally, the proof of the pudding being in the eating, there must be 
some formal system of back check, or post audit, some time after the 
project 's completion in order to compare actual experience with that 
estimated at the time of project submission; the purpose of this being to 
learn from any mistake and prevent its being repeated on future projects. 
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Data Processing 

B O T H financial and management accounting routines require laborious, 
repetitive, detailed, clerical processing of data . Many thousand double 
entries must be made; frequent summary, addition and balancing of figures 
are all necessary; wages must be paid, customers billed, creditors' accounts 
settled: all these operations require the preparation and processing of figures 
and documents with speed and accuracy. Much of the work is regular but 
a large part revolves in weekly, monthly or annual cycles and consequently 
clerical routines suffer from peak periods of strain. 

This type of situation obviously calls for the elimination of human 
drudgery by the application of mechanized aids or full automation. 
Mechanization and automation have been accepted as a necessary part of 
efficient production routines for many years and it is logical that these 
techniques should also be applied to the office. 

In this chapter no at tempt will be made to describe the various pieces of 
equipment available or detailed methods of operation. Equipment is 
constantly being modified and improved and any detailed description would 
quickly become out of date . If the reader desires further details he is 
recommended to read any of the special works which have been published 
on the subject or, alternatively, equipment manufacturers publish illustrated 
booklets and pamphlets free of charge and are only too pleased to help 
anyone further his knowledge of data processing techniques. 

The object of this chapter simply is to introduce the reader to the main 
types of equipment available and to help him to appreciate when such 
equipment may be employed to the best advantage* 

History of Data Processing 

As long ago as the seventeenth century, when inventors were attempting 
to develop machines which would add, subtract or calculate, the "science 
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of mechanical calculation" was born. Blaise Pascal invented a simple adding 
machine in 1642, the earliest recorded development in this field, and in 1672 
Liebniz, a philosopher like Pascal, produced a primitive multiplying 
machine. 

Great Britain entered the field in 1775 when Viscount Mahon devised an 
improved machine capable of multiplication and division, but the monu-
mental, if ineffective, British contribution was Charles Babbage's 
"Difference Engine". Babbage had the laudable idea of developing a 
machine which would calculate and then print the answer. In 1823 he started 
work on his invention, and obtained government financial support, but the 
project was abandoned 10 years later, having produced nothing. 

Commercial development did not come until the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries when men whose names became household words in this 
field first made their contribution: Halcom Ellis, Willgodt Odhner, William 
Seward Burroughs, Dr. Herman Hollerith, to name a few. 

A feature in the development of accounting machines was the use of 
electricity to replace manual operation, but a much more far-reaching 
change, amounting to a revolution, came about through electronics and the 
commercial development of the computer . Accounting machines 
traditionally performed their tasks by the operation of moving parts until 
the advent of electronics, when moving parts were no longer required. 
Electronics has therefore opened up the field afresh: whereas a job 
performed manually and counted in man-days was reduced to hours by 
mechanized means, it is now reduced to minutes or even seconds 
electronically. 

The main types of equipment will now be considered. The reader may 
detect a theme of technical development running from one type to the next, 
but each type is best suited to a particular operation and it is not unusual 
for a firm to employ more than one type, or indeed all types, simultaneously. 

"One Wri te" Systems 

The simplest way to eliminate repetitious transcription is to employ 
carbon paper or carbonless copying paper. There are a number of patented 
"one write" systems which enable entries to be made in several records 
simultaneously by the careful design of multi-part stationery sets. Moreover, 
useful statistical analyses and summaries are produced thereby as an 
automatic biproduct of the system. Data processing does not necessarily 
imply computerization! 
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But let us now consider automat ion of accounting routines. 

Adding—Calculating Machines 

Originally adding machines accumulated figures on dials on the same 
principle as a clock or gas meter, but eventually accumulation was on 
revolving counters as mileage is accumulated in a car. The best-known 
adding machine type was the Comptometer , whereby the depression of an 
appropriate key activated the revolving counters by a desired amount . 
Multiplication and division are in fact mass addition and subtraction and 
so the Comptometer became also a calculating machine by the repetitive 
depression of keys. 

A calculating machine proper, by incorporating special mechanisms and 
a moving carriage, eliminated the need for repetitive depression of keys; 
after a single depression the calculation continued automatically, thus 
reducing the possibility of operator error. The answer to a calculation was 
read off from the revolving counters, but some machines incorporated a 
print unit, and, in this case, the answer was printed out on a narrow roll 
of paper, or "till rol l" , attached to the machine. This type of machine was 
referred to as an add/list ing or calculating/listing machine. 

Electronics has eliminated the need for moving parts and modern 
electronic calculations are much smaller and compact . Answers to 
calculations appear on a visual display panel but some do also incorporate 
small till rolls. 

Keyboard Accounting Machines 

These machines combined the principles of calculating machines and 
typewriters and were therefore fitted with a complete typewriter keyboard 
(augmented by special keys to cause the printing of certain repetitive 
information automatically) in addition to the figure keyboard of the 
calculating machine. Capabilities of individual machines varied widely, 
depending on their size and construction, but generally speaking they carried 
out a book-keeping sequence, completing all necessary documentat ion, 
calculations and figurework in the one operation. An important feature of 
these machines was their automatic "proof", or check of accuracy, on all 
parts of the arithmetical routines carried out . Again these machines 
underwent a minor revolution with the advent of electronics. 



168 A N INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS ACCOUNTING FOR MANAGERS 

Receipt Analysis Machines 

These machines specialized in the control of incoming revenue by the 
simultaneous production of a printed receipt, a detailed statistical analysis 
and occasionally the entry in a permanent account or pass book. Developed 
from the cash register, such machines were often used to record receipts 
in local authority rating offices, gas and electricity boards offices and 
savings banks. With the additional benefit of a computer link up, such 
machines became capable of much greater analysis and found application 
much more widely throughout retailing and banking. 

Punched-card Equipment 

All the above types of equipment worked on the basic principle of manual 
depression of a key which activated the mechanism of the machine, but 
punched-card equipment worked on an entirely different principle. Cards 
having holes punched in them were stacked in an automatic feed hopper 
of the machine and the hole in the card activated the mechanism. 

Basic data from original sources of information were translated into a 
series of punched holes in card records, the accuracy of the punching was 
then verified and the card became an accurate permanent record of a 
transaction, available for processing in any way desired. Cards were sorted 
into any predetermined sequence before being fed into the tabulator, which 
printed selected information in accordance with prior instructions of the 
operator. The cards were then available for re-sorting again and again to 
produce further selected information. The technique was developed by Dr. 
Herman Hollerith and used in connection with the U.S.A. census of 
population of 1890; it was particularly applicable to the processing of data 
requiring a high degree of statistical analysis. 

A basic punched-card installation comprised a punch, verifier, sorter and 
tabulator but other items of equipment could be added to perform special 
tasks as required, e.g. multiplication or interpretation of holes into printed 
characters. 

Computers 

Brief reference to computers was made in earlier sections, the main 
development over other mechanized aids being the substitution of electronic 
circuits for moving parts. Subsequent developments in computer technology 
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have been rapid and equipment tends to become obsolete rather quickly. 
One of the more recent "revolutions" has been the commercial development 
of the silicon chip, thereby creating even further potential for micro-
miniaturization. Computer power has tended to increase as computer size 
and cost have reduced. 

Two attributes distinguish the computer from any other type of 
equipment discussed above: speed and memory. A computer performs its 
tasks with lightning speed and thus makes possible the production of 
information previously thought impossible due to factors of time and 
clerical cost. A computer 's memory consists of information transcribed 
usually on to magnetic tape or disc; rapid access to the memory permits the 
computer to up-date information, make comparisons or test for accuracy 
at the same lightning speed; moreover the memory is not retained in hard 
copy form. 

A basic computer installation comprises the following five units: input 
(usually magnetic tape, punched paper tape or keyboard), memory, 
arithmetic (performs the calculations), output (rapid printing) and control 
(supervises the accuracy of other units). 

Microcomputer Modelling 

Perhaps the most revolutionary development to hit the accounting 
profession in recent history has been the combination of microcomputer 
and spreadsheet modelling. The spreadsheet model is equivalent to a vast 
sheet of analysis paper, many many columns wide and many many lines 
deep: the answer to a financial analysts prayer! Almost any amount of 
analysis can be done with incredible speed and on a highly portable 
machine—so it can be done anywhere. Moreover, all aspects of budgeting 
and planning are aided by the ability to test several possible alternative 
scenarios, answer "what if" questions, highlight critical limiting factors and 
margins of safety: a facility called sensitivity analysis. 

Three examples crying out for such applications can be selected from the 
various financial analysis techniques discussed in this book: 

— the hard graft of financial ratio analysis described in Chapter 11 and 
culminating in the financial fault finding chart described in Chapter 12 

— the tedious calculations required for cost rate computation described 
in Chapter 13 

— the sensitivity tests and detailed calculations demanded by capital 
investment appraisal referred to in Chapter 16. 
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What to Automate 

Any aspect of accounting routines can be automated singly (e.g. payroll, 
sales ledger, stores records) by employing the appropriate type of equip-
ment; alternatively, complete data-processing routines may be automated: 
E . D . P . or electronic data processing is the name given to this complete 
processing by computer. 

Related Developments 

An interesting adjunct to the march of automation has been the 
development of forms, books and equipment for use with the machines: 

1. Traditional forms of ledger, account, invoice, statement, cheque and 
receipt, for example, have been thrown aside as a new art of form design 
has grown up. Modern forms must conveniently fit the machine and 
information contained in the form must be set out for ease of machine 
application. A series of forms, accounts and statistical summaries is now 
produced in one operation, by means of carbon or other process, therefore 
size and ruling must be co-ordinated to ensure correct register on all parts 
of the series. 

2 . Machines best operate continuously and so the use of continuous 
stationery has increased: forms are run together in a continuous stream and 
later separated along perforated joints. 

3. Security assumes greater importance when systems are no longer 
designed around bound books (which cannot fit into a machine) but around 
a loose leaf or a magnetic tape or disk. Filing systems, lockable trays, and 
other special office furniture and equipment have therefore developed 
apace. 

4. Much information is no longer kept in hard copy form but is retained 
within the computer. Information transmission through visual display units 
(VDUs) and telephonic transfer has therefore been developed. 

Why Automate? 

Advantages of automated over hand-written systems are considerable; 
some of the more obvious are listed below. The degree of importance 
attaching to each item on the list depends upon the particular requirements 
of each firm and no order of priority is intended in the alphabetical 
presentation adopted. 
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1. Accuracy is improved because automated systems incorporate their 
own checks or "proof" of accuracy after each entry. Chapter 2 described 
the proof of arithmetical accuracy laboriously provided over a hand-written 
system by the trial balance. 

2. Duplication of effort is minimized because automated systems 
simultaneously enter all figures and prepare all documents which, under 
a hand-written system, constitute a series of transcriptive operations. For 
example, a mechanized payroll routine produces payroll, pay advice, tax 
deduction card, envelope and statistical analysis in one operation. Further 
advantages arising are the economy of manpower and the elimination of 
cyclical peak periods such as periodic balancing and summarizing, or 
preparation of statements to send to customers. 

3. information is produced more quickly and conveniently, often as a 
by-product at no extra effort (as in payroll analysis under 2 above). Certain 
information may be made available which could not possibly be obtained 
by hand. 

4. Security is improved, when all entries are made by machine as part of 
an integrated system, and fraud becomes more difficult to perpetrate. 

5. Simplicity. An intricate clerical task, which only a skilled clerk can 
perform manually, may be converted to a machine programme. It then 
becomes a simple machine operation that a trained operator can perform 
with ease by depressing the appropriate keys. Training of an operator is 
training in machine operation, not in intricate clerical duties. 

6. Speed is a feature of automat ion: speed in preparing information and 
in rendering accounts to customers are two examples vital to managerial 
control . 

Advantages of automation are often used as an ill-judged argument for 
crashing into systems without counting the cost. The final section of this 
chapter is therefore devoted to some dangers which must be considered 
before embarking upon a scheme of automat ion. 

Dangers of Automat ion 

A scheme of automat ion is a costly investment which should not be 
undertaken lightly. Financial justification may prove difficult because it 
is difficult to put a price tag on certain of the advantages to be gained— 
how valuable is information, for example? However, two exercises should 
be carried out: firstly, the financial commitment should be accurately 
assessed and secondly certain non-financial questions should be answered. 
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Is the equipment to be purchased outright or hired? This part of the 
financial commitment is clear, but it is only a part because other facilities 
may be required which also form part of the cost: space, power, lighting 
and ventilation must be adequate for the machines, ancillary equipment or 
alterations in form design, records and filing systems may be necessary; 
qualified staff may be required to run the installation. Every aspect of the 
proposed change must be investigated to ensure that there is no expensive 
hidden item and, when the total commitment has been ascertained, the 
question must be asked, "Will we get value for our money?" 

Non-financial matters must be headed by a clear statement of the reason 
for wishing to automate in this way. Is this the best machine for the j ob , 
selected after due consideration of all available alternatives and after 
discounting over-ambitious "sales ta lk"—or is the machine desired for 
prestige or because it is the done thing? Will this machine link in with existing 
machines or otherwise be capable of tackling additional jobs as occasion 
demands—or is it a special-purpose inflexible machine which may never 
be fully employed and may soon become obsolete? 

There must never be mere automation of existing clerical routines: need 
and method must be justified, by organization and methods investigation, 
to ensure the most efficient method of data processing. This investigation 
may be provided as part of the service by the equipment distributor. 

Have staff problems been adequately considered? Existing staff may not 
be good material for retraining from pen to machine, although, if they are, 
the equipment distributor often provides training again as part of the 
service. If retraining is not practicable the two-headed problem of dealing 
with redundant staff and acquiring suitable new staff is raised. 

Finally the extent to which the machine is to be used must be considered. 
No machine is cheap, but computer installations in particular may run into 
many tens or hundreds of thousands of pounds . The comments on 
importance of volume made in Chapter 14 have their implication here also: 
if value for money is to be obtained, the machines must be worked to the 
full and the maximum possible benefit extracted. To this end it is advisable 
to have in charge of an expensive installation a skilled technician who 
appreciates what the machines can and cannot do and also what information 
management requires. Only in this way will an installation be operated as 
efficiently and economically as possible and be of maximum benefit to 
management in its pursuit of financial viability. 
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Principles of Corporate Taxation 

N O T E : The rates of tax and allowances quoted in this chapter are those in 
force at the time of writing except where stated to the contrary. 

N o V O L U M E of this size could deal fully with the subject of corporate 
taxation but an elementary appreciation of its principles is necessary for 
two reasons: first, there is a tremendous display of ignorance generally about 
the simple fundamentals of taxation, and second, most business 
management decisions can only be taken after seriously considering the 
possible effect of taxation. 

The subjects of personal taxation, value added tax, capital gains tax and 
inheritance tax are considered to be beyond the scope of this book and so 
are not considered. 

Tax Legislation 

Taxation is a device for raising public revenue and is based on an 
accumulating body of legislation which is added to and amended from time 
to time as particular needs, crises and political manoeuvres demand. 
Whereas most laws are drafted to solve the problems arising from an existing 
set of circumstances, tax laws often must be drafted to deal with circum-
stances which have not yet arisen. Tax laws therefore must first clearly define 
certain anticipated circumstances and then indicate precisely how they are 
to be dealt with. Such a body of legislation cannot permit of "equitable 
interpretat ion" or "fair p lay" or " the spirit of the th ing": the letter of the 
law is absolute and final until amended by further Act of Parliament. Many 
manifestations of taxation legislation may appear anomalous or unjust to 
the reader—the fact that they are nevertheless correct stems from the letter 
of the law. T o repeat: the letter of tax law is absolute and final; accept this 
fact, try not to reason with it and an understanding of the implications of 
tax legislation will be the more easy. 
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An important corollary to this fact is that if one 's affairs can be so 
arranged as to fall outside the letter of the law, tax will be avoided. Many 
accountants, lawyers and others therefore expend great effort in minimizing 
their client's tax liability—all quite legal. Legal avoidance of tax becomes 
quite a game: the legislature closes the loopholes so the taxpayer seeks out 
new ones through which to avoid tax, but these will be closed by the 
legislature if exploited too far so the taxpayer seeks out new ones again! 
And so it goes on—a game of leapfrog with the obstacles becoming more 
and more difficult as time passes by. 

Avoidance must not be confused with evasion, which is fraudulently 
escaping one 's legal liability to tax—for example, by making false 
statements to the authorities. Avoidance is quite legal: evasion is illegal. 

Administration 

Parliament is primarily responsible for control over public revenue 
although the administration of public finance is carried out by the Treasury, 
which includes amongst its members the Chancellor of the Exchequer. 

Administration of tax legislation is vested in a group of permanent civil 
servants who constitute the Board of Inland Revenue. The Board in turn 
appoint Commissioners of Taxes (who deal with assessments to tax, appeals 
and any other special matters) and Inspectors of Taxes (who agree the 
liability to tax of all taxpayers within their geographical area or " tax 
district"). 

Actual collection of money is the responsibility of the Collectors of Taxes 
for each area. 

Corporation Tax 

The tax on profits of limited companies and certain other corporate 
bodies is called Corporat ion Tax. The rate is fixed annually by the Finance 
Act: currently (1987) the rate is 35 percent although there is relief for 
companies with profits of under £100,000. 

Taxable Profits 

Corporation Tax is not necessarily calculated on the profit before taxation 
appearing in the company 's profit and loss account. It is calculated on the 
company's statutory income or taxable profit: to the profit before taxation 
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are added certain items which the accumulation of tax legislation dictates 
shall not be allowed as a deduction from profits but similarly certain 
deductions are made which perhaps had not been taken into account in 
arriving at the company 's profit before taxation. 

What shall and shall not be allowed as a deduction in computing statutory 
income is a subject in itself but , generally speaking, anything which smacks 
of capital expenditure or represents an element of improvement in the assets 
of a business is disallowed; any other expense is allowed provided that it 
is wholly and exclusively for business purposes—needless to say business 
entertaining expenses come under very close scrutiny by the Inspector of 
Taxes. 

A major adjustment in the computat ion of statutory income is capital 
allowances so this is considered in some detail below. 

Capital Allowances 

Depreciation as such is not an allowable deduction in arriving at statutory 
income and therefore will be added back to profit before taxation in the 
tax computat ion. However, tax legislation permits instead the deduction 
of capital allowances which have the same basic object as depreciation but 
are also designed to operate as tax incentives to reinvestment and as a 
primitive hedge against inflation. 

It is because capital allowances are designed partially as a tax incentive 
to reinvestment that the exact basis of their calculation changes frequently 
as economic and political pressures come to bear on the government of the 
day: sometimes a large first year allowance followed by smaller annual 
writing down allowances have been given; there have been times when the 
first year allowance was 100 percent for certain approved expenditures on 
fixed assets. At the time of writing (1987) the following is a brief summary 
of the position: 

1. there is no large first year allowance 

2. approved expenditure on plant, machinery and vehicles qualifies for 
an annual writing down allowance of 25 percent calculated on the 
reducing balance method 

3. expenditure on new agricultural and industrial buildings and hotels 
qualifies for an annual writing down allowance of 4 percent calculated 
on the straight line method 

4. no allowance is given on non-industrial buildings 
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5. higher rates of allowance might be given on assets employed in 
enterprise zones 

6. an adjustment may be necessary when an asset is disposed of at the 
end of its life. 

Capital allowances are given as a deduction in arriving at taxable profits 
as demonstrated in the simple example below. Unlike government grants, 
they have no immediate cash value. Their ultimate cash value is in the 
corporation tax that the company is shielded from paying by reason of this 
deduction from profits which would otherwise be taxed. 

Here is a very simple demonstration of how taxable profits are computed; 
the main message of the demonstration is that taxable profits are likely to 
be different in amount to the profits before taxation which appear in the 
profit and loss account: 

£ 

Profit before taxation, as in the 
profit and loss account 200 
Add back depreciation charged in arriving at 
profit before taxation 70 

270 

Deduct capital allowances 100 

Taxable profit for the year 170 

Deduct unrelieved tax losses brought forward 70 

Net assessable profits for tax purposes £ 100 

Corporation tax payable thereon @ 35% £ 35 

The £35 is called Mainstream Corporation Tax and will be referred to again 
shortly. 

Tax Losses 

If, after going through the computation of statutory income, a company 
reveals a loss for tax purposes this may be carried back 1 year and a claim 
made for repayment of any mainstream corporation tax paid in that year. 
Any part of the taxable loss still unrelieved may then be carried forward 
indefinitely to set off against future profits arising in the same business as 
demonstrated above. 
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Payment of Corporation Tax 

Corporat ion tax is payable in two stages: 

1. Mainstream Corporation Tax is due and payable on one date as follows: 

(a) Generally speaking the date is 9 months after the end of the company's 
financial year in which the assessable profits arose. 

(b) However, for companies incorporated prior to April 1965 some old 
tax rules apply whereby the tax is due and payable on a particular 1st 
January which can be a minimum of 9 months (for companies with a 31st 
March year end) to a maximum of 21 months (for companies with a 30th 
April year end) after the end of the company 's financial year.* 

This generous credit by the government is clearly advantageous to cash 
flow; however, it is a two-edged sword because it also means that the cash 
value of capital allowances are not felt until between 9 and 21 months after 
the year in which they have been earned. 

If the date of payment of tax is later than 12 months after the financial 
year end then clearly there will be two lots of tax owing at each balance-
sheet date. 

2. However, a significant acceleration of the date of payment of 
corporation tax might occur due to the incidence of Advance Corporat ion 
Tax which we must next explore. 

Advance Corporation Tax (ACT) 

When a company pays a dividend to shareholders it is deemed, for tax 
purposes, to be paid after deduction of personal income tax at the full 
personal rate, currently (1987) 27 percent. Thus if a company paid a 
dividend of £73 the tax authorities would deem this to be £100 less £27 
imputed personal income tax. This imputed tax clearly is calculated at 27/73 
χ the dividend paid and is called Advance Corporat ion Tax or A C T . 

The imputed amount must be paid over to the Collector of Taxes within 
2 weeks of the end of the quarter during which the dividend was paid. Any 
such payments are deemed to be on account of, and hence can be deducted 
from, the next payment mainstream corporat ion tax liability. Hence the 
title Advance Corporat ion Tax. 

For example: assume that the company in the simple demonstrat ion on 
page 176 decided to pay a dividend of £73—this will give rise to an A C T 

* In his 1987 Budget, the Chancellor announced a phasing out of the system described in 
(b). By 1990 all companies will have been brought on to (a). 

AIBAM-M 
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But ACT is in effect the "Catch 22" of capital allowances and loss relief! 
Suppose that , in the simple demonstrat ion on page 176, the company had 
unrelieved tax losses brought forward of £150: its net assessable profits for 
tax purposes would be only £20 and its mainstream liability thereon @ 35 
percent would be £7. But if the company still pays a dividend of £73 (after 
all it does have a profit before taxation of £200) then it must still make an 
ACT payment of £27 which it can deduct from its next mainstream liability 
. . . of £7. So the company has overpaid £20; this will not be repaid but is 
called unrecovered ACTand may be carried forward indefinitely until such 
time as it has an adequate mainstream liability from which to make the 
deduction. But what if it has another low mainstream liability next year? 
Many companies have found themselves in the unfortunate position of 
accumulating a "mounta in" of unrecovered A C T : 

— the good news is that they will have relatively little mainstream 
corporation tax to pay in the foreseeable future 

— the bad news is that the unrecovered ACT has created an unfortunate 
drain on its cash flow 

— the other bad news is that future legislation could possibly impose a 
time limit on the carry forward of unrelieved A C T 

Several companies have offered shareholders additional shares in lieu of 
a cash dividend in order to avoid the payment of ACT and so prevent adding 
to their mountain of unrecovered A C T . 

Deferred Taxation 

From earlier sections of this chapter it will be apparent that the payment 
for corporation tax in any year may bear little relationship to 35 percent 

payment of 27/73 χ £73, or £27 and hence the corporation tax payment 
pattern will be as follows: 

£ 
A C T paid within 2 weeks of the end 
of the quarter in which the dividend 
is paid 27 
Mainstream liability paid 9 months 
after the financial year end 35 

deduct ACT payment 27 8 

Total corporation tax payable £ 35 
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of the profit before taxation which appears in the company's profit and loss 
account for that year. However these two amounts should approximate to 
each other over time because any difference arises largely due to timing; 
an obvious example is the difference between the rate at which capital 
expenditure is spread via depreciation compared to how it is spread via 
capital allowances—over the whole life of the asset the two amounts must 
be the same in total . 

Applying the accounting concept of relevance (see page 29), these timing 
differences can be ironed out through the technique of adjusting for deferred 
taxation. Let us return again to our demonstrat ion on page 176, but , for 
simplicity, assume that there are no unrelieved tax losses brought forward: 
35 percent of the profit before taxation of £200 is £70 yet the corporation 
tax payable would be only £59.5 (35 percent of the taxable profit of £170). 
The difference of £10.5 is explained by the difference between depreciation 
(£70) and capital allowances (£100) or £30 @ 35 percent. To iron out this 
difference, an entry in the profit and loss account might appear as follows: 

£ 

Profit before taxation 200 

Taxation: 
U.K. corporation tax @ 35% 
Deferred taxation 

Profit after taxation 130 

The £10.5 will be shown as deferred taxation in the balance sheet under 
provision for liabilities and charges (see for example page 193 for Typical 
Products Ltd.) . This balance sheet entry will accumulate over the years and 
subsequently, if capital allowances are lower than the depreciation charge, 
an appropriate amount will be transferred back from deferred taxation to 
the profit and loss account. Hence the adjustment for deferred taxation 
irons out any timing differences so that the charge for corporation tax 
appears in the profit and loss account at the amount which would have been 
payable had the company 's depreciation charge been allowed as capital 
allowances. 

Deferred taxation can be more complicated than this in practice (see for 
example note 5 to John Waddington P L C ' s accounts at pages 204-205). 

In practice a provision for deferred taxation will only be made to the 
extent that the directors of the company feel that there is a reasonable 
probability of its having to be paid in the foreseeable future. 

59.5 
10.5 

70 
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Taxation and Management Decisions 

Management is constantly being called upon to make decisions. The 
financial implication of a proposed course of action is one of the matters 
to be weighed in the balance when reaching a decision. The assistance which 
can be given to management by financial and management accounting has 
been discussed in earlier chapters; however, the financial result of any course 
of action must take into account the effect of taxation and this matter must 
never be overlooked if a reasoned decision is to be made. 

Some of the questions which might be asked are: 

1 . Will any contemplated expenditure be allowed as a deduction from 
income in computing taxable profit for Corporat ion Tax purposes? 

2. If disallowed, may it be regarded as capital expenditure and so be 
available for capital allowances? 

3. Irrespective of the answer to 1 and 2, can a government grant be claimed? 

4. Is the timing to the best advantage? This is important, apart from ACT, 
because tax legislation and rates of tax change over a period of time. 

5. Have affairs been arranged, documents been worded and events been 
followed to the best tax advantage, bearing in mind the letter of the law? 
Professional advice should be taken here. 

An example often quoted of the effect of arrangement of affairs concerns 
the raising of capital. Assume that all other considerations have been dealt 
with and the final decision now lies between preference capital and a 
debenture. Corporat ion Tax is affected because debenture interest is an 
allowable deduction for Corporation Tax purposes but preference dividend 
is not. With Corporation Tax at 35 percent, it becomes much more expensive 
to service a preference dividend than debenture interest of the same amount: 

10% Debenture 10% Preference 

£ £ 

Operating profit 
Interest payable on debenture 

300 
60 

300 

Profit before taxation 
Corporation tax @ 35% 

240 
84 

300 
105 

Profit after taxation 
Preference dividend 

156 195 
60 

Profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders £156 £135 
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Note that ordinary shareholders are better off by £21 under the debenture 
alternative. This is the benefit from tax shield on debenture interest (35 
percent of £60), i.e. the amount of tax which the company is shielded from 
paying by nature of the tax deductibility of debenture interest if the decision 
is made in this way. 

Mr. Bumble, in Oliver Twist, said that "The law is a ass" . Perhaps this 
is not true of all law, but tax law certainly can appear to be at times. 



Conclusion and Summary 

I N THIS book the reader has been introduced to various aspects of business 
accounting and to their inherent limitations. Interpretation of accounts has 
been a major feature and the view of accounting as a service to management 
has also been stressed. 

That accounting is an indispensable aid to efficient business management 
cannot be doubted: a vital factor when pursuing economic goals is sound 
financial management, guided by information produced by the accounting 
service. 

But what is accounting trying to measure, what are the financial flows 
around the business and what is the interrelationship between the many 
terms used in accounting reports? Perhaps it would be useful to summarize 
and pull together much of what has been discussed piecemeal through the 
18 chapters of this book. The flow chart appearing on page 183 attempts 
to do this and should be looked at in the light of the following commentary. 

1. The rectangles across the centre of the chart represent the essential 
elements of any business: i.e. we need customers, assets, suppliers, 
employees, providers of c a p i t a l . . . and government. Notice that there are 
two types of net asset operating and two types of providers of capital. 

2. The business cycle begins at the left of the chart when jhe customer 
places an order which is then processed through the utilization of fixed assets 
and working capital to produce sales. 

3. From sales is deducted the consumption of materials and bought-out 
services which leaves value added and from this is next deducted employee 
costs to leave potential cash flow from operations, or P C F O . 

4. P C F O now is split into two parts : depreciation and operating profit, 
or O P . 

5. Successively, O P now remunerates those who have lent money to the 
business (interest), the government (corporate tax) and the shareholders 
(dividend) finally leaving profit retained in the business or PRt . 

182 
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6. PRt plus depreciation now represent the total retention in the business 
which flows down and round to the finance filter. 

7. Additionally the finance filter takes in new finance from the providers 
of capital plus any proceeds of sale or liquidation of net operating assets. 

8. Management of the business now filters the available finance into one 
or more of four channels: 

(i) repayment of borrowed capital; 

(ii) back into the top of the net operating asset tank, i.e. the 
reinvestment in existing fixed assets and working capital on a 
replacement basis (including to provide for inflation) to ensure 
continuity of the business; 

(iii) again back into the top of the net operating asset tank but this time 
to provide for expansion of the existing business 

(iv) movement into the net operating asset tank of some other activity. 

. . . and so on round and round. 

But observe 

9. If the total retention in the business from 6 above becomes smaller, 
either because sales are too small or because any of the outflows from 
materials and bought-out services to dividend are too great, it may become 
difficult to ensure an adequacy of finance for expansion, or even for 
replacement: a business must generate retentions to survive. 

10. In times of inflation, more and more finance must be pumped from 
the finance filter into the top of the net operating asset tank just to provide 
for increased cost of replacement; this therefore requires a greater input 
of finance into the filter just to stand still or alternatively it may prevent 
real expansion a n d / o r investment in other activities. 

Accounting is not a device for pulling management out of a hopeless 
situation. A critical financial situation does not develop overnight: debtors 
do not suddenly cease to pay, stocks do not accumulate within the hour , 
creditors do not all clamour for payment without due warning, equipment 
does not suddenly require replacement, profits do not become losses without 
warning—all these things take place gradually over a period of t ime. It is 
too late for financial management when the position has become hopeless! 

Accounting information, for all its weaknesses and imperfections, will 
give adequate warning of unfavourable trends if frequently prepared and 
intelligently applied. Remedial action can then be taken whilst there is yet 
time and the health of the business preserved for the future. Small doses 



CONCLUSION 185 

of remedial action are much easier to administer, and take effect much more 
quickly, than a large-scale last ditch rescue operation. If a business is to 
be successful, its management must subscribe to the proverb "an ounce of 
prevention is worth a pound of cure" . 
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Summary of Provisions of Companies 
Act 1985 re Disclosure in Published 
Accounts of Limited Companies 

General 

With certain exemptions for small and medium sized companies (see 
below), every company shall, once at least in every calendar year, lay before 
the company in general meeting a profit and loss account and balance sheet 
containing the detailed particulars required by the Companies Acts. 

These financial statements must give a true and fair view of the company's 
state of affairs and must be compiled by applying the four fundamental 
accounting concepts discussed in Chapter 4 at page 29. Either historical cost 
accounting rules (either with or without revaluations of property) or current 
cost accounting rules may be applied. 

The 1981 Act, in compliance with the Fourth Directive of the E E C , 
introduced for the first time rigid formats for financial statements which 
are confirmed by the 1985 Act and described below. The statements may 
be put together in either horizontal or vertical form (see pages 24 and 25 
for a description of these two methods) but must disclose the principal 
captions identified below by letters and roman numerals. Subsidiary 
captions, identified by arabic numerals, may be combined together, or 
relegated to notes for convenience, or omitted altogether if immaterial. 

Balance Sheet Format 

Format 1 uses the vertical, or net assets approach whilst Format 2 uses 
the horizontal, or total assets approach. However, both must contain the 
following information: 

186 
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Assets 

A. Called up share capital not paid (alternatively can be shown at C II 5) 
B. Fixed assets 

I Intangible assets 
1. Development costs 
2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks and similar rights and 

assets 

3. Goodwill (to the extent that it was acquired for valuable 
consideration) 

4. Payments on account 

II Tangible assets 

1. Land and buildings 

2. Plant and machinery 

3. Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 

4. Payments on account and assets in course of construction 

III Investments 

1. Shares in group companies 

2. Loans to group companies 

3. Shares in related companies 

4. Loans to related companies 

5. Other investments other than loans 

6. Other loans 

7. Own shares 
C. Current assets 

I Stocks 

1. Raw materials and consumables 

2. Work in progress 

3. Finished goods and goods for resale 

4. Payments on account 

II Debtors (amounts falling due within one year to be shown 
separately from amounts falling due after more than one year) 
1. Trade debtors 

2. Amounts owed by group companies 

3. Amounts owed by related companies 

4. Other debtors 

5. Called up share capital not paid (alternatively can be shown at A) 
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6. Prepayments and accrued income (alternatively can be shown at D) 

III Investments 

1. Shares in group companies 

2 . Own shares 

3. Other investments 

IV Cash at bank and in hand 

D. Prepayments and accrued income (alternatively can be shown at C I I6) 

Liabilities 

A. Capital and reserves 
I Called up share capital 

II Share premium account 

III Revaluation reserve 

IV Other reserves 

1. Capital redemption reserve 

2 . Reserve for own shares 

3. Reserves provided for by the articles of association 

4. Other reserves 

V Profit and loss account 

B. Provisions for liabilities and charges 
1. Pensions and similar obligations 

2 . Taxation including deferred taxation 

3. Other provisions 

C. Creditors (amounts falling due within one year to be shown separately 
from amounts falling due after more than one year) 

1. Debenture loans (convertible loans to be shown separately) 

2 . Bank loans and overdrafts 

3. Payments received on account 

4. Trade creditors 

5. Bills of Exchange payable 

6. Amounts owed to group companies 

7. Amounts owed to related companies 

8 . Other creditors including taxation and social security 

9. Accruals and deferred income (alternatively can be shown at D) 

D. Accruals and deferred income (alternatively can be shown at C 9) 
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Profit and Loss Account Format 

Formats 1 and 2 use the vertical approach whilst Formats 3 and 4 use the 
horizontal approach. Two alternative approaches to content are permissible 
as demonstrated below: 
Formats 1 and 3 must contain the following information (note that all items 
areidentified by arabic numerals—see comment above): 

1. Turnover 
2. Cost of sales 
3. Gross profit or loss 
4. Distribution costs 
5. Administrative expenses 
6. Other operating income 
7. Income from shares in group companies 
8. Income from shares in related companies 
9. Income from other fixed asset investments 

10. Other interest receivable and similar income 
11. Amounts written off investments 
12. Interest payable and similar charges 
13. Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities 
14. Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation 
15. Extraordinary income 
16. Extraordinary charges 
17. Extraordinary profit or loss 
18. Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 
19. Other taxes not shown under the above items 
20. Profit or loss for the financial year 

Expense analysis in Formats 1 and 3 is classified by function as in items 2, 
4 and 5 above. Formats 2 and 4 owe much to the Value Added Statement 
concept and so classify expense by type, e.g. materials, staff costs, 
depreciation. In Formats 2 and 4 the following information must be given 
instead of items 2 to 5 above: 

change in stocks of finished goods and work in progress 
own work capitalized 
raw materials and consumables 
other external charges 
staff costs: 

(a) wages and salaries 
(b) social security costs 
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(c) other pension costs 
depreciation and other amounts written off fixed assets 
exceptional amounts written off current assets 
other operating charges 

An analysis of turnover and profit before taxation shall be given for each 
significantly different class of business carried on and an analysis of 
turnover by different markets shall also be given. 

If Formats 1 or 3 are selected, the amount of any provision for depreci-
ation shall be shown by way of note. 

Particulars to be disclosed in Directors' Report 

In addition to certain domestic matters (e.g. names of directors, principal 
activities of the group, dividend recommendation) the report shall give a 
fair review of the development of the business of the company and its 
subsidiaries during the year and of their position at the end of it. It shall 
also give the following specific information: 

(a) important post balance sheet events 
(b) likely future developments 
(c) research and development activities 
(d) acquisition of its own shares 

Small and Medium Sized Companies 

The Fourth Directive of the EEC defined a small and medium sized 
company in terms of European Units of Account which may be revised from 
time to t ime. The Act follows the Four th Directive and defines a small and 
medium sized company as one which meets two out of three of the following 
criteria: (The values for the first two criteria are current at the time of 
writing—1987) 

Small companies need only file an abbreviated balance sheet and need not 
file either a profit and loss account or a directors ' report . 

Medium sized companies need not disclose details or analysis of turnover 
nor cost of sales nor other operating income. 

Turnover not exceeding 
Total assets not exceeding 
Number of employees not exceeding 

Small 

£2 million £8 million 
£3.9 million 

250 

Medium 

£975 thousand 
50 
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Extracts from the Published 
Accounts Booklet of 
Typical Products Ltd. 

Notes: 

1. These accounts are quite hypothetical and are presented as support 
material to Chapter 11. 

2. Expressions used in these accounts are explained in Chapter 6, pages 
47-55. 

3. The interpretation of financial information contained in these accounts 
is explained in Chapter 11, pages 88-109. 

4. Appendix C is an actual extract from the published accounts booklet 
of John Waddington P L C for the year ended 29 March 1986. The reader 
may find it interesting to compare this with the hypothetical extract 
contained in Appendix B. 

191 
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Last yr. 
£000s 

See 
note 

This yr. 
£000s 

2,025 Sales 1 3,500 

123 Operating profit 2 168 

6 Interest payable 26 

117 
51 

Profit on ordinary activities 
before taxation 

Taxation 3 
142 
58 

66 
Profit on ordinary activities 
after taxation 84 

1 
Attributable to minority interests 
in subsidiaries 2 

65 
Profit attributable to Typical Products 
Ltd. shareholders 82 

3 Extraordinary items 3 

62 Profit for the year 79 

28 Dividends 4 60 

£ 34 Profit retained £ 19 

26.0p Earnings per share 5 18.2p 

Statement of Movement on Reserves 

206 Balance at end of last year 240 

34 Profit retained this year 19 

— Premium on issue of new shares 6 and 9 100 

£ 2 4 0 Balance at end of this year £ 3 5 9 

Typical Products Ltd. and Subsidiary Companies 
Group Profit and Loss Account for the year ended . . . 
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Current assets 
262 Stocks and work in progress 8 703 
254 Trade debtors 611 

22 Cash at bank and in hand 8 

538 1322 

Creditors—amounts falling due 
within one year 

— Bank overdrafts 190 
201 Trade creditors 613 

2 Taxation payable 3 4 
18 Dividend payable 4 40 

221 847 

317 Net current assets 475 

594 Total assets less current liabilities 920 

Creditors—amounts falling due after 
more than one year 

50 12% Debentures 2025/2030 50 

Provision for liabilities and charges 
46 Deferred taxation 3 53 

£ 498 Net assets £ 817 

Capital and reserves 
250 Called up share capital 9 450 

— Share premium account 9 & 6 100 
50 Revaluation reserve 50 

240 190 Profit and loss account 209 359 

490 Equity interest 809 

8 Minority interests in subsidiaries 8 

£ 498 £ 817 

AIBAM-N 

Typical Products Ltd. and Subsidiary Companies 
Group Balance Sheet as at . . . 

Last yr. See This yr. 
£000s note £000s 

Fixed assets 
262 Tangible assets 7 430 

15 Investments 15 

277 445 
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Last yr. See This yr. 
£000s note £000s 

123 Operating profit 168 

13 Depreciation 2 38 

136 Potential cash flow from operations 206 

Movement in fixed assets 7 
10 Sale 23 

(40) Purchase (229) 
(30) (206) 

Movement in working capital 
(30) Stocks (increase)/decrease (441) 
(25) Trade debtors (increase)/decrease (357) 
52 Trade creditors (decrease)/increase 412 

(3) (386) 

103 Actual cash flow from operations (386) 

Non-operating cash flows 
(55) Taxation paid 3 (49) 

Financial obligation 
(6) Interest paid (26) 

(26) Dividend paid 4 (38) 
(1) Profit attributable to minority interests (2) 
(3) Extraordinary items (3) 
— Issue of new ordinary shares 9 300 

12 Total cash flow for the year (204) 

Cash at bank and in hand at beginning 
10 of the year 22 

Cash at bank and in hand/(net borrowing) 
£ 22 at the end of the year* £ (182) 

* Net borrowing at end of year: 
22 Cash at bank and in hand 8 
— Bank overdrafts (190) 

£ 2 2 £ (182) 

Typical Products Ltd. and Subsidiary Companies 
Cash Flow Statement 
(Group Statement of Source and Application of Funds) 
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Please Note: 

These notes are reproduced only to assist the financial analysis of the 
accounts. They do not purport to reflect the Notes to the Accounts which 
must be incorporated in published accounts booklets to fulfil legal and other 
requirements. In practice the Notes to the Accounts are both detailed and 
lengthy; the example from John Waddington P L C at pages 201 to 202 is 
a good reflection of best current practice. 

Last yr. This yr. 
£000s £000s 

2025 1. Sales 3500 

This represents amounts invoiced to external 
customers excluding VAT (Value Added Tax) 

2. Operating profit 

13 This is after charging depreciation of 38 

3. Taxation 

a. The charge in the profit and loss account is 
the relevant charge for the year and includes an 

51 element of deferred taxation (see page 179) 58 

b. The actual payment in the cash flow statement 
is made up as follows: 

Amount owing at start of year (see balance sheet) 
Taxation payable 2 

^2 Deferred taxation 46 ^ 

51 Add the charge from the profit and loss acount 58 

103 106 
Deduct amount owing at end of year 

2 Taxation payable 4 
46 Deferred taxation 53 

48 — 57 

55 Equals taxation paid (see cash flow statement) 49 

4. Dividends 
a. the charge in the profit and loss account is 

the dividend declared for the year: 
10 4p per share Interim 4.4p per share 20 
18 7p per share Final 8.8p per share 40 

28 l i p per share Total 13.2p per share 60 

(250) (No . of shares) (450) 

Typical Products Ltd. and Subsidiary Companies 
Notes supporting the accounts for the year ended . . . 
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b. The actual payment in the cash flow statement 
is made up as follows: 

Amount owing at start of year (see balance sheet) 
16 Dividend payable 18 
28 Add amount declared for the year as above 60 

44 78 

Deduct amount still owing at end of year 
18 Dividend payable 40 

26 Equals dividend paid (see cash flow statement) 38 

26.Op 5. Earnings per Share 18.2p 

This is the profit attributable to Typical 
Products Ltd. shareholders divided by the number 

6 5 - 2 5 0 of shares 82 + 450 

— 6. Premium on issue of new shares 100 

This is the "profit" on issue of 200 new £1 
ordinary shares @ £1.50 each: i.e. 200 χ 50p 

7. Fixed assets 

The movement on tangible fixed assets during 
this year is as follows: 

Balance sheet value at end of last year 262 
Add purchases (i.e. capital expenditure) 229 

Deduct sale of fixed assets 23 
depreciation 38 

491 

61 

Balance sheet value at end of this year 430 

262 8. Stocks and work in progress 703 

Have been consistently valued at the lower of 
cost or estimated realizable values. Cost includes 
materials and, where appropriate, direct labour and 
production overhead and is determined on the 
FIFO (first in first out) basis. 

250 9. Called up share capital 450 

a. This represents ordinary shares of £1 each 
allotted and fully paid. 

b. During the year an additional 200 shares were 
issued by rights issue @ £1.50 each; the resulting 
share premium has been transferred to reserves. 

10. Accounting Convention 

The accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention and therefore the impact 
of inflation has not been taken into account. 
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Extracts from the Published Accounts 
Booklet of John Waddington PLC for 
the year ended 29 March 1986 

Notes: 

1. These pages are reproduced simply as an example of good practice and 
no further comment will be made upon them. 

2. The reader is invited to note the difference between the hypothetical 
Appendix Β and the real example herewith. 

3. Note in particular the very many notes which are required in practice 
to support a set of published accounts. 

4. Note the statement of accounting policies on page 201. 

The author wishes to thank John Waddington P L C for permission to 
reproduce. 

Report of the Auditors 
to the Members of John Waddington P L C 

We have audited the accounts on pages 198-212 in accordance with 
approved auditing s tandards. 

In our opinion the accounts give a t rue and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the company and of the group at 29 March 1986 and of the profit and 
source and application of funds of the group for the year then ended and 
comply with the Companies Act 1985. 

Price Waterhouse 

Chartered Accountants 

18 June 1986 
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198 A N INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS ACCOUNTING FOR M A N A G E R S 

John Waddington PLC Consolidated profit and loss account 

for the year ended 29 March 1986 

1986 1985 

Notes £000 £000 

Turnover 
Costs and overheads 

1 
2 

98,207 
90,305 

77,616 
70,962 

Operating profit 
Interest 4 

7,902 
1,489 

6,654 
912 

Profit before taxation 
Taxation 

1 
5 

6,413 
1,554 

5,742 
978 

Profit after taxation before 
extraordinary items 4,859 4,764 

Extraordinary items 6 801 888 

Profit for year 
Dividends 7 

4,058 
2,539 

3,876 
2,130 

Profit retained 1,519 1,746 

Earnings per ordinary share 8 52.0p 57.6p 

Statement of retained profits 

Profit and loss account at 
31 March 1985 
Profit retained 
Exchange adjustments 

11,302 
1,519 
(108) 

9,467 
1,746 

89 

Profit and loss account at 
29 March 1986 12,713 11,302 
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John Waddington PLC 

V H Watson 
D G Perry 
Directors 
Approved by the Board 
on 18 June 1986 

Balance sheets 

at 29 March 1986 

Group Company 
1986 1985 1986 1985 

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets 9 25,365 17,662 13,865 13,298 
Investments 10 — — 10,025 6,299 

25,365 17,662 23,890 19,597 

Current assets 
Stocks 11 17,677 14,200 9,825 9,024 
Debtors 12 22,832 16,545 12,928 11,733 
Cash at bank and 
in hand 13 2,200 642 1,303 539 

42,709 31,387 24,056 21,296 

Creditors (due within one year) 
Borrowings 14 6,220 2,582 4,603 1,477 
Other creditors 15 29,502 18,256 15,043 12,347 

35,722 20,838 19,646 13,824 

Net current assets 6,987 10,549 4,410 7,472 

Total assets 
less current liabilities 32,352 28,211 28,300 27,069 

Creditors (due after one year) 
Borrowings 14 5,659 3,559 3,536 3,559 

26,693 24,652 24,764 23,510 

Capital and reserves 
Called up share 
capital 16 3,143 2,793 3,143 2,793 
Share premium 
account 17 6,176 6,133 6,176 6,133 
Revaluation 
reserve 3,415 3,415 3,415 3,415 
Other non distributable 
reserves 17 1,246 1,009 1,246 1,009 
Profit and loss 
account 18 12,713 11,302 10,784 10,160 

26,693 24,652 24,764 23,510 
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John Waddington PLC Source and application of funds 

for the year ended 29 March 1986 

Source of funds 
Funds generated from trading 
operations 
Shares issued 

Total funds generated 

Application of funds 
Additions to tangible assets 
Increase in working capital 
Dividend payments 
Taxation payments 

Funds applied in trading 
operations 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (see 
note below) 
Closure and restructuring costs 
Bid defence costs 

Decrease in net liquid funds 

Note 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 
comprises: 

Tangible assets 
Stocks 
Debtors 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Net borrowings 
Goodwill 
Shares issued 

Cash consideration 

Notes 

19 

19 

£000 

6,705 
3,300 
5,503 

(8,285) 
(1,512) 
(2,337) 
6,991 

(7,563) 

2,802 

1986 1985 
£000 £000 

9,121 7,790 
58 5,258 

9,179 13,048 

4,094 4,255 
68 4,216 

2,269 1,6% 
1,089 478 

7,520 10,645 

2,802 1,611 
700 548 

— 340 

11,022 13,144 

(1,843) (96) 
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John Waddington PLC 

Accounting policies 
General 

Turnover 

Tangible assets 

Depreciation 

Goodwill 

Stocks 

Deferred tax 

Rates of exchange 

Research and 
development 
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Notes to the accounts 

The group accounts are prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of certain assets and 
consolidate the accounts of the holding company and 
subsidiaries on the basis of audited accounts made up to the 
Saturday falling within the period from 29 March to 4 April each 
year. 

Turnover represents amounts invoiced to external customers, 
excluding value added tax. 

Tangible assets in the accounts of each company within the 
group are stated at net cost to the group after deducting grants, 
except in the case of certain assets which have been revalued, 
less aggregate depreciation. 

The charge is calculated at rates appropriate to write off the net 
cost or valuation of individual assets from the time they become 
operational by equal annual instalments over their estimated 
useful lives which are principally as follows: 
Freehold buildings 25 or 50 years 
Leasehold property 50 years or the period of lease if shorter 
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles 5 or 10 years 
Freehold land is not depreciated. 

The amount by which the consideration on the acquisition of 
a business exceeds its net tangible assets is written off against 
reserves. 

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
Cost includes appropriate overheads and is determined on the 
"first in first out" or average cost basis. 

Provision is made for deferred tax only where there is a 
reasonable probability of payment in the foreseeable future. 
Advance corporation tax not expected to be recovered in the 
foreseeable future is written off in the profit and loss account. 

Assets and liabilities expressed in overseas currencies are 
translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date and trading results at average rates during the year. 
The overseas fixed assets of the holding company have been 
translated into sterling at the rate ruling at the date of the balance 
sheet. 
Exchange gains or losses of a trading nature are dealt with in 
the profit and loss account; other gains and losses and 
translation differences are credited directly to reserves. 

All such expenditure is written off in the year in which it is 
incurred. 



202 A N INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS ACCOUNTING FOR M A N A G E R S 

John Waddington PLC 

1. Segment 
Information 

2. Costs and overheads 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Group turnover and profit before taxation by class of 
business is analysed below: 

Profit before 
Turnover taxation 

1986 1985 1986 1985 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Packaging 43,995 34,503 4,924 3,872 
Business forms and 
security 36,142 26,720 2,291 1,529 
Games 18,070 16,393 687 1,253 

98,207 77,616 7,902 6,654 
Interest (1,489) (912) 

98,207 77,616 6,413 5,742 

The geographical analysis 
of group turnover is as 
follows: 
North America 
United Kingdom and rest 
of the world 

6,472 5,177 

91,735 72,439 

98,207 77,616 

Turnover and profit before taxation includes £12,462,000 and 
£871,000 respectively relating to acquisitions during the year. 

1986 1985 
£000 £000 

Change in stocks of finished goods 
and work in progress (578) (1,676) 
Own work capitalized (47) (60) 
Other operating income (1,247) (1,004) 
Raw materials and consumables 44,943 37,576 
Other external charges 14,624 11,175 
Staff costs (Note 3) 29,358 22,680 
Depreciation 2,505 1,893 
Other operating charges 747 378 

90,305 70,962 

Other external and operating charges 
include: 
Auditors' remuneration 130 96 
Hire of plant and equipment 438 567 
Profit on sale of properties — (455) 
Profit on sale of other tangible assets (154) (100) 
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3 . Employees and Staff costs 1986 1985 
directors £000 £000 

Wages and salaries 26,358 20,418 
Social security costs 1,949 1,574 
Other pension costs 901 688 

29,358 22,680 

The average number of persons 
employed by the group during the 
year was: Number of employees 
United Kingdom 2,769 2,339 
Rest of World 295 103 

3,064 2,442 

The emoluments of the directors of 
the company included above were as 
follows: £000 £000 
Fees 14 11 
Management remuneration 261 216 
Termination payments to former 
director — 17 

275 244 

Directors' emoluments, excluding 
pension contributions, fell within the 
following ranges: 

Number of directors 
1986 1985 

£ 0-£ 5,000 1 2 
£ 5,001-£10,000 2 1 
£10,001-£15,000 1 — 
£25,001-£30,000 — 1 
£30,001-£35,000 1 — 
£35,001-£40,000 2 2 
£50,001-£55,000 — 2 
£55,001-£60,000 1 — 
£60,001-£65,000 1 — 
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3. Employees and 
directors (continued) 

4. Interest 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

During the year ended 29 March 1986 there were two (1985 
one) directors who served for part of the year. 
Included above are the emoluments of the chairman which 
were £64,083 (1985 £54,413). 
Employees of the company received remuneration in excess 
of £30,000 within the following ranges: 

Number of employees 

£30,001-£35,000 
£40,001-£45,000 

Debentures 
Bank loans 
Bank overdrafts 
Other 

1986 
2 
1 

1986 
£000 

95 
677 
663 

99 

1985 
3 
1 

1985 
£000 

% 
541 
306 

1 

1,537 944 

Income from short term investments (48) (32) 

1,489 912 

5. Taxation Based on profits for the year: 
UK corporation tax at 40% 
Overseas taxation 
Advance corporation tax 

429 
64 

1,061 

1,554 

66 
912 

978 

The tax charge for the current year (1985 nil) has been 
reduced by £643,000 because of the excess of capital 
allowances over the related depreciation charges, the set off 
of advance corporation tax previously written off and other 
timing differences. 

Advance corporation tax written off of £2,207,000 (1985 
£2,639,000) is available to carry forward for set off against 
taxation on future profits. 

The potential liability at 35% for deferred taxation not 
dealt with in these accounts is as follows: 
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5. Taxation 
(continued) 

6. Extraordinary 
items 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Group Company 
1986 1985 1986 1985 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Accelerated capital 
allowances 4,547 4,071 3,085 3,067 
Losses carried forward (256) — — — 
Other timing differences 139 117 98 41 

4,430 4,188 3,183 3,108 
Advance corporation tax (2,207) (2,639) (2,207) (2,639) 

2,223 1,549 976 469 

It is anticipated that taxation on capital gains which may 
arise in the event of the sale of properties at their revalued 
amounts will be covered by "rollover" relief. 

Closure and restructuring costs 
Bid defence costs 

1986 
£000 

871 

1985 
£000 

548 
340 

871 888 
Less U.K. corporation tax relief thereon (70) — 

801 888 

7. Dividends Ordinary 
Interim of 13.0p per share (1985 12.0p) 
Proposed final of 13.Op per share 
(1985 12.0p) 

Prior year adjustment 

1,167 

1,322 
22 

1,050 

1,052 

Preference 
2,511 

28 

2,539 

2,102 
28 

2,130 

8. Earnings per 
ordinary share 

Profit before extraordinary items 
Preference dividends 

4,859 
28 

4,764 
28 

Earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders 4,831 4,736 

Average number of ordinary shares in 
issue during the year ranking for 
dividend 9,282,226 (1985 8,220,262) 
Earnings per ordinary share 52.0p 57.6p 
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9. Tangible assets 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

£000 Leasehold property Plant 
Freehold Long Short and Other 
property leases leases vehicles equipm't Total 

Group 
Cost or valuation 
31 March 1985 8,340 84 90 20,568 1,908 30,990 
Exchange 
adjustments (121) — (8) (134) (39) (302) 
Subsidiaries 
acquired 1,656 — 280 6,393 238 8,567 
Additions 73 — 3 3,668 350 4,094 
Disposais — — — (1,179) (50) (1,229) 

29 March 1986 9,948 84 365 29,316 2,407 42,120 

Being: Cost 3,902 84 365 29,316 2,407 36,074 
Valuation 1977 316 — — — — 316 
Valuation 1980 5,730 — — — — 5,730 

Aggregate Depreciation 
31 March 1985 619 10 16 11,709 974 13,328 
Exchange 
adjustments (29) — — (3D (25) (85) 
Subsidiaries 
acquired 22 — — 1,664 176 1,862 
Disposals — — — (983) (43) (1,026) 
Charge for year 151 2 8 2,142 202 2,505 
Extraordinary 
charge — — — 158 13 171 

29 March 1986 763 12 24 14,659 1,297 16,755 

Net book amount 
29 March 1986 9,185 72 341 14,657 1,110 25,365 

30 March 1985 7,721 74 74 8,859 934 17,662 

Company 
Cost or valuation 
31 March 1985 7,318 84 90 14,432 1,277 23,201 
Exchange 
adjustments (124) — — (4) (3) (131) 
Additions 70 — — 2,074 285 2,429 
Disposals and 
transfers 

- - — (781) (92) (873) 

29 March 1986 7,264 84 90 15,721 1,467 24,626 

Being: Cost 1,228 84 90 15,721 1,467 18,590 
Valuation 1977 306 — — — _ 306 
Valuation 1980 5,730 — — — — 5,730 

Aggregate depreciation 
31 March 1985 582 10 16 8,563 732 9,903 
Exchange 
adjustments (28) — — (3) — (31) 
Disposal and 
transfers — — — (509) (79) (588) 
Charge for year 122 2 3 1,224 126 1,477 

29 March 1986 676 12 19 9,275 779 10,761 

Net book amount 

29 March 1986 6,588 72 71 6,446 688 13,865 

30 March 1985 6,736 74 74 5,869 545 13,298 
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9. Tangible assets 
(continued) 

10. Investments 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Net amount 7,897 4,784 3,695 3,829 

Future capital expenditure not provided in the accounts: 
Contracts placed 1,153 572 296 253 
Authorized by the directors 
but for which contracts not 
yet placed 2,040 353 48 277 

3,193 925 344 530 

Accumulated 
Shares Loans Losses Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
At 31 March 1985 9,030 2,060 (4,791) 6,299 
Exchange adjustment — (67) — (67) 
Movement during year 2,827 1,580 (614) 3,793 

At 29 March 1986 11,857 3,573 (5,405) 10,025 

Comet Products Inc. was acquired for an initial consideration 
of $8,400,000. In addition, further consideration payments are 
payable at amounts equivalent to 33 percent of this company's 
adjusted pre-tax profits for each of the four financial years 
ending 31 March 1990. 

Label Converters Limited was acquired for an initial consider-
ation of £1,650,000. Further consideration of £700,000 is 
payable within seven days of the group's 1986 annual general 
meeting and depending upon the amount of pre-tax profits of 
the company for the period from 1 April 1985 to 31 March 1988 
an additional amount of consideration to a maximum of 
£350,000 is payable within seven days of the group's annual 
general meeting to be held in 1988. 

The principal trading subsidiaries are: 
Waddingtons Business Forms (Clayton 
West) Limited England 
Eyre & Spottiswoode Limited England 
Label Converters Limited England 
The House of Questa Limited England 

On a historical cost basis land and buildings would have been 
stated at: 

Group Company 
1986 1985 1986 1985 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost 7,210 5,327 4,297 4,351 
Aggregate depreciation 687 543 602 522 
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10. Investments 
(continued) 

11. Stocks 

12. Debtors 

13. Cash at bank and 
in hand 

14. Borrowings 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

The Ormond Printing Co. Limited Ireland 
Waddington Sanders Inc. Canada 
Waddingtons Games Inc. U.S .A. 
Comet Products Inc. U.S .A. 
These subsidiary companies are wholly owned by John 
Waddington PLC. Particulars of certain subsidiaries have been 
omitted because their results are insignificant. Some U.K. 
subsidiaries have not traded as principals but have acted as 
agents of the parent company. 

Group Company 
1986 1985 1986 1985 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Raw materials 7,072 6,292 4,657 3,999 
Work in progress 5,385 4,656 2,648 2,972 
Finished goods 5,220 3,252 2,520 2,053 

17,677 14,200 9,825 9,024 

Trade debtors 20,102 14,130 10,336 8,599 
Other debtors 1,620 1,408 1,206 1,273 
Prepayments and accrued 
income 1,110 1,007 627 633 
Amounts owed by group 
companies — — 759 1,228 

22,832 16,545 12,928 11,733 

Short term deposits 635 182 73 95 
Cash and bank balances 1,565 460 1,230 444 

2,200 642 1,303 539 

Secured 
\OV2°/o Debenture stock 
1990/95 912 912 912 912 
Bank loan in foreign 
currency at a floating rate 
on variable fixture terms 462 429 — — 

1,374 1,341 912 912 
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14. Borrowings 
(continued) 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Group 
1986 1985 

Company 
1986 1985 

Unsecured 
Bank loans in sterling at 
various floating rates and 
fixture terms 
Bank loans in foreign 
currencies at various 
floating rates and fixture 
terms 
Bank overdrafts 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

2,500 3,230 2,500 3,230 

6,813 
1,192 

1,455 
115 

4,690 
37 

857 
37 

11,879 6,141 8,139 5,036 

Repayable 
Over five years 3,662 912 3,412 912 
Between two and five years 1,595 2,000 — 2,000 
Between one and two years 402 647 124 647 

5,659 3,559 3,536 3,559 
Within one year 6,220 2,582 4,603 1,477 

11,879 6,141 8,139 5,036 

The debenture stock is secured by a first floating charge on 
the undertaking, property and assets of the company. 

The bank loan in foreign currency is secured on the current 
assets of an overseas subsidiary. 

Trade creditors 14,438 10,459 6,814 6,133 
Corporation tax 3,213 1,306 1,515 928 
Social security and 
taxation 3,095 2,190 1,774 1,136 
Accruals and deferred 
income 3,333 1,447 1,292 844 
Dividend 1,322 1,052 1,322 1,052 
Amounts due to group 
companies — — 143 638 
Other 4,101 1,802 2,183 1,616 

29,502 18,256 15,043 12,347 

A I B A M-0 

15. Other creditors 
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16. Called up share 
capital 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Authorized 

5.6% Cumulative 
preference shares of £1 
each 

4 .2% Cumulative 
preference shares of £1 
each 

Ordinary shares of 25p 
each 

1986 
£000 

200 

500 

2,700 

1985 
£000 

200 

500 

2,700 

Allotted and 
fully paid 

1986 1985 
£000 £000 

200 200 

401 401 

2,542 2,192 

3,400 3,400 3,143 2,793 

In accordance with the provisions of the Label Converters 
Limited purchase agreement, within seven days of the group's 
annual general meeting to be held on 25 July 1986 the company 
is to issue to the vendors, shares equivalent to the market value 
of £700,000. 

During the year the company issued 58,134 ordinary shares of 
25p each in accordance with the rules of the share option 
schemes. 

Under share option schemes, share options outstanding at 29 
March 1986 to subscribe for ordinary shares of 25p each were 
as follows: 

Number Price per share Exercisable 
4,706 98.5p 1986 
1,412 105.3p 1986 

61,760 98.5p between 1986 and 1989 
64,636 105.3p 1987 
17,864 75 . lp 1987 

150,000 550p between 1988 and 1995 
1,972 233p 1988 

71,730 105.3p 1989 
13,039 75.1p 1989 
12,636 484p 1990 
26,813 518p 1990 

9 ,6% 484p 1992 
17,414 518p 1992 



A P P E N D I X C 211 

John Waddington PLC 

17. Reserves 

18. Profit and loss 
account 

19. Source and 
application of funds 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Share premium account 
At 31 March 1985 
Arising in year 

At 29 March 1986 

Other non distributable reserves 
At 31 March 1985 
Surplus arising from issue of shares 
on acquisition of subsidiaries 
Goodwill arising on acquisitions 

At 29 March 1986 

1986 
£000 

6,133 
43 

1985 
£000 

1,249 
4,884 

6,176 6,133 

1,009 2,070 

7,228 
(6,991) 

1,246 

(1,061) 

1,009 

John Waddington PLC has not presented its own profit and loss 
account as permitted by Section 228 (7) of the Companies Act 
1985. The amount of the consolidated profit for the financial 
year dealt with in the profit and loss account of the holding 
company is shown below: 

At 31 March 1985 
Profit retained 
Exchange gain 

At 29 March 1986 

Funds generated from 
trading operations 
comprises: 
Profit before taxation 
Depreciation 
Profit on sale of tangible 
assets 
Proceeds on sale of 
tangible assets 

£000 
10,160 

618 
6 

10,784 

1986 
£000 

6,413 
2,505 

(154) 

357 

1985 
£000 

5,742 
1,893 

(555) 

710 

9,121 7,790 
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19. Source and 
application of funds 

(continued) 

20. Pension 
commitments 

Notes to the accounts (continued) 

Increase in working capital 
comprises: 
Stocks 
Debtors 
Creditors 
Exchange adjustments relating to 
overseas subsidiaries 

1986 
£000 

1985 
£000 

177 2 ,4% 
784 2,659 

(784) (912) 

(109) 

68 

(27) 

4,216 

The group operates pension schemes for its employees. These 
schemes are in the main financed through separate trustee 
administered funds. Contributions to these funds, which are 
charged against profit, are based upon actuarial advice following 
the most recent valuation of such funds. 
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The Use of Discount Tables 

T H E PRESENT Value Table, or Discount Table, reproduced on page 215 is' 
simply a compound interest table in reverse. Look at any item down the 
10 percent column: the line above it will be 10 percent higher. 

A compound interest table starts with a present value of £1 and accumu-
lates forward through time to arrive at a future sum: the greater the rate of 
interest or the longer the time, the larger the future sum will be, and vice versa. 

A present value table starts with a future sum of £1 and compounds 
backwards (i.e. discounts) through time to arrive at a present value: the 
greater the rate of interest or the longer the t ime, the smaller the present 
value will be, and vice versa. So the present value of a future sum is the 
amount which, if invested now at a specified rate of compound interest, 
will accumulate to that future sum at the end of the given period of time. 
Or put another way, the present value of a future sum is the most you ought 
to invest now for the right to receive that future sum at the given future time. 
Clearly the present value of any future sum must be smaller the greater the 
rate of compound interest required. 

For example: with compound interest of 10 percent p.a. , the most I ought 
to invest now for the right to receive £1 in 5 years time is £0.621 (look at 
the present value table 5 year line, 10 percent column); however if I am 
looking for 20 percent p .a . compound interest, then the most I ought to 
invest now is £0.402 (5 year line, 20 percent column). 

The present value table relates to just £1 of future income; hence, with 
compound interest at 10 percent, the mosï I ought to invest now for the right 
to receive £2496 in 5 years time is £2496 χ 0.621 or £1550. 

With compound interest of 15 percent, what is the most that I ought to 
invest now for the right to receive the following package of future sums: 
£100 after one year, plus £200 after 2 years, plus £700 after 3 years, plus 
£800 after 4 years? The present value table is used to ascertain the answer 
as follows: 

213 
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Year Future 15% discount Present value 
sum factor @ 15% 

£ £ 
a b c = a x b 

1 100 0.870 87.0 
2 200 0.756 151.2 
3 700 0.658 460.6 
4 800 0.572 457.6 

Total £1800 £1156.4 

The reader is invited to prove that with a compound interest rate of 20 
percent, the present value of the above stream of future sums falls to £1013. 

Variations on the use of the present value table permit the calculation 
of a net present value (NPV) or an internal rate of return (IRR). These 
expressions are described in Chapter 16. 

Using slightly different words to those used elsewhere in this book, we 
have three significant pieces of terminology: 

The present value of a cash inflow which is expected to be received at a 
specified time in the future is that amount which, if invested today at a 
specified compound rate of return, would accumulate to that cash inflow. 

The net present value of a project is the difference between the present 
value of that project 's estimated future cash inflows and the present value 
of its estimated investment outlay. A project is financially acceptable if its 
net present value is equal to , or greater than, zero at a specified compound 
rate of return. 

The internal rate of return of a project is that compound rate of return 
which makes the net present value of a project equal zero. It is thus that 
compound rate of return which is offered by the project's estimated future 
cash inflows. (In practice the internal rate of return is found by trial and 
error: i.e. keep trying different rates until one is found which produces a 
net present value of zero.) 
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I N D E X 

A b s o r p t i o n cost ing 1 1 6 , 1 3 5 

A / c 11 

A c c o u n t 1 1 

ba lance 1 4 

Accountant Award 79 
Accounting 

concepts 28 
conventions 30 
cost 4, 116, 130 
current cost 30, 75 
financial 2 
historical cost 30, 196, 201 
inflation for 72 
limitations 5 
management 4, 116, 130 
period 26 
policies 37, 81 , 201 
reliability o f 8 
standards 38, 79 

Accounting Standards Committee 38, 
72 

Accrued liabilities 26 
Acid test 99, 106 
ACT 53, 177 

unrecovered 178 
Added Value 56, 80, 183 
Administration overhead 123 
Advance Corporation Tax 53, 177 
Allotted share capital 43, 49 
Annual accounts 27, 47, 191, 197 
Annual report 81, 191, 197 
Appropriation o f profit 47 
Articles o f Association 41 
ASC 3 8 , 7 2 
"A" shares 45 
Asset turnover ratio 92 
Assets 

current 23, 33, 99 
fixed 2 3 , 3 1 , 9 7 
productivity 97 
revaluation 31, 75, 206 
tangible 54 

Associated company 86 
Auditor's report 39, 82, 197 

Authorized share capital 43, 49, 210 
Automation 170 

Back check 164 
Balance 14 
Balance sheet 21 , 193, 199 

current cost 74 
horizontal 24 
value 34, 104 
vertical 25, 193, 199 

Board of directors 46 
Bonus share 51 
Book-keeping 10 
Break-even 

analysis 146 
chart 148, 150 
point 146, 162 

Break-up value 104 
Budgetary control 143 
Budget centre 124, 142 
Budgeting 140 
Budgets 141 

Called up share capital 43 
Capital 

account 20 
and reserves 49 
gearing 94 
lazy 163 
See also Share capital 

Capital allowances 175 
Capital expenditure 30 

appraisal 155 
control 164 
non-profit-making 163 
post audit 164 

Capitalisation issue 51 
Cash book 14 
Cash flow 61, 69 

discounted 157, 159, 213 
from operations 63, 91 , 153, 194 
non-operating 65, 194 
statement 65, 194, 200 

Cash forecast 143 
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Cash transaction 12 
CCA 7 3 , 7 5 
Chip, silicon 169 
Collector of Taxes 174 
Colt International Ltd. 58 
Companies Acts 77, 186 
Compound interest 213 
Computer models 169 
Computers 168 
Consistency 29 
Consolidated accounts 82 
Constant (current) purchasing 

power 73 
Continuous stationery 170 
Contractual obligations 65 
Contribution 134, 146 

to sales ratio 113 
Conventions 30 
Corporate Report 79, 80 
Corporation Tax 53, 173 

ACT 53, 177 
mainstream 176, 177 

Cost 128 
of goods sold 17, 128 
of production 123, 128 
prime 118, 128 
total 128, 129 

Cost accounting 116 ,130 
Cost centre 121, 125 
Costing 

absorption 116, 135 
marginal 130, 135 

Cost of sales adjustment 75 
Cost rates 121, 125, 169 
Cover 

dividend 102, 107 
interest 101, 107 

CPP 73 
Credit 11 
Creditors 13 

payment period 97 
to purchases ratio 97 
trade 91 

Credit trading 12, 62 
Credit transaction 12 
Cumulative preference share 44 
Current asset 23, 33, 99 
Current cost 30, 74, 75 
Current cost accounting 36, 75 
Current liability 23, 99 
Current ratio 99, 106 

Data processing 165 
Day book 14 
DCF 157, 159, 213 
Debentures 45, 55 
Debit 11 
Debt 94 

Debt/equity ratio 94, 106 
Debtors 13 

collection period 97 
to sales ratio 97 
trade 91 

Deferred shares 45 
Deferred taxation 53, 178, 205 
Depreciation 31 ,201 

additional for inflation 75 
fixed instalment 32 
reducing balance 32 
straight line 32 
valuation method 33 

Direct expense 117 
Directors 46 

report 81, 190 
Discount tables 213 ,215 
Discounted cash flow 157, 159, 213 
Distribution overhead 129 
Dividend 52, 205 

cover 102, 107 
final 52 ,205 
interim 52, 205 
yield 103, 107 

Double-entry book-keeping 11 

ED (exposure draft) 38, 73 
EDP 170 
EEC 39, 78, 186 
Employees' report 87 
EPS (earnings per share) 54, 94, 101, 

107, 208 
Equity 94 

interest 49 
shares 44 

Expense 
direct 117 
fixed 132 
indirect 118 
stepped 133 
variable 132 

Exposure draft 38 
Extraordinary items 54, 192, 205 

FASB 39 



INDEX 

Fault finding chart 1 1 1 , 1 1 3 , 1 1 4 , 1 1 5 
FIFO 34, 196, 201 
Final dividend 52, 205 
Financial 

accounting 2 
fault finding chart 111, 113, 114, 

115 
ratios 88, 110 
structure 89, 100, 106, 183 
viability 1 

First year allowance 175 
Fixed asset 23 
Fixed expenses 132 
Flexible budget 144 
Floating 

charge 45, 209 
debenture 45 
rate 209 

Funds 
flow of 66, 183 
source and application of 65, 194, 

200 

Gearing 94 
adjustment 76 

Going concern 29 
Goodwill 34 
Gross margin 134 
Gross profit 1 7 , 4 8 
Group accounts 82, 191 

Historical cost accounting 30 
Hyde Guidelines 74 
Hyde, William 74 

Incremental analysis 152 
Index of Retail Prices 70 
Indirect expense 118 

absorption of 120 
recovery of 120 

Inflation 67, 162 
Inspector of Taxes 174 
Interest cover 101, 107 
Interim dividend 52, 205 
Internal rate of return 157, 160, 214 
IRR 157, 160, 214 
Investments 

in associated company 87 
in related company 87 
in subsidiary company 83 
trade 87 
others 87 

Issued share capital 43 

Journal 14 

Keyboard accounting machine 167 

Language problem 5 
Lazy capital 163 
Ledger 13 
Leverage 94 
Liabilities 

current 23, 99 
deferred 54 
long term 23 

LIFO 34 
Limited company 40 

medium 190 
private 42 
public 42 
small 190 

Limiting factor 141 
Liquidity 89, 99, 106 
Long-term planning 139 

Mainstream tax 176, 177 
Management accounting 4 , 1 1 6 , 1 3 0 
Margin 134 
Margin of safety 151, 162 
Marginal costing 130 
Marketing overhead 126 
Master budget 142 
Medium sized company 190 
Memorandum of Association 41 
Microcomputers 169 
Minority interests 8 1 , 1 9 3 
Modelling 169 
Monetary items 71 
Monetary working capital adjustment 

76 

Monitoring performance 140 
Morpeth, Douglas 73 
Mortgage debenture 45 

Net assets 25, 193 
group 84 

Net current assets 25, 193, 199 
Net operating assets 91 , 183 
Net present value 157, 161, 214 
Net profit 17, 48 
Net worth 20, 25 
NPV 1 5 7 , 1 6 1 , 2 1 4 
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OECD 78 
"One write" systems 16 ,166 
Operating 

efficiency 89, 96, 105 
management 90 
profit 4 8 , 9 1 , 1 2 8 , 1 8 3 

Opinion 37 
Opportunity costing 153 
Ordinary shares 44 
Outside shareholders 84 
Overhead 118 

absorption 120 
administration 123 
allocation 12 
budget 142 
distribution 129 
production 120 
recovery 118 
selling 126 
under-absorption 131 

Overtrading 100 

Paccioli, Luca 11 
Parent company 82 
Partnership 40 
Payback 156, 157 
PCFO (potential cash flow from 

operations) 64, 183 
P / E ratio 104, 107 
P / E relative 104 
Phillips & Drew 71 
Planning 139 
Policies accounting 37, 81, 201 
°ost audit 164 
Preference share 44 
Premium on shares 50, 196 
Prepaid expenses 26, 208 
Present value 157, 214 

table 215 
Price earnings ratio 104, 107 
Price earnings relative 104 
Prime cost 118, 128 
Private company 42 
Product life cycle 127 
Production overhead 120 

allocation 122 
Productivity 57 

asset 97 
Profit 

after taxation 48, 183 
attributable to shareholders 48, 183 

before taxation 48, 183 
family 48, 183 
gross 17 ,48 
motive 1 
operating 48, 183 
retained 48, 183 
taxable 174 

Profitability 
operating 92, 96, 105 
shareholder 93, 101, 107 

Profit and loss account 19, 20, 49, 
192, 198 

Project planning 140, 145 
Proposed dividend 52, 55, 205 
Provision for liabilities and charges 55, 

193 
Prudence 29, 33 
Public company 42 
Published accounts booklet 8 1 , 1 9 1 , 

197 
Punched card equipment 168 
PV 157, 214 
Pyramid of ratios 111, 113, 114, 115, 

169 

Quick assets 99 
Quick ratio 99 

Ratios 88, 110 
Redeemable shares 44, 45 
Reducing balance depreciation 32 
Related company 86 
Relevance 18, 29, 
Report and Accounts booklet 81, 

191, 197 
Report of directors 81, 190 
Report to employees 87 
Reserves 50, 54, 211 
Responsibility accounting 143 
Retail Price Index 70 
Return on investment 

accounting 92, 158 
internal rate of 157, 160, 214 
operating management 92, 96, 105 
shareholder 93, 101, 107 

Revaluation of assets 31, 75, 206 
Revenue expenditure 30 
Rights issue 52 
ROC (return on capital) 92 
ROE 94, 101 
ROI (return on investment) 92 
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Yield 103 
Table A 41 
Tangible assets 54 Zero base budgeting 153 
Tax, taxation 

RONA 92, 96, 105, 110, 156, 158 
segmental 153 

RPI 70 

Sales 17, 90, 195 
Sales budget 141 
Sandilands Committee 73 
Sandilands, Francis 73 
Scrip issue 51 
Segmental analysis 117, 153, 202 
Selling overhead 126 
Semi-variable expenses 13 3 
Sensitivity analysis 147, 162, 169 
Share capital 43, 49, 210 

"A" and
 tt

B" shares 45 

allotted 4 3 , 4 9 , 2 1 0 
authorized 43, 49, 210 
bonus issue 51 
called up 43 
deferred 45 
fully paid 4 3 , 4 9 , 2 1 0 
issued 43 
ordinary 44 
paid up 43 
preference 44 

Shareholder satisfaction 90, 101, 107 
Share premium account 50, 196 
Share valuation 103 
Short-term planning 140 
Small company 190 
Sole trader 40 
Solvent 1 ,99 
Spread sheet 169 

SSAP (Statement of standard account-
ing practice) 38, 79 

Standard costing 152 
Standards, accounting 38, 79 
Statement of source and application of 

funds 65, 194, 200 
Stock and work in progress 17, 62, 75 

turnover ratio 97 
valuation 33, 75, 201 

Stock Exchange 78, 103 
Stock turnover ratio 97 
Straight line depreciation 32 
Structure, financial, of a business 183 
Subsidiary company 83 

ACT 53, 177 
avoidance 174 
Collector of 174 
Corporation 53, 174 
deferred 53, 178, 205 
evasion 174 
Inspector of 174 
losses 176 
mainstream 176, 177 

Taxable profit 174 
Total absorbed cost 128, 129 
Trade creditors 91 
Trade debtors 91 
Trading account 19 
Trial balance 15 
Turnover 90, 198, 201 
Turnover ratio 92, 96, 110 
Typical Products Ltd. 54, 96, 107, 

191 

Under-absorption of overhead 131 
Unsecured loan notes 45 

Valuation 
business 34 
current assets 33 
fixed assets 3 1 , 7 5 
goodwill 36 
share 103 
stock and work in progress 33, 75, 

208 
Value added 56 
Value added statement 59, 80 
Variable expense 132 
Variances 152 
VAT 90, 173, 201 
VDU 170 
Velocity ratio 9 2 , % , 110 
Volume, effect on cost 133 

Waddington, John PLC. 66, 82, 197 
What if? 162 
Wholly owned subsidiary 83 
WIP (work in progress) see Stock and 
Working capital 91 , 183 
Writeof f 31 
Writing down allowance 175 


